BUNGE LTD Form F-3/A May 14, 2004

QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 14, 2004

Registration No. 333-114973

# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO FORM F-3

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

# **Bunge Limited**

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter and translation of Registrant's name into English)

Bermuda

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

N/A

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

50 Main Street White Plains, New York 10606 (914) 684-2800

(Address and telephone number of Registrant's principal executive offices)

Bunge Limited 50 Main Street White Plains, New York 10606 Attention: Carla L. Heiss, Assistant General Counsel (914) 684-2800

(Name, address and telephone number of agent for service)

with copies to:

Andrew B. Jánszky

Shearman & Sterling LLP 599 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10022 (212) 848-4000 Jeffrey Small

Davis Polk & Wardwell 450 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10017 (212) 450-4000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after this Registration Statement becomes effective.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box. o

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box. o

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be made pursuant to Rule 434, please check the following box. o

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and we are not soliciting offers to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED MAY 14, 2004

8,500,000 Shares

# **Bunge Limited**

# Common Shares

Our common shares are listed on The New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "BG." The last reported sale price on May 13, 2004 was \$35.20 per share.

The underwriters have a 30-day option to purchase a maximum of 1,275,000 additional shares to cover over-allotments of shares.

Investing in our common shares involves risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 15.

	Price to Public	Underwriting Discounts and Commissions	Proceeds to Issuer
Per Share	\$	\$	\$
Total	\$	\$	\$
Delivery of the common shares will be made on or about	. 2004.		

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

# **Credit Suisse First Boston**

**Morgan Stanley** 

# Citigroup

# **Deutsche Bank Securities**

Merrill Lynch & Co.

The date of this prospectus is , 2004.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
SUMMARY	1
RISK FACTORS	15
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	22
USE OF PROCEEDS	23
PRICE RANGE OF OUR COMMON SHARES	24
DIVIDEND POLICY	25
CAPITALIZATION	26
DILUTION	27
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	28
FIRST QUARTER OPERATING RESULTS	33
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS	
OF OPERATIONS	44
BUSINESS	70
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	80
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS	85
DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL	86
SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE	93
CERTAIN TAX CONSIDERATIONS	94
UNDERWRITING	98
NOTICE TO CANADIAN RESIDENTS	101
ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES	102
LEGAL MATTERS	103
EXPERTS	103
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	103
INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE	104
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1

You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different. This document may only be used where it is legal to sell these securities. The information in this document may only be accurate on the date of this document.

This prospectus is based on information provided by us and by other sources that we believe are reliable. We cannot assure you that any information provided by other sources is accurate or complete. This prospectus summarizes certain documents and other information and we refer you to them for a more complete understanding of what we discuss in this prospectus. In making an investment decision, you must rely on your own examination of our company and the terms of this offering, including the merits and risks involved.

We have not taken any action to permit a public offering of the common shares outside the United States or to permit the possession or distribution of this prospectus outside the United States. Persons outside the United States who have come into possession of this prospectus must inform themselves about and observe restrictions relating to the offering of the common shares and the distribution of this prospectus outside of the United States.

Consent under the Exchange Control Act 1972 (and its related regulations) has been obtained from the Bermuda Monetary Authority for the issue and transfer of our common shares to and between non-residents of Bermuda for exchange control purposes provided our shares remain listed on an appointed stock exchange, which includes the New York Stock Exchange. This prospectus will be filed with the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda in accordance with Bermuda law. In granting such consent and in accepting this prospectus for filing, neither the Bermuda Monetary Authority nor the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda accepts any responsibility for our financial soundness or the correctness of any of the statements made or opinions expressed in this prospectus or the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part.

References in this prospectus to "Bunge Limited," "Bunge," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Bunge Limited and its consolidated subsidiaries unless the context otherwise indicates. References in this prospectus to our "2003 Annual Report" refer to our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2003, which is incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

This prospectus contains some of our trademarks, including our logo. Each trademark, trade name or service mark of any other company appearing in this prospectus belongs to its respective holder.

i

### **SUMMARY**

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere, or incorporated by reference, in this prospectus. This is only a summary and therefore does not contain all the information that may be important to you. You should read the entire prospectus carefully, including the "Risk Factors" section, the "First Quarter Operating Results" section, our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and the other information included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus before deciding whether or not to purchase our common shares. In this summary and this prospectus, we present the financial measure "total segment operating profit", which is the consolidated segment operating profit of each of our operating segments. Total segment operating profit is a financial measure that is not calculated and not presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. For a discussion of total segment operating profit and a reconciliation of total segment operating profit to income before continuing operations before income tax and minority interest, the most comparable GAAP measure, see Note 4 to "Summary Historical Financial Data" on page 14.

### **Bunge Limited**

#### Overview

We are an integrated, global agribusiness and food company operating throughout the farm-to-consumer food chain. Our operations range from sales of raw materials such as grains and fertilizers to retail food products such as margarine and mayonnaise. In 2003, we had total net sales of \$22,165 million and total segment operating profit of \$618 million. We believe we are:

the world's leading oilseed processing company, based on processing capacity;

the largest processor of soybeans in the Americas, the region in which 84% of the world's soybeans are grown, and one of the world's leading exporters of soybean products, based on volume;

the largest producer and supplier of fertilizer to farmers in South America, based on volume; and

the world's leading seller of bottled vegetable oils, based on sales.

We conduct our operations in three divisions: agribusiness, fertilizer and food products, and we have four reporting segments agribusiness, fertilizer, edible oil products and milling products.

### **Our Business**

### Agribusiness

Our agribusiness division is an integrated business involved in the purchase, sale and processing of grains and oilseeds. Our agribusiness origination and processing operations and assets are primarily located in the Americas and Europe, and we have international marketing offices throughout the world. The net sales in our agribusiness division were \$17,345 million in 2003, or 78% of our total net sales, and the operating profit of our agribusiness segment in 2003 was \$274 million, or 44% of our total segment operating profit.

### Fertilizer

Our fertilizer division is involved in every stage of the fertilizer business, from mining of raw materials to the sale of retail fertilizer products. The activities of our fertilizer division are primarily located in Brazil. Net sales in our fertilizer division were \$1,954 million in 2003, or 9% of our total net sales, and the operating profit of our fertilizer segment in 2003 was \$242 million, or 39% of our total segment operating profit.

1

#### Food Products

Our food products division consists of two business lines: edible oil products and milling products. These businesses produce and sell food products such as edible oils, shortenings, margarine, mayonnaise and milled products such as wheat flours and corn products. The activities of our food products division are located in North America, Europe, Brazil and India. Net sales in our food products division were \$2,866 million in 2003, or 13% of our total net sales. The operating profit of our edible oil products segment and our milling products segment in 2003 was \$64 million and \$30 million, or 10% and 5%, respectively, of total segment operating profit.

#### **Industry Overview**

Key industry trends that we believe are expanding our business opportunities include the following:

#### Agribusiness

Growth in income and population create increased global demand for food. Income and population growth contribute to demand for food and animal feed. As incomes rise and populations increase, people increase their food consumption and diversify their diets to include more products such as edible oils and meats. As a result, global consumption of agricultural commodities continues to grow.

Soybeans provide the principal protein meal for many animal feed industries. Soybean meal is the preferred and dominant protein source for many animal feed industries, particularly pork and poultry. Concern over mad cow disease and the use of animal products such as meat and bone meal in animal feeds reinforces these preferences.

Rapid expansion of agricultural production in South America and Eastern Europe provide growth opportunities. The availability of arable land, suitable climate and adequate infrastructure are essential to successful agricultural production. Countries, such as Brazil and Argentina, and regions, such as Eastern Europe, where agricultural production is growing rapidly can produce surplus oilseeds and grains cost-effectively and efficiently and will be well-positioned to supply countries that have oilseed and grain production deficits. We believe that an increase in global demand for agricultural commodities will likely result in an increase in exports of agricultural commodities and commodity products from these countries and regions.

### Fertilizer

Growth of the Brazilian agricultural sector leads to increases in fertilizer consumption. While global fertilizer demand remains flat, Brazilian fertilizer consumption, driven by the country's rapid and broad-based agricultural expansion, has been growing significantly and is expected to continue to increase, primarily due to the efforts to improve crop yields in areas under cultivation and the continued conversion of Brazil's large reserve of arable land to agricultural production.

Expanding Brazilian fertilizer raw material production creates opportunities to increase profit. While Brazilian fertilizer consumption is growing rapidly, Brazil has not been able to produce sufficient phosphate to meet this demand. In the Brazilian fertilizer industry, participants with the ability to source their own fertilizer raw materials will have a competitive advantage over other market participants. We believe increasing mining and intermediate raw materials production capacity is the most efficient means of achieving this objective.

### Food Products

Changes in consumption patterns. Changes in population, income levels and other demographic factors affect the quantity and type of food products consumed. As per capita incomes increase

and consumers' buying decisions are less restricted, consumption of refined edible oils, margarines and shortenings also increases. In addition, as buying decisions become more convenience-oriented, consumption of prepared foods and foods consumed away from home and sold through retail and foodservice channels, which utilize more edible oils, increases.

Vegetable oil is a large and growing market. Currently, the world consumes approximately 100 million metric tons of vegetable oil per year. The global vegetable oil market is expected to grow at an estimated annual rate of 5.2% over the next seven years. Consumption of soybean oil is expected to grow annually at 4.7% per year, while consumption of softseed oils, including sunflower oil, is expected to grow at a rate of 5.2% per year over the same period.

### **Our Competitive Strengths**

We believe our business benefits from the following competitive strengths:

Significant synergies within and among our businesses. By operating in complementary businesses throughout the food supply chain, we enjoy significant operating efficiencies. For example, in Brazil, we transport fertilizer raw materials from export-import points to our inland fertilizer plants and back-haul agricultural commodities from our inland locations to export import points. By using the same transportation resources across business lines, we are able to realize significant cost advantages and logistical efficiencies. In our fertilizer division, we also benefit from our internal sources of raw materials provided by the mines we operate. In our food products division, we capitalize on synergies with our agribusiness division by supplying a significant portion of our raw material requirements from our agribusiness operations, such as crude oils, wheat and corn, thereby helping to ensure an adequate supply of raw materials for these businesses.

Geographic and product balance and positioning. We have substantial agricultural commodities origination facilities in both the northern and southern hemispheres. This balance between the two hemispheres mitigates seasonal effects on agricultural production, allowing us to offer a constant supply of oilseeds, grains, meal and oil throughout the year. We also have product balance in oilseeds through our canola and sunflower seed product offerings. Our geographic and product balance mitigates the risks of exposure to adverse agricultural and other conditions in any one particular region or product line.

Scale, quality and strategic location of our facilities. In the United States, Brazil and Argentina, we operate large, efficient and well-maintained agricultural commodities storage, oilseed processing facilities and export terminals, generating economies of scale and reducing overall costs. We have also selectively located many of our grain elevators and processing and manufacturing facilities in close proximity to our suppliers, domestic customers, edible oil refineries and key export points to reduce transportation costs and delivery times for our products.

Well positioned in higher growth areas of our markets. We believe that we are well positioned in the higher growth areas of the markets in which we operate. For example, our leadership position in the Brazilian soybean origination and processing markets will allow us to benefit from continued rapid growth in Brazilian soybean cultivation. Our market leadership position in the Brazilian fertilizer industry enables us to capitalize on the accelerated growth that is anticipated in the fertilizer market associated with the expansion in the agricultural sector and increased fertilizer use. In our food products division, the leading consumer market position of our edible oil products business in Eastern Europe and Brazil will allow us to benefit from anticipated increases in per capita oil consumption in these markets.

### **Our Business Strategy**

Our objective is to continue to expand our business and increase our profitability by focusing on the following key business strategies:

Grow our leadership position in the most attractive markets for our products. In our agribusiness division, we intend to maintain our leading positions in the fastest growing oilseed and grain production regions of South America and Eastern Europe while, at the same time, increasing our presence in areas of growing consumption in Asia. In our fertilizer division, we are focusing on Brazil, the world's fastest growing major fertilizer market, and we plan to significantly increase our mining and intermediate raw materials production capacity over the next five years. In our food products division, we are focusing our expansion on higher growth and higher consumption markets, such as in India and Eastern Europe. We believe that a combination of organic growth, achieved through increases in our internal origination, oilseed processing and fertilizer production capabilities, along with growth through selective acquisitions and alliances, will enable us to achieve these objectives.

Focus on operating efficiency. As the prices of many of our products are set in global commodity markets, our profitability is largely dependent on the cost efficiency of our production and product handling processes. As a result, in each of our divisions, we seek to locate assets that are efficient in terms of scale and function in close proximity to agricultural production areas, customers and transport networks to reduce our operating and logistics costs. This enables us to benefit from lower per-unit costs as production and processing volume increase. In addition, we have invested and will continue to invest in improving our logistics systems, including through technology enhancements, physical infrastructure development and our company-wide initiative focused on improving productivity, quality, safety and environmental standards.

Provide superior customized service and product offerings to customers and farmers. We intend to continue to focus on meeting the needs of our customers and suppliers by offering them value-added services. We offer crop financing and agronomics services to farmers. We also intend to continue to develop specialized products for our food processor and foodservice customers that allow our customers to improve the quality and nutritional profile of their products.

Capture value through integration of our businesses. The close integration of our businesses allows us to achieve raw material sourcing, logistic and product synergies that we believe enhance our competitiveness and profitability. We intend to continue to strengthen the coordination among our divisions in order to capitalize on opportunities to grow our customer and supplier base, lower our logistics and raw material costs and allow us to take advantage of new and developing market opportunities in each of our businesses.

### **Recent Developments**

### **Buyback of Bunge Brasil Minority Interest**

We intend to purchase all the outstanding ordinary and preferred shares of Bunge Brasil S.A. that we do not already own through a public tender offer under Brazilian law. Bunge Brasil is the holding company for all of our operations in Brazil. We currently own ordinary and preferred shares in Bunge Brasil representing approximately 83% of the capital stock of Bunge Brasil. The remaining ordinary and preferred shares of Bunge Brasil, all of which are the subject of the tender offer, are listed for trading on the São Paulo Stock Exchange (BOVESPA). If the threshold required under Brazilian law is met, we intend to delist the shares of Bunge Brasil from the São Paulo Stock Exchange as part of this buyback. We expect the aggregate purchase price for all the outstanding shares of Bunge Brasil that we do not already own will be approximately \$284 million, which is based on the announced tender offer

price of R\$6.22 per share. We intend to use the proceeds of this offering to purchase the shares of Bunge Brasil tendered in the offer. See "Use of Proceeds" for additional information.

We have been advised by Caixa de Previdência dos Funcionários do Banco do Brasil PREVI, an institutional investor in Bunge Brasil, that it intends to tender all of its shares in the offer. PREVI, Bunge Brasil's largest minority shareholder, owns ordinary and preferred shares in Bunge Brasil representing approximately 43% of all the capital stock of Bunge Brasil that is held by the minority shareholders of Bunge Brasil and subject to the tender offer.

The tender offer was announced in Brazil on April 29, 2004; however, the tender offer must be reviewed and approved by the Comissão de Valores Mobiliários, the securities regulatory authority in Brazil, before the tender offer process may begin and, once commenced, the tender offer must remain open for at least 30 days. We expect the tender offer to be completed in the third quarter of 2004.

The buyback of all of the shares of Bunge Brasil that we do not already own, which we refer to as the minority interest, is part of our continuing strategy to consolidate and simplify the ownership and operational structure of our Brazilian subsidiaries. The buyback of the minority interest in Bunge Brasil will allow us to better manage our assets and achieve tax and administrative cost savings. Additionally, the buyback of the minority interest will eliminate the dividends that Bunge Brasil pays to its minority shareholders, thereby allowing us to retain more of the value generated by our Brazilian operations, which we plan to reinvest in our businesses.

Under Brazilian law, in connection with this tender offer, each minority shareholder of Bunge Brasil will have the option, but will not be required, to register such minority shareholder's ordinary and preferred shares of Bunge Brasil in the tender offer, indicating whether or not such shareholder is tendering into the offer and consenting to the delisting of the ordinary and preferred shares of Bunge Brasil from the São Paulo Stock Exchange if, upon the expiration of the tender offer, we will have the right to delist all the shares of Bunge Brasil from the São Paulo Stock Exchange if, upon the expiration of the tender offer, we purchase shares of Bunge Brasil tendered in the offer equal to at least two-thirds of all the capital stock of Bunge Brasil that has been registered in the tender offer. Additionally, if, upon the expiration of the tender offer, we own shares representing 95% of the capital stock of Bunge Brasil, including those that we owned prior to the tender offer, we will have the right to conduct a "squeeze-out," enabling us to purchase all the remaining shares of Bunge Brasil not tendered in the offer at the same price that we purchased the shares of Bunge Brasil in the tender offer. If all the shares held by the minority shareholders are not tendered in the offer, we will purchase as many shares as are validly tendered in the offer; provided, however, that under Brazilian law we will be prohibited from purchasing shares representing more than one-third of the shares of Bunge Brasil registered in the tender offer if we are unable to delist the shares of Bunge Brasil from the São Paulo Stock Exchange.

The tender offer price was based on a valuation prepared by our financial advisor, who approached us with the proposal for this tender offer, and represents a premium to the current market price of shares of Bunge Brasil on the São Paulo Stock Exchange. We believe it represents a fair price to the minority shareholders in Bunge Brasil.

We refer to the tender offer for, and the purchase of, the minority interest held in Bunge Brasil in this prospectus as the Bunge Brasil buyback.

### Financial Results for the First Quarter of 2004

On May 10, 2004 we filed with the SEC on Form 6-K our financial results for the three months ended March 31, 2004 which is incorporated by reference into this prospectus. See "Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference." Please see "First Quarter Operating Results" and our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and related notes for the three months ended March 31, 2004 included elsewhere in this prospectus for more information. In addition, please see "Selected Financial

Data," "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

### **Senior Notes Offering**

On April 13, 2004, we completed the sale of \$500 million aggregate principal amount of our unsecured senior notes bearing interest at a rate of 5.35% per year and maturing in 2014. The senior notes were issued by our wholly owned subsidiary, Bunge Limited Finance Corp., and are guaranteed by us. Interest is payable on the unsecured senior notes semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, commencing on October 15, 2004. We used the net proceeds of the senior notes offering of approximately \$496 million to repay indebtedness.

6

## **Organizational Structure**

The following diagram shows of			
Holding company for our Eur	ropean operations.		
Our principal executive offices over is (914) 684-2800. Our regi			k 10606, and our telepho

This prospectus contains some of our trademarks, including our logo. Each trademark, trade name or service mark of any other company

appearing in this prospectus belongs to its respective holder.

## The Offering

Unless otherwise indicated, all information in this prospectus assumes the underwriters do not exercise their over-allotment option. Please see "Description of Share Capital" for a summary of the terms of our common shares.

Common shares being offered by us	8,500,000 shares
Common shares subject to over-allotment option from us	1,275,000 shares
Common shares issued and outstanding immediately after this offering	108,703,786 shares
Use of proceeds	We expect to receive net proceeds from this offering of approximately \$287 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated expenses of this offering payable by us. We intend to use up to approximately \$284 million of the net proceeds to purchase the shares of our subsidiary, Bunge Brasil, that we do not already own in connection with the Bunge Brasil buyback. See "Recent Developments Buyback of Bunge Brasil Minority Interest" for more information. We will use the remaining net proceeds for general corporate purposes, which may include acquisitions, capital expenditures and working capital purposes. We presently have no agreements or understandings for any material acquisitions. See "Use of Proceeds" for more information.
Dividend policy	We intend to pay cash dividends to our shareholders on a quarterly basis. However, any determination to pay dividends will, subject to the provisions of Bermuda law, be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on a variety of factors.
New York Stock Exchange symbol	BG
Risk factors	See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 15 and other information included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus for a discussion of factors you should carefully consider before deciding to invest in our common shares.

The number of common shares issued and outstanding after this offering is based on 100,203,786 common shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2004, which amount excludes approximately 4,342,364 common shares issuable upon exercise of currently outstanding stock options, approximately 780,100 common shares issuable in respect of time-vested regular and performance-based restricted stock units, assuming all participants elect to receive shares and no adjustment is made by the compensation committee of the board of directors, and 7,778,425 common shares reserved for issuance upon the conversion of our 3.75% convertible notes due 2022.

# **Expected Timetable for the Offering**

Commencement of marketing of the offering	May 17, 2004
Announcement of offer price	Week of May 24, 2004
Allocation of common shares	Week of May 24, 2004
Settlement and delivery of common shares	Week of May 31, 2004
Depending on market conditions, this expected timetable may be modified.	•

9

### SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our summary historical financial data. You should read this information together with "Capitalization" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in this prospectus and our consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this prospectus. In addition, you should read this information together with "First Quarter Operating Results" and our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and related notes for the three months ended March 31, 2004 included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

The consolidated statements of income and cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included herein and incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The consolidated statements of income and cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements that are not included herein or otherwise incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The consolidated statement of income and cash flow data for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of March 31, 2004 are derived from our unaudited consolidated interim financial statements included in this prospectus. The consolidated balance sheet data as of March 31, 2003 is derived from our unaudited consolidated interim financial statements, which are not included in this prospectus. The unaudited consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal, recurring adjustments), which are, in the opinion of our management, necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the periods presented.

The historical results included below and elsewhere in this document are not necessarily indicative of our future performance. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in U.S. dollars and in accordance with GAAP. In October 2002, we acquired a controlling interest in Cereol S.A., a French agribusiness company, and we now own 100% of Cereol's share capital and voting rights. Cereol's results of operations have been included in our historical financial statements since October 1, 2002. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Principal Capital Expenditures, Acquisitions and Divestitures Acquisitions."

Our net income for 2003 of \$411 million included the \$111 million gain we recognized on the sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients assets to The Solae Company. After excluding this gain on sale from our net income for 2003, our net income for 2003 would have been \$300 million. We believe excluding this gain from the sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients operations from our net income for 2003 is useful for investors as this more closely reflects the performance of our operations. If we had completed this offering on January 1, 2003 and applied \$284 million of the net proceeds from this offering to complete the Bunge Brasil buyback, assuming we purchased all of the outstanding shares of Bunge Brasil that we do not already own, as described in "Recent Developments Buyback of Bunge Brasil Minority Interest" and "Use of Proceeds", and without making any adjustments for anticipated tax and administrative cost savings, our net income in 2003 would have increased by \$24 million. This information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not intended to represent or be indicative of what our net income would have been had this transaction occurred on the date indicated or would be upon completion of this offering.

	Thi	ree Mor Marc		Ended				Year En	ded	December :	31,			
	2	004		2003		2003		2002		2001	200	00		1999
						(	US\$	in millions	)					
Consolidated Statements of Income Data:														
Net sales	\$	5,739	\$	4,842	\$	22,165	\$	13,882	\$	11,302		9,500	\$	7,950
Cost of goods sold		(5,374)		(4,569)		(20,860)		(12,544)		(10,331)	(8	3,812)		(7,332)
Gross profit		365		273		1,305		1,338		971		688		618
Selling, general and														
administrative expenses		(178)		(149)		(691)		(579)		(423)		(375)		(321)
Gain on sale of soy						111								
ingredients business Interest income		16		20		111 102		71		91		114		132
Interest expense		(52)		(54)		(215)		(176)		(223)		(252)		(204)
Foreign exchange (loss)		(==)		(5.)		(310)		(1,0)		(==0)		( = =)		(== -)
gain		(16)		7		92		(179)		(148)		(116)		(255)
Other income (expense) net		11		1		19		6		(4)		7		9
			_		_				_					
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax and														
minority interest		146		98		723		481		264		66		(21)
Income tax (expense)														
benefit		(58)		(37)		(201)		(104)		(68)		(12)		27
			_		_				_				_	
Income from continuing														
operations before minority		00						255		406		<i></i>		
interest Minority interest		(18)		61		522		377		196		54		6 4
Minority interest		(18)		(20)		(104)		(102)		(72)		(37)		4
Income from continuing														
operations		70		41		418		275		124		17		10
Discontinued operations, net of tax benefit (expense) of \$0 (March 31, 2004), \$0 (March 31, 2003), \$5 (2003), \$(1) (2002), \$0 (2001), \$1 (2000) and \$3												-,		-0
(1999)(1)				(1)		(7)		3		3		(5)		(15)
			_						_				_	
Income (loss) before														
cumulative effect of														
change in accounting principles		70		40		411		278		127		12		(5)
Cumulative effect of		70		40		411		210		127		12		(3)
change in accounting principles, net of tax benefit (expense) of \$0 (March 31, 2004), \$0 (March 31, 2003), \$0 (2003), \$6 (2002), \$(4)														
(2001), \$0 (2000) and \$0														
(1999)								(23)		7				
	_		_		_				_				_	
Net income (loss)	\$	70	\$	40	\$	411	\$	255	\$	134	\$	12	\$	(5)
			_		_		_		_				_	
								11						

# Three Months Ended March 31,

# Year Ended December 31,

		2004		2003		2003		2002		2001		2000		1999
						(US\$,	exc	ept share data	1)					
Per Share Data:														
Earnings per common share basic:														
Income from continuing														
operations	\$	.70	\$	.41	\$	4.19	\$	2.87	\$	1.73	\$	.26	\$	.16
Discontinued operations				(.01)		(.07)		.03		.04		(.07)		(.24)
Cumulative effect of														
change in accounting														
principles								(.24)		.10				
1														
Net income (loss) per														
share	\$	.70	\$	.40	\$	4.12	\$	2.66	\$	1.87	\$	.19	\$	(.08)
							_		_					
F!														
Earnings per common														
share diluted(2)														
Income from continuing	ф	.65	ф	4.1	ф	4.14	ф	2.05	ф	1.70	ф	26	ф	16
operations	\$	.65	\$	.41		4.14		2.85	\$	1.72	\$	.26	-	.16
Discontinued operations				(.01)		(.07)		.03		.04		(.07)		(.24)
Cumulative effect of														
change in accounting														
principles								(.24)		.10				
	_						_		_		_			
Net income (loss) per														
share	\$	.65	¢	.40	¢	4.07	¢	2.64	¢	1.86	¢	.19	Ф	(.08)
share	φ	.03	φ	.40	φ	4.07	φ	2.04	Ψ	1.00	φ	.19	φ	(.00
Cash dividends per														
common share	\$	.11	\$	.10	\$	.420	\$	.385	\$	.095				
Weighted average														
common shares														
outstanding basic		100,016,833		99,585,790		99,745,825		95,895,338		71,844,895		64,380,000		64,380,000
Weighted average		,,		,. 00,,,,0				,.,,,,,,,,		,,0,0		2 .,2 30,000		2.,250,050
common shares														
outstanding diluted(2)		109,565,699		100,502,130		100,875,602		96,649,129		72,004,754		64,380,000		64,380,000
outstanding unuted(2)		107,303,077		100,502,150		12		70,077,129		12,007,134		04,500,000		0-1,500,000
						12								

	Т	hree Mon Marc						Year E	nd	ed Decem	ber	31,		
		2004		2003		2003		2002	_	2001		2000		1999
					(I	US\$ in mi	llio	ns, except	vo	lumes)				
Cash Flows and Other Data:														
Cash (used for) provided														
by operating activities	\$	(720)	\$	(3)	\$	(41)	\$	128	\$	205	\$	(527)	\$	37
Cash (used for) provided by investing activities		(47)		(49)		60		(1,071)		(175)		(85)		(108)
Cash provided by (used		(47)		(49)		00		(1,071)		(173)		(63)		(100)
for) financing activities		803		(40)		(61)		1,295		(224)		709		(253)
Capital expenditures		52		53		304		240		226		176		140
Depreciation, depletion and amortization		51		49		184		168		163		143		94
und unfortization		51		17		101		100		103		115		,
Segment operating profit(3)														
Agribusiness	\$	72	\$	44	\$	274	\$	283	\$	155	\$	(17)	\$	(25)
Fertilizer		41		38		242		192		137		108		39
Edible oil products		17		17		64		6		(4)		10		(34)
Milling products		6		3		30		18		7		(26)		(19)
Other				9		8		22		16		9		15
	_		_		_		_		_		_		_	
Total segment operating														
profit (loss) (4)	\$	136	\$	111	\$	618	\$	521	\$	311	\$	84	\$	(24)
Volumes (in millions of metric tons)(3)														
Agribusiness		20.4		19.2		88.4		69.6		57.5		46.3		31.9
Fertilizer		1.8		1.9		11.5		10.7		9.0		9.1		4.2
Edible oil products		.7		.9		3.4		2.0		1.6		1.5		1.6
Milling products		.9		.8		3.5		3.3		3.3		2.9		3.0
Other				.1		0.2		0.2		0.1		0.1		
	_		_		_		_		-		_		_	
Total volume		23.8		22.9		107.0		85.8		71.5		59.9		40.7
		As of M	arcl	1 31,				As	of I	December	31,			
		2004		2003		2003		2002		2001		2000	]	1999
						(Us	<b>S\$</b> :	in millions	s)					
Consolidated Balance														
Sheet Data:														
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	523	\$	396	\$	489	\$	470	\$		\$		\$	363
Inventories(5) Working capital		3,950 2,485		2,387 2,202		2,867 2,481		2,407 1,655		1,368 938		1,311 681		923 295
Total assets		11,225		8,552		9,884		8,349		5,443		5,854		4,611
Short-term debt, including														
current portion of		1.001		1 400		1.015		1 400		000		1.500		1.026
long-term debt Long-term debt		1,884 2,331		1,483 1,911		1,017 2,377		1,499 1,904		983 830		1,522 1,003		1,036 793
Redeemable preferred		2,331		1,911		2,311		1,904		630		1,003		173
stock		171		171		171		171		171		170		

	As of Marc	h 31,		As of December 31,			
Minority interest in subsidiaries(6)	564	509	554	495	493	543	183
Common shares and additional paid in capital, net of receivable from	301	307	331	175	173	313	103
former sole shareholder	2,018	1,952	2,011	1,945	1,631	1,303	1,303
Shareholders' equity	2,428	1,608	2,377	1,472	1,376	1,139	1,197
				13			

- (1) In December 2003, we sold our North American bakery business to a third party. Accordingly, the operating results for the disposed division have been reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
- The calculation of diluted earnings per common share for the three months ended March 31, 2004, includes 7,778,425 common shares that would be issuable upon conversion of our 3.75% convertible notes due 2022. The convertible notes became convertible as of March 31, 2004. The convertible notes are convertible at the option of the holder into our common shares, among other circumstances, during any calendar quarter in which the closing price of our common shares for at least 20 of the last 30 trading days of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is more than 120% of the conversion price of \$32.1402, or approximately \$38.57 per share. The closing price condition was satisfied as of March 31, 2004 and the convertible notes may be converted at the option of the holder. The convertible notes will remain convertible until June 30, 2004, unless the closing price condition described above is satisfied again at June 30, 2004, at which point the convertible notes will remain convertible for another calendar quarter. The calculation of diluted earnings per share for all other periods presented does not include the common shares that would be issuable upon conversion of the convertible notes because the convertible notes had not yet become convertible. See Note 14 to our unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2004 included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus for more information.
- In 2003, we changed the name of our "wheat milling and bakery products" segment to "milling products" in connection with the sale of our U.S. bakery business and the reclassification of our corn milling products business line from the "other" segment to the "milling products" segment. As a result of this change, our "other" segment reflects only our soy ingredients business line, which we sold to The Solae Company, our soy ingredients joint venture with E.I. duPont de Nemours and Company, in May 2003. In addition, certain agribusiness activities of our Canadian operations that were previously included in our edible oil products segment in 2002 were retroactively reclassified to the agribusiness segment to conform to this presentation.
- Total segment operating profit is our consolidated income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest that includes an allocated portion of the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to debt financing operating working capital, including readily marketable inventories. Also included in total segment operating profit is interest income and interest expense attributable to the financing of operating working capital. Total segment operating profit is a non-GAAP measure and is not intended to replace income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest, the most directly comparable GAAP measure. Total segment operating profit is a key performance measurement used by our management to evaluate whether our operating activities cover the financing costs of our business. We believe total segment operating profit is a more complete measure of our operating profitability, since it allocates foreign exchange gains and losses and the cost of debt financing working capital to the appropriate operating segments. Additionally, we believe total segment operating profit assists investors by allowing them to evaluate changes in the operating results of our portfolio of businesses before non-operating factors that affect net income. Total segment operating profit is not a measure of consolidated operating results under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest or any other measure of consolidated operating results under GAAP.

Below is a reconciliation of income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest to total segment operating profit:

Three Months Ended

		Marc						Year l	End	ed Decem	ber	31,		
		2004		2003		2003		2002		2001		2000		1999
						(1	U <b>S\$</b> i	in million	s)					
Income (expense) from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest	\$	146	\$	98	\$	723	\$	481	\$	264	\$	66	\$	(21)
Plus (minus): Unallocated expenses net(a)	Ψ	(10)	Ψ.	13	Ψ	6	Ψ	40	Ψ	47	Ψ	18	Ψ	(3)
Minus: Gain on sale of soy ingredients business						(111)								
Total segment operating profit (loss)	\$	136	\$	111	\$	618	\$	521	\$	311	\$	84	\$	(24)

Unallocated expenses net includes interest income, interest expense, foreign exchange gains and losses and other income and expense not directly attributable to our operating segments.

- Included in inventories were readily marketable inventories of \$2,879 million and \$1,632 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and \$1,868 million, \$1,517 million, \$764 million, \$799 million, and \$642 million at December 31, 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Readily marketable inventories are agricultural commodities inventories that are readily convertible to cash because of their commodity characteristics, widely available markets and international pricing mechanisms.
- (6)
  Minority interest in subsidiaries for each period includes the corresponding amount of redeemable preferred stock. See Note 21 to our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

14

### RISK FACTORS

You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below in addition to all the other information included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus before investing in the common shares. Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected by any of the risks and uncertainties described herein or therein. There are a number of factors, including those described below, which may adversely affect our financial condition and business operations. Additional risks not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also impair our financial condition and business operations.

### Risks Relating to Our Business and Industries

The availability and demand for the agricultural commodities and agricultural commodity products that we use and sell in our business can be affected by weather, disease and other factors beyond our control.

Weather conditions have historically caused volatility in the agricultural commodities industry and consequently in our operating results by causing crop failures or significantly reduced harvests, which can affect the supply and pricing of the agricultural commodities that we sell and use in our business, reduce the demand for our fertilizer products and negatively affect the creditworthiness of our customers and suppliers. Reduced supply of agricultural commodities due to weather related factors could adversely affect our profitability in the future.

In addition, our operating results can be influenced by sudden shifts in demand for our primary products. For example, in late 2003 and early 2004, a number of Asian countries reported outbreaks of a severe form of avian influenza in chickens and ducks that could be contracted by humans. Avian influenza, or "bird flu," is a contagious viral disease that normally infects birds and, less commonly, pigs. This outbreak necessitated the large scale slaughter of poultry flocks in Asia and had a temporary negative impact on our sales of soybean meal to Asia. Should a severe form of avian influenza become widespread in other regions, our sales of soybean meal could be adversely affected.

### We are vulnerable to cyclicality in the oilseed processing industry and increases in raw material prices.

In the oilseed processing industry, the lead time required to build an oilseed processing plant can make it difficult to time capacity additions with market demand for oilseed products such as soybean meal and oil. When additional processing capacity becomes operational, a temporary imbalance between the supply and demand for oilseed processing capacity might exist, which until it is corrected, negatively impacts oilseed processing margins. Oilseed processing margins will continue to fluctuate following industry cycles, which could negatively impact our profitability.

Our food products and fertilizer divisions may also be adversely affected by increases in the price of agricultural commodities and fertilizer raw materials that are caused by market fluctuations outside of our control. Historically, in our fertilizer division, products have been priced to import parity, which has minimized the impact of these increases. However, because of competitive conditions in our industries, we may not be able to recoup any increases in the cost of raw materials through increases in sales prices for our products, which would adversely affect our profitability.

### We are subject to economic and political instability and other risks of doing business in emerging markets.

We are a global business with substantial assets located outside of the United States from which we derive a significant portion of our revenue. Our operations in South America and Europe are a fundamental part of our business. In addition, a key part of our strategy involves expanding our business in several emerging markets, including Eastern Europe, India and China. Volatile economic, political and market conditions in these and other emerging market countries may have a negative impact on our operating results and our ability to achieve our business strategies.

We are exposed to currency exchange rate fluctuations because a portion of our net sales and expenses are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Our financial performance may be negatively or positively affected by currency fluctuations. For example, changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and other currencies, particularly the Brazilian *real*, the Argentine *peso* and the *euro*, affect our expenses that are denominated in local currencies and may have a negative impact on the value of our assets located outside of the United States.

We are also exposed to other risks of international operations, including:

increased governmental ownership, including through expropriation, and regulation of the economy in the markets where we operate;

inflation and adverse economic conditions resulting from governmental attempts to reduce inflation, such as imposition of higher interest rates and wage and price controls;

trade barriers on imports or exports, such as higher tariffs and taxes on imports of agricultural commodities and commodity products;

changes in the tax laws or inconsistent tax regulations in the countries where we operate;

exchange controls or other currency restrictions; and

civil unrest or significant political instability.

The occurrence of any of these events in the markets where we operate or in other markets where we plan to expand or develop our business could jeopardize or limit our ability to transact business in those markets and could adversely affect our revenues and operating results.

# Government policies and regulations affecting the agricultural sector and related industries could adversely affect our operations and profitability.

Agricultural production and trade flows are significantly affected by government policies and regulations. Governmental policies affecting the agricultural industry, such as taxes, tariffs, duties, subsidies and import and export restrictions on agricultural commodities and commodity products, can influence industry profitability, the planting of certain crops versus other uses of agricultural resources, the location and size of crop production, whether processed or unprocessed commodity products are traded and the volume and types of imports and exports. Future government policies may adversely affect the supply, demand for and prices of our products, restrict our ability to do business in our existing and target markets and could cause our financial results to suffer.

We are dependent on access to external sources of financing to acquire and maintain the inventory, facilities and equipment necessary to run our business.

We require significant amounts of capital to operate our business and fund capital expenditures. We require significant working capital to purchase, process and market our agricultural commodities inventories. An interruption of our access to short-term credit or a significant increase in our cost of credit could materially increase our interest expense and impair our ability to compete effectively in our business.

We operate an extensive network of storage facilities, processing plants, refineries, mills, mines, ports, transportation assets and other facilities as part of our business. We are required to make substantial capital expenditures to maintain, upgrade and expand these facilities to keep pace with competitive developments, technological advances and changing safety standards in our industry. Significant unbudgeted increases in our capital expenditures could adversely affect our operating results. In addition, if we are unable to continue devoting substantial resources to maintaining and enhancing our infrastructure, we may not be able to compete effectively.

Our future funding requirements will depend, in large part, on our working capital requirements and the nature of our capital expenditures. In addition, the expansion of our business and pursuit of business opportunities may require us to have access to significant amounts of capital. As of March 31, 2004, we had approximately \$4.2 billion in total indebtedness. Our indebtedness could limit our ability to obtain additional financing, limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the markets in which we compete, place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that are less leveraged than we are and require us to dedicate more cash on a relative basis to servicing our debt and less to developing our business. This may limit our ability to run our business and use our resources in the manner in which we would like.

### Our risk management strategy may not be effective.

Our business is affected by fluctuations in agricultural commodities prices and in foreign currency exchange rates. We engage in hedging transactions to manage these risks. However, our hedging strategy may not be successful in minimizing our exposure to these fluctuations. In addition, our control procedures and risk management policies may not successfully prevent our traders from entering into unauthorized transactions that have the potential to impair our financial position. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk."

The expansion of our business through acquisitions and strategic alliances poses risks that may reduce the benefits we anticipate from these transactions.

We have been an active acquirer of other companies, and we have strategic alliances with several partners. Part of our strategy involves acquisitions and alliances designed to expand and enhance our business. Our ability to benefit from acquisitions and alliances depends on many factors, including our ability to identify acquisition or alliance prospects, access capital markets at an acceptable cost of capital, negotiate favorable transaction terms and successfully integrate any businesses we acquire.

Integrating businesses we acquire into our operational framework may involve unanticipated delays, costs and other operational problems. If we encounter unexpected problems with one of our acquisitions or alliances, our senior management may be required to divert attention away from other aspects of our businesses to address these problems.

Acquisitions also pose the risk that we may be exposed to successor liability relating to actions by an acquired company and its management before the acquisition. The due diligence we conduct in connection with an acquisition, and any contractual guarantees or indemnities that we receive from the sellers of acquired companies, may not be sufficient to protect us from, or compensate us for, actual liabilities. A material liability associated with an acquisition could adversely affect our reputation and results of operations and reduce the benefits of the acquisition.

We could lose customers and incur liability if we fail to properly label or separate products that contain genetically modified organisms from those that do not.

The use of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) in food and animal feed has been met with varying acceptance in the different markets in which we operate. The United States and Argentina have approved the use of GMOs in food products and animal feed, and GMO and non-GMO grain are frequently commingled during the grain origination process. However, in some of the markets where we sell our products, most significantly the European Union and Brazil, government regulations limit sales or require labeling of GMO products. In Brazil, the government legalized the planting and sale of GMO soybeans in certain regions through January 2005. However, certain Brazilian states have banned the planting, sale or transport of GMO crops, which has resulted in the disruption of certain GMO crop shipments.

In general, we conduct no GMO testing in our U.S. or Argentine operations. Although we have done only limited GMO testing in Brazil in the past, due to new European Union labeling laws, which took effect as of April 15, 2004, we will conduct GMO testing in Brazil of all shipments to the European Union. Additionally, efforts by The Monsanto Company to collect royalties on its GMO soybeans from farmers in Brazil will likely result in increased testing going forward. Increased testing could disrupt our operations and increase our operating costs in Brazil. In our U.S. food products division, we are able to test only representative samples of our inventory. We may inadvertently deliver products that contain GMOs to customers that request GMO-free products. As a result, we could lose customers, incur liability and damage our reputation.

#### We face intense competition in each of our divisions, particularly in our agribusiness and food products divisions.

We face significant competition in each of our divisions, particularly in our agribusiness and food products divisions. We have numerous competitors, some of which may be larger and have greater financial resources than we have. In addition, we face significant competitive challenges outlined below.

Agribusiness. The markets for our products are highly price-competitive and are sensitive to product substitution. We compete against large multinational, regional and national suppliers, processors and distributors and farm cooperatives. Our principal competitors are The Archer Daniels Midland Co., or ADM, and Cargill, Inc. Competition with these and other suppliers, processors and distributors is based on price, service offerings and geographic location.

Food Products. Several of the markets in which our food products division operates, particularly those in which we sell consumer products, are mature and highly competitive. In addition, consolidation in the supermarket industry has resulted in our retail customers demanding lower prices and reducing the number of suppliers with which they do business. To compete effectively in our food products division, we must establish and maintain favorable brand recognition, efficiently manage distribution, gain sufficient market share, develop products sought by consumers and other customers, implement appropriate pricing, provide marketing support and obtain access to retail outlets and sufficient shelf space for our retail products. In addition, sales of our soybean oil products could be subject to increased competition as a result of the recent adverse publicity associated with trans-fatty acids. If our customers switch to products that do not contain trans-fatty acids or our competitors are able to offer or develop additional low trans-fatty acid products more economically or quickly than we can, our competitive position could suffer and our edible oil segment revenues could be negatively affected.

Competition could cause us to lose market share, exit certain lines of business, increase expenditures or reduce pricing, each of which could have an adverse effect on our revenues and profitability.

We are subject to regulation in numerous jurisdictions and may be exposed to liability as a result of our handling of hazardous materials and commodities storage operations.

Our business involves the handling and use of hazardous materials. In addition, the storage and processing of our products may create hazardous conditions. For example, we use hexane in our oilseed processing operations, and hexane can cause explosions that could harm our employees or damage our facilities. Our agricultural commodities storage operations also create dust that has caused explosions in our grain elevators. In addition, our mining operations and manufacturing of fertilizers require compliance with environmental regulations. Our operations are regulated by environmental laws and regulations in the countries where we operate, including those governing the labeling, use, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous materials. These laws and regulations require us to implement procedures for the handling of hazardous materials and for operating in potentially hazardous conditions, and they impose liability on us for the cleanup of any environmental contamination. In

addition, Brazilian law allocates liability for noncompliance with environmental laws by an acquired company to the acquiror for an indefinite period of time. Because we use and handle hazardous substances in our business, changes in environmental requirements or an unanticipated significant adverse environmental event could have a material adverse effect on our business. See "Business Government Regulation and Environmental Matters."

### **Risks Relating to Our Common Shares**

We are a Bermuda company, and it may be difficult for you to enforce judgments against us and our directors and executive officers.

We are a Bermuda exempted company. As a result, the rights of holders of our common shares will be governed by Bermuda law and our memorandum of association and bye-laws. The rights of shareholders under Bermuda law may differ from the rights of shareholders of companies or corporations incorporated in other jurisdictions. Most of our directors and some of our officers and some of the named experts referred to in this prospectus are not residents of the United States, and a substantial portion of our assets and the assets of those directors, officers and named experts are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for you to effect service of process on those persons in the United States or to enforce in the United States judgments obtained in U.S. courts against us or those persons based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. securities laws. We have been advised by our special Bermuda counsel, Conyers Dill & Pearman, that uncertainty exists as to whether courts in Bermuda will enforce judgments obtained in other jurisdictions, including the United States, against us or our directors or officers under the securities laws of those jurisdictions or entertain actions in Bermuda against us or our directors or officers under the securities laws of other jurisdictions.

### Our bye-laws restrict shareholders from bringing legal action against our officers and directors.

Our bye-laws contain a broad waiver by our shareholders of any claim or right of action, both individually and on our behalf, against any of our officers or directors. The waiver applies to any action taken by an officer or director, or the failure of an officer or director to take any action, in the performance of his or her duties, except with respect to any matter involving any fraud or dishonesty on the part of the officer or director. This waiver limits the right of shareholders to assert claims against our officers and directors unless the act or failure to act involves fraud or dishonesty. See "Description of Share Capital Waiver of Claims by Shareholders; Indemnification of Directors and Officers" for more information.

We have anti-takeover provisions in our bye-laws and have adopted a shareholder rights plan that may discourage a change of control.

Our bye-laws contain provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us without the consent of our board of directors. These provisions provide for:

a classified board of directors with staggered three-year terms;

directors to be removed without cause only upon the affirmative vote of at least 66% of all votes attaching to all shares then in issue entitling the holder to attend and vote on the resolution;

restrictions on the time period in which directors may be nominated;

our board of directors to determine the powers, preferences and rights of our preference shares and to issue the preference shares without shareholder approval; and

an affirmative vote of 66% of all votes attaching to all shares then in issue entitling the holder to attend and vote on the resolution for some business combination transactions which have not been approved by our board of directors.

In addition, our board of directors has adopted a shareholder rights plan which will entitle shareholders to purchase our Series A Preference Shares if a third party acquires beneficial ownership of 20% or more of our common shares. In some circumstances, shareholders are also entitled to purchase the common stock of a company issuing shares in exchange for our common shares in a merger, amalgamation or tender offer or a company acquiring most of our assets.

These provisions could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if the third party's offer may be considered beneficial by many shareholders. As a result, shareholders may be limited in their ability to obtain a premium for their shares.

### Common shares eligible for future sale may harm our share price.

Sales of substantial numbers of additional common shares, or the perception that such sales could occur, may have a negative effect on prevailing market prices of our common shares and our ability to raise additional capital in the financial markets at a time and price favorable to us. As of March 31, 2004, 100,203,786 common shares were issued and outstanding, which amount excludes approximately 4,342,364 common shares issuable upon exercise of currently outstanding stock options, approximately 780,100 common shares issuable in respect of time-vested regular and performance-based restricted stock units, assuming all participants elect to receive shares and no adjustment is made by the compensation committee of the board of directors, and an additional 7,778,425 common shares were reserved for issuance upon the conversion of our 3.75% convertible notes due 2022.

The convertible notes are convertible at the option of a holder into our common shares during, among other circumstances, any calendar quarter in which the closing price of our common shares for at least 20 of the last 30 trading days of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is more than 120% of the conversion price of \$32.1402, or approximately \$38.57 per share. The closing price condition was satisfied as of March 31, 2004 and the convertible notes may be converted at the option of the holder. The convertible notes will remain convertible until June 30, 2004, unless the closing price condition described above is satisfied again at June 30, 2004, at which point the convertible notes will remain convertible for another calendar quarter.

In addition, prior to our initial public offering we entered into a registration rights agreement with certain of our shareholders. The registration rights agreement provides, among other things, that these shareholders may request that we register all or any portion of the common shares they hold and that they may include all or any portion of their common shares in certain registration statements we file for equity securities. These shareholders have elected not to include their common shares as part of this offering. If these shareholders exercise their registration rights under this agreement to sell substantial amounts of our common shares in the public market, or if it is perceived that such exercise and sale could occur, the market price of our common shares could fall. See "Shares Eligible for Future Sale Registration Rights Agreement" for more information.

We may become a passive foreign investment company, which could result in adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. investors.

Adverse U.S. federal income tax rules apply to U.S. persons owning shares of a "passive foreign investment company," or PFIC, directly or indirectly. We will be classified as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes if 50% or more of our assets, including goodwill (based on an annual quarterly average) are passive assets, or 75% or more of our annual gross income is derived from passive assets. The calculation of goodwill will be based, in part, on the then market value of our common shares, which is subject to change. Based on certain estimates of our gross income and gross assets available as

of December 31, 2003 and relying on certain exceptions in the applicable U.S. Treasury regulations, we do not believe that we are currently a PFIC. Such a characterization could result in adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. investors in our common shares. In particular, absent an election described below, a U.S. investor would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at ordinary income tax rates, plus a possible interest charge, in respect of gain derived from a disposition of our shares, as well as certain distributions by us. In addition, a step-up in the tax basis of our shares would not be available upon the death of an individual shareholder, and the preferential U.S. federal income tax rates applicable to dividend income of certain U.S. investors for periods prior to our being treated as a PFIC would not apply. Since PFIC status is determined by us on an annual basis and will depend on the composition of our income and assets from time to time, we cannot assure you that we will not be considered a PFIC for the current or any future taxable year. If we are treated as a PFIC for any taxable year U.S. investors may desire to make an election to treat us as a "qualified electing fund" with respect to shares owned (a "QEF election"), in which case U.S. investors will be required to take into account a pro rata share of our earnings and net capital gain for each year, regardless of whether we make any distributions. As an alternative to the QEF election, a U.S. investor may be able to make an election to "mark-to-market" our shares each taxable year and recognize ordinary income pursuant to such election based upon increases in the value of our shares. See "Certain Tax Considerations" for more information regarding PFIC status.

### CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the other documents incorporated by reference herein include forward-looking statements that reflect our current expectations and projections about our future results, performance, prospects and opportunities. We have tried to identify these forward-looking statements by using words such as "may," "will," "expect," "anticipate," "believe," "intend," "estimate," "continue" and similar expressions. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results, performance, prospects or opportunities, as well as those of the markets we serve or intend to serve, to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements. These factors include the risks, uncertainties, trends and other factors discussed under the headings "Risk Factors," "First Quarter Operating Results," "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Business" in this prospectus and the other documents incorporated by reference herein. Examples of forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical in nature, including statements regarding:

industry conditions, including the cyclicality of the agribusiness industry and unpredictability of the weather;

estimated demand for the commodities and other products that we sell and use in our business;

the effects of adverse economic, political or social conditions and changes in foreign exchange policy or rates;

our ability to complete, integrate and benefit from acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic alliances;

governmental policies affecting our business, including agricultural and trade policies and laws governing environmental liabilities;

our funding needs and financing sources; and

the outcome of pending regulatory and legal proceedings.

our operations, competitive position, strategy and prospects;

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, you should not place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Additional risks that we may currently deem immaterial or that are not presently known to us could also cause the forward-looking events discussed in this prospectus and the other documents incorporated by reference herein not to occur. Except as otherwise required by applicable securities laws, we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changed circumstances or any other reason after the date of this prospectus.

### USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate we will receive net proceeds from this offering of approximately \$287 million, or approximately \$330 million if the underwriter's over-allotment option is exercised in full, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated expenses of this offering payable by us. This estimate is based upon an assumed offering price per common share of \$35.20, which was the last reported price of our common shares on the New York Stock Exchange on May 13, 2004.

We intend to use up to approximately \$284 million of the net proceeds we receive in this offering to purchase the shares of our subsidiary, Bunge Brasil, that we do not already own from the minority shareholders through a tender offer pursuant to Brazilian law. See "Summary Recent Developments Buyback of Bunge Brasil Minority Interest" for more information. We will use the remaining net proceeds for general corporate purposes, which may include acquisitions, capital expenditures and working capital purposes. We presently have no agreements or understandings for any material acquisitions.

### PRICE RANGE OF OUR COMMON SHARES

Our common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "BG." On May 13, 2004, the last reported closing price of our common shares on the New York Stock Exchange was \$35.20 per share. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing prices of our common shares as reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

		High		Low
	_		_	
2001:				
Full year (from August 2, 2001)	\$	24.15	\$	15.85
2002				
<b>2002:</b> Full year	\$	26.00	\$	17.79
First quarter	\$	24.00	\$	18.60
Second quarter	\$	23.88	\$	19.65
Third quarter	\$	24.20	\$	17.79
Fourth quarter	\$	26.00	\$	21.77
1 out in quarter	Ψ	20.00	Ψ	21.77
2003:				
Full year	\$	33.00	\$	23.90
First quarter	\$	27.30	\$	23.90
Second quarter	\$	30.35	\$	24.73
Third Quarter	\$	30.95	\$	27.37
Fourth Quarter	\$	33.00	\$	26.29
November	\$	28.48	\$	26.29
December	\$	33.00	\$	28.27
2004:				
First quarter	\$	40.22	\$	32.99
January	\$	35.34	\$	32.99
February	\$	39.05	\$	33.30
March	\$	40.22	\$	38.37
Second quarter	\$	41.27	\$	34.14
April	\$	41.27	\$	35.94
May (through May 13, 2004)	\$	36.40	\$	34.14

At March 31, 2004, there were 100,203,786 of our common shares issued and outstanding, held by approximately 173 shareholders of record, which does not include persons whose common shares are held of record by a bank, brokerage house or clearing agency.

### DIVIDEND POLICY

We intend to pay cash dividends to our shareholders on a quarterly basis. However, any future determination to pay dividends will, subject to the provisions of Bermuda law, be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon then existing conditions, including our financial condition, results of operations, contractual and other relevant legal or regulatory restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors our board of directors deems relevant.

Under Bermuda law, a company's board of directors may declare and pay dividends from time to time unless there are reasonable grounds for believing that the company is or would, after the payment, be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or that the realizable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and issued share capital and share premium accounts. Under our bye-laws, each common share is entitled to dividends if, as and when dividends are declared by our board of directors, subject to any preferred dividend right of the holders of any preference shares. There are no restrictions on our ability to transfer funds (other than funds denominated in Bermuda dollars) in or out of Bermuda or to pay dividends to U.S. residents who are holders of our common shares.

We paid quarterly dividends of \$0.10 per share in the first quarter of 2003 and \$0.11 per share in the last three quarters of 2003. In addition, we paid a regular quarterly cash dividend of \$0.11 per share on February 27, 2004 to shareholders of record on February 13, 2004. On March 12, 2004, we announced that we will pay a regular quarterly cash dividend of \$0.11 per share on June 1, 2004 to shareholders of record on May 17, 2004.

### **CAPITALIZATION**

The following table sets forth our cash and capitalization as of March 31, 2004 on an actual basis and on an adjusted basis to give effect to this offering and the application of the net proceeds of this offering as discussed under "Use of Proceeds" and our issuance of \$500 million aggregate principal amount of 5.35% senior notes due 2014 on April 13, 2004, including the application of the net proceeds therefrom to reduce indebtedness. See "Summary Recent Developments Senior Notes Offering" for more information. The information presented in this table assumes the underwriters have not exercised their over-allotment option. This table should be read in conjunction with "First Quarter Operating Results," "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.

			As of h 31, 20	04
	I	Actual	As	Adjusted
	(U	S\$ in milli	ons, exc lata)	ept share
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	523	\$	526
Debt:		_		_
Short-term debt, including current portion of long-term debt  Long-term debt:	\$	1,884	\$	1,588
Secured		308		308
Unsecured		287		87
6.31% Senior Guaranteed Notes, Series A, due 2007		82		82
6.78% Senior Guaranteed Notes, Series B, due 2009		53		53
7.44% Senior Guaranteed Notes, Series C, due 2012		351		351
7.80% Senior Notes due 2012		200		200
3.75% Convertible Notes due 2022		250		250
5.875% Senior Notes due 2013		300		300
4.375% Senior Notes due 2008		500		500
5.35% Senior Notes due 2008		300		500
5.55 % Schiol Notes due 2014				
Total long-term debt		2,331		2,631
Redeemable preferred stock		171		171
Minority interest		393		217
Shareholders' equity: Preference shares, par value \$.01; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding,				
actual and as adjusted				
Common shares, par value \$.01; 240,000,000 shares authorized; 100,203,786 shares issued and outstanding, actual; 108,703,786 shares issued and outstanding,				
as adjusted(1)		1		1
Additional paid in capital		2,017		2,304
Retained earnings		1,081		1,081
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	_	(671)		(671)
Total shareholders' equity		2,428		2,715
Total capitalization	\$	7,207	\$	7,322

(1)

The number of shares outstanding excludes 4,342,364 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options, the issuance of 780,100 shares issuable in respect of time-vested regular and performance-based restricted stock units and, with respect to performance-based restricted stock units, assumes all participants elect to receive shares and no adjustment by the compensation committee of the board of directors, and also excludes 7,778,425 shares issuable upon conversion of our 3.75% convertible notes due 2022, which notes are presently convertible at the option of the holder.

26

### DILUTION

Our net tangible book value as of March 31, 2004 was \$2,180 million or \$21.76 per share. Net tangible book value per share represents the amount of our total tangible assets less total liabilities, divided by the number of common shares issued and outstanding. After giving effect to (1) the sale of 8,500,000 common shares in this offering at an assumed public offering price of \$35.20 per share, which was the last reported sale price of our common shares on the New York Stock Exchange on May 13, 2004 (after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable by us and assuming the underwriters do not exercise the overallotment option) and the application of the net proceeds of this offering to effect the Bunge Brasil buyback, as described in "Use of Proceeds," and (2) our offering of senior notes in April 2004, as described in "Summary Recent Developments Senior Notes Offering," our adjusted net tangible book value as of March 31, 2004 would have been \$2,639 million, or \$24.28 per share.

Dilution per share represents the difference between the price per share paid by new investors for the shares issued in this offering and the net tangible book value per share immediately after the completion of the offering. The following table illustrates per share dilution:

Assumed public offering price per share		\$ 35.20
Net tangible book value per share as of March 31, 2004	\$ 21.76	
Increase per share attributable to this offering	2.52	
Adjusted net tangible book value per share after this offering		24.28
Dilution per share to new investors		\$ 10.92

The following table summarizes, on a pro forma basis as of March 31, 2004, the number of common shares purchased from us, the total consideration paid and the average price per share paid by our directors and senior management and by new investors purchasing common shares from us in this offering at an assumed public offering price of \$35.20 per share, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable by us.

	Shares Purch	<b>Shares Purchased</b>		tion	
	Number	Percent	Amount	Percent	Average Value Per Share
Directors and senior management	2,307,376	21.4%	\$ 49,457,127	14.7%	\$ 21.43
New investors	8,500,000	78.6	287,180,000	85.3%	33.79
Total	10,807,376	100.0%	336,637,127	100.0%	

The above table assumes the underwriters have not exercised the overallotment option. The above table also assumes, with respect to 359,486 performance-based restricted stock units and time-vested regular restricted stock units awarded to our senior management included in the 2,307,376 share amount, that all recipients elect to receive common shares, rather than cash, and that there is no adjustment of these awards by the compensation committee of the board of directors. Additionally, the table assumes that recipients of the 11,266 common share units, awarded pursuant to our Non- Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan included in the 2,307,376 share amount, elect to receive common shares.

### SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our summary historical financial data. You should read this information together with "Capitalization" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in this prospectus and our consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this prospectus. In addition, you should read this information together with "First Quarter Operating Results" and our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and related notes for the three months ended March 31, 2004 included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

The consolidated statements of income and cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The consolidated statements of income and cash flow data for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements that are not included in our 2003 Annual Report or otherwise incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The consolidated statement of income and cash flow data for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of March 31, 2004 are derived from our unaudited consolidated interim financial statements included in this prospectus. The consolidated balance sheet data as of March 31, 2003 is derived from our unaudited consolidated interim financial statements, which are not included in this prospectus. The unaudited consolidated financial statements as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003 reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal, recurring adjustments), which are, in the opinion of our management, necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the periods presented.

The historical results included below and elsewhere in this document are not necessarily indicative of our future performance. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in U.S. dollars and in accordance with GAAP.

In October 2002, we acquired a controlling interest in Cereol S.A., a French agribusiness company, and we now own 100% of Cereol's share capital and voting rights. Cereol's results of operations have been included in our historical financial statements since October 1, 2002. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Principal Capital Expenditures, Acquisitions and Divestitures Acquisitions."

Our net income for 2003 of \$411 million included the \$111 million gain we recognized on the sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients operations to The Solae Company. After excluding this gain on sale from our net income for 2003, our net income for 2003 would have been \$300 million. We believe excluding this gain from the sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients operations from our net income for 2003 is useful for investors as this more closely reflects the performance of our operations. If we had completed this offering on January 1, 2003 and applied \$284 million of the net proceeds from this offering to complete the Bunge Brasil buyback, assuming we purchased all of the outstanding shares of Bunge Brasil that we do not already own, as described in "Summary Recent Developments Buyback of Bunge Brasil Minority Interest" and "Use of Proceeds," and without making any adjustments for anticipated tax and administrative cost savings, our net income in 2003 would have increased by \$24 million. This information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not intended to represent or be indicative of what our net income would have been had this transaction occurred on the date indicated or would be upon completion of this offering.

# Three Months Ended March 31,

## Year Ended December 31,

	_		 	_							
	2	2004	2003		2003		2002	2001	 2000		1999
						(US	in millions)				
Consolidated Statements of											
Income Data:											
Net sales	\$	5,739	\$ 4,842	\$	22,165	\$	13,882	\$ 11,302	\$ 9,500	\$	7,950
Cost of goods sold		(5,374)	(4,569)		(20,860)		(12,544)	(10,331)	(8,812)		(7,332)
Gross profit		365	273		1,305		1,338	971	688		618
Selling, general and					-,		-,				
administrative expenses		(178)	(149)		(691)		(579)	(423)	(375)		(321)
Gain on sale of soy ingredients		(170)	(1.7)		(0)1)		(577)	(120)	(575)		(521)
business					111						
Interest income		16	20		102		71	91	114		132
Interest expense		(52)	(54)		(215)		(176)	(223)	(252)		(204)
Foreign exchange (loss) gain		(16)	7		92		(170)	(148)	(116)		(255)
Other income (expense) net		11	1		19		6	(4)	7		9
Income (loss) from continuing								 			
operations before income tax and		146	98		723		481	264			(21)
minority interest		146						264	66		(21)
Income tax (expense) benefit		(58)	(37)		(201)	_	(104)	(68)	(12)	_	27
Income from continuing											
operations before minority		00	<i>(</i> 1		500		255	106	~ .		
interest		88	61		522		377	196	54		6
Minority interest		(18)	(20)		(104)		(102)	(72)	(37)	_	4
Income from continuing											
operations		70	41		418		275	124	17		10
Discontinued operations, net of tax benefit (expense) of \$0 (March 31, 2004), \$0 (March 31, 2003), \$5 (2003), \$(1) (2002), \$0 (2001), \$1 (2000) and \$3											
(1999)(1)			 (1)		(7)		3	3	(5)		(15)
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting											
principles		70	40		411		278	127	12		(5)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax benefit (expense) of \$0 (March 31, 2004), \$0 (March 31, 2003), \$6 (2002), \$(4)											
(2001), \$0 (2000) and \$0 (1999)							(23)	7			
Net income (loss)	\$	70	\$ 40	\$	411	\$	255	\$ 134	\$ 12	\$	(5)
					29						

#### **Three Months Ended** March 31, Year Ended December 31, 2004 2003 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 (US\$, except share data) Per Share Data: Earnings per common share basic: Income from continuing operations .70 \$ .41 \$ 4.19 \$ 2.87 \$ 1.73 \$ .26 \$ .16 Discontinued operations (.01)(.07)(.07).03 .04 (.24)Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles (.24).10 Net income (loss) per \$ .70 \$ .40 \$ 1.87 \$ .19 \$ share 4.12 \$ 2.66 \$ (.08)Earnings per common share diluted(2) Income from continuing operations .65 .41 \$ 4.14 \$ 2.85 \$ 1.72 \$ .26 \$ .16 Discontinued operations (.01)(.07).03 .04 (.07)(.24)Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles (.24).10 Net income (loss) per share .65 \$ .40 \$ 4.07 \$ 2.64 \$ 1.86 \$ .19 \$ (.08)Cash dividends per \$ .11 \$ .10 \$ .420 \$ .385 \$ .095 common share Weighted average common shares outstanding basic 100,016,833 99,585,790 99,745,825 95,895,338 71,844,895 64,380,000 64,380,000 Weighted average common shares 100,875,602 outstanding diluted(2) 109,565,699 100,502,130 96,649,129 72,004,754 64,380,000 64,380,000

30

		Three Mont March		ıded	Year Ended December 31,									
		2004		2003		2003		2002		2001		2000		1999
						(US\$ in n	nillio	ıs, except vo	olun	nes)		•		
Cash Flows and Other Data:														
Cash (used for) provided by operating activities	\$	(720)	\$	(3)	\$	(41)	\$	128	\$	205	\$	(527)	\$	37
Cash (used for) provided by			•						_				_	
investing activities Cash provided by (used for)		(47)		(49)		60		(1,071)		(175)		(85)		(108)
financing activities		803		(40)		(61)		1,295		(224)		709		(253)
Capital expenditures		52		53		304		240		226		176		140
Depreciation, depletion and amortization		51		49		184		168		163		143		94
Segment operating profit(3):														
Agribusiness	\$	72	\$	44	\$	274	\$	283	\$	155	\$	(17)	\$	(25)
Fertilizer		41		38		242		192		137		108		39
Edible oil products		17		17		64		6		(4)		10		(34)
Milling products		6		3		30		18		7		(26)		(19)
Other		0		9		8		22		16		9		15
Oulci	_			9	_	0		22		10		9		13
Total segment operating profit (loss)(4)	\$	136	\$	111	\$	618	\$	521	\$	311	\$	84	\$	(24)
Volumes (in millions of metric tons)(3):														
Agribusiness		20.4		19.2		88.4		69.6		57.5		46.3		31.9
Fertilizer		1.8		1.9		11.5		10.7		9.0		9.1		4.2
Edible oil products		.7		.9		3.4		2.0		1.6		1.5		1.6
Milling products		.9		.8		3.5		3.3		3.3		2.9		3.0
Other				.1		0.2		0.2		0.1		0.1		
Total volume		23.8		22.9		107.0		85.8		71.5		59.9		40.7
		As of M	[anah	21					A c	of December	. 21			
	_	AS OF IV	laiti	31,	-				ЛЭ	of December	31,			
		2004		2003		2003		2002	_	2001		2000		1999
							(US	\$ in millions	s)					
<b>Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:</b>														
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	523		390		\$ 489				\$ 19				363 923
Inventories(5) Working capital		3,950 2,485		2,38° 2,20°		2,867 2,481		2,407 1,655		1,360 930		1,31 68		295
Total assets		11,225		8,552		9,884		8,349		5,44		5,85		4,611
Short-term debt, including current		1001			,	4.0	7	4 400	,		,			1.001
portion of long-term debt  Long-term debt		1,884 2,331		1,483 1,91		1,017 2,377		1,499 1,904		98: 83:		1,52 1,00		1,036 793
Redeemable preferred stock		171		1,91		171		1,90		17		1,00		-173
Minority interest in subsidiaries(6) Common shares and additional paid		564		509		554		495		49.		54		183
in capital, net of receivable from former sole shareholder		2,018		1,95	2	2,011	1	1,945	5	1,63	1	1,30	3	1,303
Shareholders' equity		2,428		1,608		2,377		1,472		1,37		1,13		1,197

- (1) In December 2003, we sold our North American bakery business to a third party. Accordingly, the operating results for the disposed division have been reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
- The calculation of diluted earnings per common share for the three months ended March 31, 2004, includes 7,778,425 common shares that would be issuable upon conversion of our 3.75% convertible notes due 2022. The convertible notes become convertible as of March 31, 2004. The convertible notes are convertible at the option of the holder into our common shares, among other circumstances, during any calendar quarter in which the closing price of our common shares for at least 20 of the last 30 trading days of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is more than 120% of the conversion price of \$321,402, or approximately \$38.57 per share. The closing price condition was satisfied as of March 31, 2004 and the convertible notes may be converted at the option of the holder. The convertible notes will remain convertible until June 30, 2004, unless the closing price condition described above is satisfied again at June 30, 2004, at which point the convertible notes will remain convertible for another calendar quarter. The calculation of diluted earnings per share for all other periods presented does not include the common shares that would be issuable upon conversion of the convertible notes because the convertible notes had not yet become convertible. See Note 14 to our unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the three month period ended March 31, 2004 included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus for more information.
- In 2003, we changed the name of our "wheat milling and bakery products" segment to "milling products" in connection with the sale of our U.S. bakery business and the reclassification of our corn milling products business line from the "other" segment to the "milling products" segment. As a result of this change, our "other" segment reflects only our soy ingredients business line, which we sold to The Solae Company, our soy ingredients joint venture with E.I. duPont de Nemours and Company, in May 2003. In addition, certain agribusiness activities of our Canadian operations that were previously included in our edible oil products segment in 2002 were retroactively reclassified to the agribusiness segment to conform to this presentation.
- Total segment operating profit is our consolidated income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest that includes an allocated portion of the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to debt financing operating working capital, including readily marketable inventories. Also included in total segment operating profit is interest income and interest expense attributable to the financing of operating working capital. Total segment operating profit is a non-GAAP measure and is not intended to replace income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest, the most directly comparable GAAP measure. Total segment operating profit is a key performance measurement used by our management to evaluate whether our operating activities cover the financing costs of our business. We believe total segment operating profit is a more complete measure of our operating profitability, since it allocates foreign exchange gains and losses and the cost of debt financing working capital to the appropriate operating segments. Additionally, we believe total segment operating profit assists investors by allowing them to evaluate changes in the operating results of our portfolio of businesses before non-operating factors that affect net income. Total segment operating profit is not a measure of consolidated operating results under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest or any other measure of consolidated operating results under GAAP.

Below is a reconciliation of income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest to total segment profit:

Three Months Ended

		Marc			Year Ended December 31,									
	2	004		2003		2003		2002		2001		2000		1999
						J)	J <b>S</b> \$	in millions	s)					
Income (expense) from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest	\$	146	\$	98	\$	723	\$	481	\$	264	\$	66	\$	(21)
Plus (minus): Unallocated expenses net(a)	Ψ	(10)	Ψ	13	Ψ	6	Ψ	40	Ψ	47	Ψ	18	Ψ	(3)
Minus: Gain on sale of soy ingredients business						(111)								
Total segment operating profit (loss)	\$	136	\$	111	\$	618	\$	521	\$	311	\$	84	\$	(24)

Unallocated expenses net includes interest income, interest expense, foreign exchange gains and losses and other income and expense not directly attributable to our operating segments.

- Included in inventories were readily marketable inventories of \$2,879 million and \$1,632 million at March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and \$1,868 million, \$1,517 million, \$764 million, \$799 million, and \$642 million at December 31, 2003, 2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Readily marketable inventories are agricultural commodities inventories that are readily convertible to cash because of their commodity characteristics, widely available markets and international pricing mechanisms.
- (6)
  Minority interest in subsidiaries for each period includes the corresponding amount of redeemable preferred stock. See Note 21 to our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus for more information.

32

#### FIRST QUARTER OPERATING RESULTS

The following is a discussion of our unaudited consolidated results for the three months ended March 31, 2004. This discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and related notes for the three months ended March 31, 2004 included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus. In addition, you should read this information together with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this prospectus.

#### Overview

Our agribusiness results for the first quarter of 2004 were higher than last year as a result of volume growth and improved gross profit margins. Customer demand for our soybeans and related products was strong. The volume increase was driven by origination volumes in South America, as well as solid demand from U.S. and Brazilian meat producers, which more than offset lower U.S. export volumes.

The poor U.S. harvest in 2003/2004 and revised downward expectations for the current year soybean crop in South America resulted in soybean futures prices increasing to a level not seen in over 15 years. However, our earnings are not directly tied to soybean prices as gross profit margins are determined by the relative spread between the price at which we buy soybeans and the price at which we sell the derived products of soybean meal and oil. North American margins improved in the first quarter of 2004 due to improved softseed margins, but margins in Southern Europe continue to be depressed due to excess capacity. Despite higher freight rates, improved logistics management also contributed to our quarterly results.

Our fertilizer business continued performing well, driven by higher margins which offset a decline in volumes. Volumes decreased in the Brazilian market as excess rain in the east and northeast parts of Brazil and shortage of rain in the south and southeast parts of Brazil delayed the planting of the winter crop. International prices for imported fertilizer and raw materials were higher than the first quarter of 2003. For example, phosphate, ammonia and urea prices were 35%, 58% and 36% higher in the first quarter of 2004 compared to the first quarter of 2003. Margins improved since locally produced fertilizer is priced to import parity.

In our edible oil products segment, our sales volumes decreased compared to the same quarter in 2003; however, excluding the volumes of Lesieur, which was sold to our Saipol joint venture in July 2003, sales volumes increased slightly driven by growth in Brazil. Segment operating profit was flat compared to 2003; however, excluding the results of Lesieur, segment operating profit increased 55% as margins expanded in our softseed business in Eastern Europe. In Eastern Europe, we purchase all the softseeds we use to produce our bottled oils at harvest time. Prices of vegetable oils have increased since the 2003 harvest due to increases of soybean oil prices, and have contributed to the improvements in our margins. These benefits were partially offset by increases in raw material costs, primarily soybean oil, in our edible oil businesses in the U.S. and Brazil, and a difficult competitive environment in Brazil.

#### **Results of Operations**

Set forth in the table below is a summary of certain items in our consolidated statements of income and volumes by reportable segment for the periods indicated. In 2003, we changed the name of our "wheat milling and bakery products" segment to "milling products" in connection with the sale of our U.S. bakery business and the reclassification of our corn milling products business line from the "other" segment to the "milling products" segment. As a result of this change, our "other" segment

reflects only our soy ingredients business line, which we sold to The Solae Company, our soy ingredients joint venture with E.I. duPont de Nemours and Company, in May 2003.

		Three Months Ended March 31,			
		2004		2003	Change
				except volume entages)	es and
Volumes (in thousands of metric tons):					
Agribusiness		20,393		19,232	6%
Fertilizer		1,760		1,861	(5)%
Edible oil products		714		859	(17)%
Milling products		966		825	17%
Other (soy ingredients)				132	(100)%
Total		23,833		22,909	4%
			_		
Net sales:					
Agribusiness	\$	4,631	\$	3,802	22%
Fertilizer		366		286	28%
Edible oil products		542		536	1%
Milling products		200		172	16%
Other (soy ingredients)				46	(100)%
Total	\$	5,739	\$	4,842	19%
Cost of goods sold:					
Agribusiness	\$	(4,425)	\$	(3,685)	20%
Fertilizer	*	(281)	·	(226)	24%
Edible oil products		(486)		(472)	3%
Milling products		(182)		(157)	16%
Other (soy ingredients)				(29)	(100)%
Total	\$	(5,374)	\$	(4,569)	18%
		(2,21.1)	_	(1,00)	
Gross profit:					
Agribusiness	\$	206	\$	117	76%
Fertilizer		85		60	42%
Edible oil products		56		64	(13)%
Milling products		18		15	20%
Other (soy ingredients)				17	(100)%
Total	\$	365	\$	273	34%
Selling, general and administrative expenses:					
Agribusiness	\$	(101)	\$	(74)	36%
Fertilizer		(31)		(19)	63%
Edible oil products		(35)		(39)	(10)%
Milling products		(11)		(10)	10%
Other (soy ingredients)				(7)	(100)%

		 Three Months End March 31,	ded	
Total		\$ (178) \$	(149)	19%
	34			

Three Months Ended March 31,

	2	2004	2	003	Change
		(US\$ in n	entages)		
Foreign exchange gain (loss):					
Agribusiness	\$	(5)	\$	11	(145)%
Fertilizer		(11)		(2)	450%
Edible oil products					
Milling products					
Other (soy ingredients)				1	(100)%
Total	\$	(16)	¢	10	(160)%
Total	φ	(10)	\$	10	(100)%
Interest income:					
Agribusiness	\$	2	\$	3	(33)%
Fertilizer	<del>-</del>	9	-	11	(18)%
Edible oil products		3		1	200%
Milling products		2		•	20070
Other (soy ingredients)					
other (soy ingredients)					
Total	\$	16	\$	15	7%
			_		
Interest synance					
Interest expense:	¢	(20)	¢	(12)	131%
Agribusiness	\$	(30)	\$	(13)	
Fertilizer		(11)		(12)	(8)%
Edible oil products		(7)		(9)	(22)%
Milling products		(3)		(2)	50%
Other (soy ingredients)				(2)	(100)%
Total	\$	(51)	\$	(38)	34%
Segment operating profit:					
Agribusiness	\$	72	\$	44	64%
Fertilizer		41		38	8%
Edible oil products		17		17	
Milling products		6		3	100%
Other (soy ingredients)				9	(100)%
			_		
Total(1)	\$	136	\$	111	23%
1044(1)	Ψ	150	Ψ	111	23 70
Depreciation, depletion and amortization:					
Agribusiness	\$	24	\$	27	(11)%
Fertilizer		17		12	42%
Edible oil products		7		6	17%
Milling products		3		4	(25)%
Other (soy ingredients)					
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
Total	ф.	<b>5</b> 1	ф	40	107
Total	\$	51	\$	49	4%
			_		
	Ф	70			~
Not income	•	1//1	ď.	40	150/-
Net income	\$	70	\$	40	75%

(1)

Total segment operating profit is our consolidated income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest that includes an allocated portion of the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to debt financing operating working capital, including readily marketable inventories. Also included in total segment operating profit is interest income and interest expense attributable to the financing of operating working capital. Total segment operating profit is a non-U.S. GAAP measure and is not intended to replace income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest, the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure. Total segment

35

operating profit is a key performance measurement used by our management to evaluate whether our operating activities cover the financing costs of our business. We believe total segment operating profit is a more complete measure of our operating profitability, since it allocates foreign exchange gains and losses and the cost of debt financing working capital to the appropriate operating segments. Additionally, we believe total segment operating profit assists investors by allowing them to evaluate changes in the operating results of our portfolio of businesses before non-operating factors that affect net income. Total segment operating profit is not a measure of consolidated operating results under U.S. GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest or any other measure of consolidated operating results under U.S. GAAP.

Below is a reconciliation of income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest to total segment operating profit

Three	Months	Ended	March	31
I III ee	VIOILIIS	raided	VIAICH	.71

	2	004	20	003
		(US\$ in	millions)	
Income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest Unallocated expenses net(a)	\$	146 (10)	\$	98 13
Total segment operating profit	\$	136	\$	111

Unallocated expenses-net includes interest income, interest expense, foreign exchange gains and losses and other income and expense not directly attributable to our operating segments.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2004 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2003

(a)

Agribusiness Segment. Agribusiness segment net sales increased 22% due to higher average selling prices for soy commodity products and a 6% increase in volumes. Soy commodity product prices continued increasing during the first quarter driven by the reduced U.S. soybean crop and a reduction in forecasted soybean production in South America. Prices for our canola and sunflower seed products benefited from the increase in soybean prices as customer demand for these products increased as a substitute for higher priced soybean products.

Cost of goods sold increased 20% due to the increased volumes and raw material costs, higher prices for ocean freight and increased costs related to the settlement of forward sales contracts due to the increase of soy commodity product prices. Also included in cost of goods sold in the first quarter of 2004 was a \$9 million decrease in our allowances for recoverable taxes as a result of either cash received by us or compensation against taxes owed by us to the Argentine government. Cost of goods sold in the first quarter of 2003 included an \$11 million charge relating to reserves for recoverable taxes from the Argentine government.

Gross profit increased 76% due to the increase in volumes and improvements in margins, assisted by effective risk management. Efficiency improvements in logistics, favorable effects from freight risk management programs and higher North American margins due to improved softseed margins contributed to the increase in our results.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) increased 36% primarily due to increases in employee compensation expense and a stronger Brazilian *real* in the first quarter of 2004, which resulted in higher expenses when local currency expenses were converted to U.S. dollars compared to the first quarter of 2003 when the *real* was weaker.

Segment operating profit increased 64% primarily due to the volume growth and improvements in margins. The devaluation of the Brazilian *real* against the U.S. dollar during the first quarter of 2004 versus the value at December 31, 2003 resulted in foreign exchange losses on our U.S. dollar net monetary liability position in Brazil. In the first quarter of 2003, the *real* appreciated versus the U.S. dollar at December 31, 2002, which resulted in foreign exchange gains. Interest expense increased primarily due to higher inventory levels associated with the higher commodity prices.

Fertilizer Segment. Fertilizer segment net sales increased 28% due to higher average selling prices. Selling prices benefited from higher international selling prices for imported fertilizers and raw materials, such as phosphate, ammonia and urea, which helped boost local prices as products are priced to import parity. Sales volumes decreased 5% in the first quarter of 2004 compared to the same quarter of 2003. In the first quarter of 2003 we benefited from accelerated sales to Brazilian farmers, which did not occur in the first quarter of 2004 due to excess rain in the east and northeast parts of Brazil and shortage of rain in the south and southeast parts of Brazil which delayed the planting of the winter crop.

Cost of goods sold increased 24% due to higher imported raw material costs mitigated in part by lower cost local production. Gross profit increased 42% as a result of higher fertilizer selling prices offset partially by increases in imported raw material costs.

SG&A increased 63% due to increases in employee compensation expense due to higher salaries and certain other labor and civil provisions and the effects of a stronger Brazilian *real* in the first quarter of 2004 compared to first quarter of 2003 when the *real* was weaker.

Segment operating profit increased 8% primarily due to the increase in gross profit, partially offset by the increase in SG&A and foreign exchange losses. The increase in foreign exchange losses was primarily due to the effects of the first quarter of 2004 devaluation of the Brazilian *real* on our Brazilian U.S. dollar net monetary liability position and related hedge costs.

Edible Oil Products Segment. The table below outlines our edible oil products segment results for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003. The results for the three months ended March 31, 2003 include the results of Lesieur, which we sold to our Saipol joint venture in July 2003. In addition, for comparative purposes, the results of our edible oil products segment excluding Lesieur and the results of Lesieur alone, both for the three months ended March 31, 2003, are also presented.

		Three Months Ended March 31,					Three Months Ended March 31,			
		2004		2003		2003	2	2003		
	A	Actual			Excluding Lesieur		Lesieur			
			J)	JS\$ in milli	ons, excep	t volumes)				
Volumes (in thousands of metric tons)		714		859		702		157		
Net sales	\$	542	\$	536	\$	380	\$	156		
Cost of sales		(486)		(472)		(334)		(138)		
Gross profit		56		64		46		18		
Selling, general and administrative expenses		(35)		(39)		(27)		(12)		
Interest income		3		1		1				
Interest expense		(7)		(9)		(9)				
Edible oil products segment operating profit	\$	17	\$	17	\$	11	\$	6		

Edible oil products segment net sales, excluding Lesieur, increased 43% primarily due to higher average selling prices and changes in sales mix in Hungary and Poland towards higher margin products.

Cost of goods sold, excluding Lesieur, increased 46% primarily due to higher raw material costs. Gross profit, excluding Lesieur, increased 22% primarily due to a higher margin product mix in Eastern

Europe. In our South American operations, gross profit declined primarily due to higher crude soybean oil costs and competitive pressures as big grocery retailers changed to generic brands to reduce costs.

SG&A, excluding Lesieur, increased 30% primarily due to the effects of a stronger Brazilian *real* and *euro* in the first quarter of 2004 compared to first quarter of 2003 when these currencies were weaker.

Segment operating profit, excluding Lesieur, increased 55% primarily due to the improvement in gross profit in Eastern Europe.

*Milling Products Segment.* Milling products segment net sales increased 16% primarily due to increases in corn milling volumes and increases in average selling prices for wheat milling products. Corn milling volumes increased primarily due to higher sales to U.S. commercial customers, higher sales under the U.S. government food aid program and the addition of a facility acquired in the latter half of 2003. The increase in wheat and corn milling selling prices reflects increases in raw material costs.

Cost of goods sold increased 16% due to the increase in corn milling sales volumes and higher raw material costs. Gross profit increased 20% primarily due to the increase in corn milling sales volumes and higher average selling prices for wheat milling products. Segment operating profit increased by \$3 million as a result of the improvement in gross profit.

Other Segment (Soy Ingredients). Our soy ingredients business was contributed to Solae, our joint venture with DuPont, in the second quarter of 2003. Therefore, historical results are presented herein for comparative purposes.

Financial Costs. A summary of consolidated financial costs for the periods indicated follows.

		Three Mor Mare	nths End ch 31,	ed		
	2	004	20	003	Change	
		(US\$ in millions, except per			percentages)	
Interest income	\$	16	\$	20	(20)%	
Interest expense		(52)		(54)	(4)%	
Foreign exchange gains (losses)		(16)		7		

Interest income decreased 20% due to lower interest rates earned on invested cash in Brazil. Interest expense decreased 4% despite increases in average borrowings for the first quarter of 2004 compared to the first quarter of 2003 primarily due to lower average interest rates on long-term borrowings. During 2003, we replaced long-term debt assumed in the acquisition of Cereol and long-term debt maturing in 2003 with lower interest rate debt.

Foreign exchange losses of \$16 million included hedging costs related to our monetary exposure in Brazil and exchange losses on our Brazilian U.S. dollar net monetary liability position primarily due to the 1% devaluation in the value of the Brazilian *real* in the first quarter of 2004 against the U.S. dollar. In contrast, in the first quarter of 2003, the value of the Brazilian *real* increased by 5% against the U.S. dollar, resulting in foreign exchange gains.

Other Income (Expense) net. Other income (expense) net increased \$10 million to \$11 million in the first quarter of 2004 from \$1 million of income in the first quarter of 2003 primarily due to higher earnings from our joint ventures in Argentina and the Solae joint venture. Solae was formed in the second quarter of 2003.

In the quarter ended March 31, 2004, we completed an exchange transaction with J. Macêdo, whereby we exchanged our Brazilian domestic retail flour assets for J. Macêdo's industrial flour assets

and approximately \$7 million in cash. We recognized a pre-tax gain of \$5 million as a result of this transaction, which is included in other income (expense) net in the consolidated statement of income.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense increased \$21 million to \$58 million in the first quarter of 2004 from \$37 million in the first quarter of 2003. Our effective tax rate for the first quarter of 2004 increased to 40%, compared to 28% in 2003. Excluding the tax-free gain on the sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients business to Solae, the 2003 annual effective tax rate was 33%. Our effective tax rate for the first quarter of 2004 reflects an increase from the annual 2003 effective tax rate predominantly due to reduced tax benefits related to lower U.S. export sales and higher taxes payable in various tax jurisdictions as a result of new tax laws.

*Net Income.* Net income increased \$30 million to \$70 million in the first quarter of 2004 from \$40 million in the first quarter of 2003. Net income for the first quarter of 2004 includes the \$3 million gain, net of tax, from the exchange of our Brazilian domestic retail flour assets. Net income for the first quarter of 2003 included a discontinued operations loss of \$1 million, net of tax, relating to the North American bakery operations sold in December 2003.

### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

Our primary financial objective is to maintain sufficient liquidity through a conservative balance sheet to provide flexibility to pursue our growth objectives. Our current ratio, defined as current assets divided by current liabilities, was 1.47 and 1.63 at March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.

Cash and Readily Marketable Inventories. Cash and cash equivalents were \$523 million at March 31, 2004 and \$489 million at December 31, 2003. At March 31, 2004, we had \$83 million of restricted cash, which is included in cash and cash equivalents, and is set aside as collateral against short-term loans for our operations in Europe.

Included in our inventories were readily marketable inventories of \$2,879 million at March 31, 2004 and \$1,868 million at December 31, 2003. These agricultural commodity inventories, which are financed primarily with debt, are readily convertible to cash because of their commodity characteristics, widely available markets and international pricing mechanisms. The increase in readily marketable inventories was primarily due to higher prices and increased selling by farmers that began in the latter half of 2003 due to the increase in soybean commodity prices.

Long and Short-Term Debt. We conduct most of our financing activities at the parent company level. We have a master trust facility designed to act as our central treasury and permit us and our subsidiaries to borrow long and short-term debt on a more efficient basis. The primary assets of the master trust facility consist of intercompany loans made to Bunge Limited and its subsidiaries. Bunge Limited's wholly owned financing subsidiaries fund the master trust with long and short-term debt obtained from third parties, including our commercial paper program.

To finance working capital, we use cash flows generated from operations and short-term borrowings, including our commercial paper program, and various long-term bank facilities and credit lines, which are sufficient to meet our business needs. At March 31, 2004, we had \$152 million outstanding under our commercial paper program, which has a maximum available borrowing capacity of \$600 million. Our commercial paper program is our least expensive available short-term funding source. We maintain back-up bank credit lines equal to the maximum capacity of our commercial paper program. If we were unable to access the commercial paper market, we would use our bank credit lines, which would be at a higher cost than our commercial paper.

At March 31, 2004, we had approximately \$541 million of committed unused and available borrowing capacity under our commercial paper program, other short-term lines of credit and under long-term credit facilities, all of which are held through a number of lending institutions.

Our short-term and long-term debt increased by \$821 million at March 31, 2004 from December 31, 2003 primarily due to the increase in soy commodity prices which resulted in an increase in our inventory levels.

In April 2004, we completed an offering of \$500 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes bearing interest at a rate of 5.35% per year that mature in April 2014. The notes were issued by our wholly owned finance subsidiary, Bunge Limited Finance Corp., and fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Bunge Limited. Interest on these unsecured senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears in April and October of each year, commencing in October 2004. We used the net proceeds of this offering, approximately \$496 million, for the repayment of outstanding indebtedness.

Shareholders' Equity. Shareholders' equity increased to \$2,428 million at March 31, 2004 from \$2,377 million at December 31, 2003 as a result of net income of \$70 million, other comprehensive loss of \$15 million, which includes foreign exchange losses of \$27 million, and \$7 million attributable to the exercise of employee stock options and the issuance of vested restricted stock units. This increase was partially offset by dividends paid to shareholders of \$11 million.

#### Cash Flows

Three Months Ended March 31, 2004 Compared to 2003. In the three months ended March 31, 2004, our cash balance increased \$34 million, reflecting the net impact of cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, compared to a \$74 million decrease in our cash balance in the three months ended March 31, 2003.

Our operating activities used cash of \$720 million in the three months ended March 31, 2004, compared to cash used of \$3 million in the three months ended March 31, 2003. Historically, our cash flow from operations has varied depending on the timing of the acquisition of, and the market prices for, agribusiness commodity inventories. The decrease in cash flows from operating activities is primarily due to significant increases in our readily marketable inventories. Soybean prices have increased 60% since mid-2003. This increase in soybean prices has resulted in significant selling by farmers, which increased our use of cash to acquire inventories. The rising agricultural commodity prices increased use of working capital, which reduced cash from operations by approximately \$793 million in the three months ended March 31, 2004. Our risk management policies include hedging strategies to mitigate the risk that the cost of these inventories would not be recovered. We anticipate generating positive cash flows from operating activities when these inventories are sold. In addition, we expect that a return of prices to historical levels should also contribute to positive cash flows from operating activities.

Cash used by investing activities was \$47 million in the three months ended March 31, 2004, compared to cash used of \$49 million in the three months ended March 31, 2003. Investments in property, plant and equipment of \$52 million consisted primarily of additions under our normal capital expenditure plan. Of this amount, \$20 million represented maintenance capital expenditures in the three months ended March 31, 2004, compared to \$16 million in the three months ended March 31, 2003. Maintenance capital expenditures are expenditures made to replace existing equipment in order to maintain current production capacity. The majority of non-maintenance capital expenditures in the three months ended March 31, 2004 related to efficiency improvements to reduce costs, equipment upgrades and business expansion. Also included in cash flow from investing activities is \$7 million received in the exchange of our Brazilian retail flour assets for the industrial flour assets of J. Macêdo.

Cash provided by financing activities was \$803 million in the three months ended March 31, 2004, compared to cash used of \$40 million in the three months ended March 31, 2003. In the three months ended March 31, 2004, we increased our borrowings of short and long-term debt primarily to finance our additional working capital requirements. Dividends paid to our shareholders in the three months ended March 31, 2004 were \$11 million and \$10 million in the three months ended March 31, 2003.

#### Guarantees

We have issued or were a party to the following third-party guarantees at March 31, 2004:

		m Potential Payments
	(US\$ ir	n millions)
Operating lease residual values	\$	69
Unconsolidated affiliates financing Customer financing		17 94
Total	\$	180

Prior to January 1, 2003, we entered into synthetic lease agreements for barges and railcars originally owned by us and subsequently sold to third parties. The leases are classified as operating leases in accordance with SFAS No. 13, *Accounting for Leases*. Any gains on the sales have been deferred and are being recognized ratably over the related lease terms. We have the option under each lease to purchase the barges or railcars at fixed amounts based on estimated fair values or to sell the assets. If we elect to sell, we will receive proceeds of such sales up to fixed amounts specified in the agreements. If the proceeds are less than the specified fixed amounts, we would be obligated under a guarantee to pay supplemental rent for the deficiency in proceeds. The operating leases expire through 2007. There are no recourse provisions or collateral that would enable us to recover any amounts paid under this guarantee.

Prior to January 1, 2003, we issued a guarantee to a financial institution related to the debt of our joint ventures in Argentina, our unconsolidated affiliates. The term of the guarantee is equal to the term of the related financing, which matures in 2009. There are no recourse provisions or collateral that would enable us to recover any amounts paid under this guarantee.

We issued guarantees to a financial institution in Brazil related to amounts owed to the institution by certain of our customers. The terms of the guarantees are equal to the terms of the related financing arrangements, which can be as short as 120 days or as long as 360 days. In the event that the customers default on their payments to the institutions and we would be required to perform under the guarantees, we have obtained collateral from the customers. At March 31, 2004, approximately \$35 million of these financing arrangements were collateralized by tangible property. We have determined the fair value of these guarantees to be immaterial at March 31, 2004.

We have provided parent level guarantees of the indebtedness outstanding under certain senior credit facilities and senior notes which were entered into by our wholly owned subsidiaries. The debt under these guarantees had a carrying amount of \$3,008 million, all of which is through the master trust facility at March 31, 2004. All outstanding debt related to these guarantees is included in the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2004. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of any of our subsidiaries to transfer funds to us.

In addition, certain of our subsidiaries have provided guarantees of indebtedness of certain of their subsidiaries under certain lines of credit with various institutions. The total borrowing capacity under these lines of credit guarantees is \$267 million.

#### Quantitative And Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Risk Management. As a result of our global operating and financing activities, we are exposed to changes in agricultural commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, which may affect our results of operations and financial position. We use derivative financial instruments for the purpose of managing the risks and/or costs associated with fluctuations in commodity prices and foreign exchange rates. While these hedging instruments are subject to fluctuations in value, those fluctuations are generally offset by the value of the underlying exposures being hedged. The counterparties to these contractual arrangements are primarily major financial institutions or, in the case of commodity futures and options, a commodity exchange. As a result, credit risk arising from these contracts is not significant and we do not anticipate any significant losses. Our finance and risk management committee supervises, reviews and periodically revises our overall risk management policies and risk limits. We only enter into derivatives that are related to our inherent business and financial exposure as a global agribusiness company.

Commodities Risk. We operate in many areas of the food industry from agricultural raw materials to the production and sale of branded food products. As a result, we use and produce various materials, many of which are agricultural commodities, including soybeans, soybean oil, soybean meal, wheat and corn. Agricultural commodities are subject to price fluctuations due to a number of unpredictable factors that may create price risk. We enter into various derivative contracts, primarily exchange-traded futures, with the objective of managing our exposure to adverse price movements in the agricultural commodities used for our business operations. We have established policies that limit the amount of unhedged fixed-price agricultural commodity positions permissible for our operating companies, which are a combination of quantity and value at risk limits. We measure and review our sensitivity to our net commodities position on a daily basis.

We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk on our agricultural commodity position. The daily net agricultural commodity position consists of inventory, related purchase and sale contracts, and exchange-traded contracts, including those used to hedge portions of our production requirements. The fair value of that position is a summation of the fair values calculated for each agricultural commodity by valuing each net position at quoted average futures prices for the period. Market risk is estimated as the potential loss in fair value resulting from a hypothetical 10% adverse change in prices. The results of this analysis, which may differ from actual results, are as follows:

		Three Moi March			Year Ended December 31, 20				
	Fair	r Value	Mar	ket Risk	Fair	r Value	Mar	ket Risk	
				(US\$ in 1	million	s)			
Highest long position	\$	330	\$	33	\$	517	\$	52	
Highest short position		(27)		(3)		(50)		(5)	

Currency Risk. Our global operations require active participation in foreign exchange markets. To reduce the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations, we follow a policy of hedging net monetary assets and liabilities and transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies applicable to each of our various subsidiaries. Our primary exposure is related to our businesses located in Brazil and Argentina and to a lesser extent, Europe, the Middle East and Asia. To minimize the adverse impact of currency movements, we enter into foreign exchange swaps and option contracts to hedge currency exposures.

When determining our exposure, we exclude intercompany loans that are deemed to be permanently invested. The repayments of permanently invested intercompany loans are not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future and therefore are treated as analogous to equity. As a result, the foreign exchange gains and losses on these borrowings are excluded from the determination of net income and recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The balance

of permanently invested intercompany borrowings was \$681 million as of March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. Included in other comprehensive income (loss) are exchange losses of \$3 million in the three months ended March 31, 2004 and exchange gains of \$118 million in the year ended December 31, 2003, related to permanently invested intercompany loans.

For risk management purposes and to determine the overall level of hedging required, we further reduce the foreign exchange exposure determined above by the value of our agricultural commodities inventories. Our agricultural commodities inventories, because of their international pricing in U.S. dollars, provide a natural hedge to our currency exposure.

Our net currency position, including cross-currency swaps and currency options, and our market risk, which is the potential loss from an adverse 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates, is set forth in the following table. In addition, we have provided an analysis of our foreign currency exposure after reducing the exposure for our agricultural commodities inventory. Actual results may differ from the information set forth below.

		March 31, 2004	As of December 31, 2003			
	(US\$ in millions)					
Brazilian Operations:						
Net currency short position, from financial instruments, including derivatives	\$	(1,216)	\$	(1,080)		
Market risk		(122)		(108)		
Agricultural commodities inventories		1,215		1,063		
Net currency long position, less agricultural commodities inventories		(1)		(17)		
Market risk	\$		\$	(2)		
Argentine Operations:						
Net currency short position, from financial instruments, including derivatives	\$	(5)	\$	(32)		
Market risk				(3)		
Agricultural commodities inventories		46		71		
Net currency long position, less agricultural commodities inventories		41		39		
Market risk	\$	4	\$	4		
43						

## MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion along with our consolidated financial statements and the notes to our consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference in this prospectus. Additionally, you should read the following discussion along with "First Quarter Operating Results" and our unaudited interim consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2004 included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including those discussed under "Risk Factors" and described elsewhere in this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus. Our actual results, performance and achievements may differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by, these forward-looking statements. See "Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements."

We are an integrated, global agribusiness and food company operating in the farm-to-consumer food chain, with operations ranging from sales of raw materials such as grains and fertilizers to retail food products such as margarine and mayonnaise. We have primary operations in North America, South America and Europe and worldwide distribution capabilities. In 2003, we had total net sales of \$22,165 million and total segment operating profit of \$618 million.

We conduct our operations in three divisions: agribusiness, fertilizer and food products, which divisions include four reporting segments agribusiness, fertilizer, edible oil products and milling products. Our agribusiness division is an integrated business involved in the purchase, sale and processing of grains and oilseeds. Our agribusiness operations and assets are primarily located in the United States, Brazil, Argentina and Europe, and we have international marketing offices throughout the world. Our fertilizer division is involved in every stage of the fertilizer business, from mining of raw materials to the sale of fertilizer products. The activities of our fertilizer division are primarily located in Brazil and Argentina. Our food products division consists of two business lines: edible oil products and milling products. These businesses produce and sell food products such as edible oils, shortenings, margarine, mayonnaise and milled products such as wheat flours and corn products. The activities of our food products division are primarily located in North America, Europe, Brazil and India.

#### **Factors Affecting Operating Results**

Our results of operations are affected by the following key factors in each of our business divisions:

### Agribusiness

In the agribusiness division, we purchase, store, process, transport, sell and finance agricultural commodities, principally soy commodity products. In this division, profitability is principally affected by the relative prices of soy commodity products, which are largely determined by capacity utilization. Profitability is also affected by energy costs, as we use a substantial amount of energy in the operation of our facilities, and by the availability and cost of transportation and logistic services, including truck, barge and rail services. Relative prices, in turn, are also affected by the perceived and actual supply of, and demand for, soy commodity products. Availability is affected by weather conditions, governmental trade policies and growing patterns, including substitution by farmers of other agricultural commodities for soybeans. Demand is affected by growth in worldwide consumption of food products and the price of substitute agricultural products. Global soybean meal consumption grew by approximately 5% per year on average over the last 15 years. We expect that population growth and rising standards of living will continue to have a positive impact on global demand for our agribusiness products.

From time to time, there may be imbalances between industry-wide levels of oilseed processing capacity and demand for soy commodity products. Relative prices for soy commodity products are

affected by these imbalances, which, in turn, affect our decisions regarding whether and when to purchase, store, process, transport or sell these commodities, including whether to reduce our own oilseed processing capacity. For instance, in March and April 2004, we temporarily idled production at three of our U.S. soybean processing facilities due to increased U.S. exports of soybean meal and a smaller than anticipated 2003 U.S. soybean crop due to adverse weather conditions.

#### Fertilizer

In the fertilizer division, demand for our products is affected by the profitability of the Brazilian agricultural sector, agricultural commodity prices, the types of crops planted, the number of acres planted and weather-related issues affecting the success of the harvest. For the past ten years the Brazilian fertilizer industry has grown on average at a rate of over 8% per year. The continued growth of the Brazilian agricultural sector has had, and we expect will continue to have, a positive impact on demand for our fertilizer products. In addition, our selling prices are influenced by international selling prices for imported fertilizers and raw materials, such as phosphate, ammonia and urea, as our products are priced to import parity.

#### Food Products

In the food products division, which consists of our edible oil products and milling products segments, our operations are affected by competition, changes in eating habits and changes in general economic conditions in Europe, North America and Brazil, the principal markets for our food products division. Competition in this industry has intensified in the past several years due to consolidation in the supermarket industry and attempts by our competitors to increase market share. Profitability in this division is also affected by the mix of products that we sell.

#### Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements. Our reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. However, the functional currency of the majority of our foreign subsidiaries is their local currency. We translate the amounts included in the consolidated statements of income of our foreign subsidiaries into U.S. dollars on a monthly basis at weighted average exchange rates, which we believe approximate the actual exchange rates on the dates of the transactions. Our foreign subsidiaries' assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars from local currency at year-end exchange rates, and we record the resulting foreign exchange translation adjustments in our consolidated balance sheets as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Included in other comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2003 were foreign exchange net translation gains of \$489 million representing the net gains from the translation of our foreign subsidiaries' assets and liabilities. Included in other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 were foreign exchange net translation losses of \$403 million and \$222 million, respectively, representing the net loss from the translation of our foreign subsidiaries' assets and liabilities.

Foreign Currency Transactions. Certain of our foreign subsidiaries, most significantly in Brazil and Argentina, have monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in U.S. dollars. These U.S. dollar monetary items are remeasured into their respective functional currencies at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. The resulting gains or losses are included in our consolidated statements of income as foreign exchange gains or losses.

Due to the global nature of our operations, our operating results are vulnerable to foreign exchange rate changes. However, our agricultural commodities inventories, because of their international pricing in U.S. dollars, provide a natural hedge to our exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. Historically, our fertilizer and food product divisions also have been able to link sales

prices to those of U.S. dollar-linked imported raw material costs, thereby minimizing the effect of exchange rate fluctuations in those segments.

Argentina and Brazil. The volatility of the Argentine peso and Brazilian real has affected our 2003 and 2002 financial performance. Devaluations of these currencies against the U.S. dollar generally have a positive effect on our results when local currency costs are translated to U.S. dollars at weaker real or peso to dollar exchange rates. In addition, commodity inventories in our agribusiness segment are stated at market value, which is generally linked to U.S. dollar-based international prices. As a result, devaluations cause gains based on the changes in the local currency value of the agribusiness inventories. Conversely, devaluations generate offsetting net foreign exchange losses on the net U.S. dollar monetary position of our Brazilian and Argentine subsidiaries, which are reflected in foreign exchange losses in our consolidated statements of income. Our effective tax rate is also favorably affected by the devaluation of the Brazilian real as we recognize tax benefits related to foreign exchange losses on certain long-term intercompany loans.

Appreciations generally have a corresponding negative effect on our results when local currency costs are translated to U.S. dollars at stronger *real* or *peso* to U.S. dollar exchange rates and losses are generated based on changes in the local currency value of our agribusiness segment commodity inventories. Conversely, the appreciation generates offsetting net foreign exchange gains on the net U.S. dollar monetary position of our Brazilian and Argentine subsidiaries, which are reflected in foreign exchange gains in our consolidated statements of income. Our effective tax rate is unfavorably affected by the appreciation of the Brazilian *real* as we incur income taxes related to foreign exchange gains on certain intercompany loans.

The *real* and *peso* appreciated 22% and 15%, respectively, against the U.S. dollar in the year ended December 31, 2003, compared to a devaluation of 34% and 51%, respectively, in the same period in 2002. Our 2003 results included exchange gains of \$75 million and net exchange losses of \$186 million in 2002 relating to our Brazilian and Argentine subsidiaries, which were substantially offset by changes in the local currency value of our agribusiness commodity inventories.

We use long-term intercompany loans to reduce our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations in Brazil, particularly their effects on our results of operations. These loans do not require cash payment of principal and are treated as analogous to equity for accounting purposes. As a result, the foreign exchange gains or losses on these intercompany loans are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) in contrast to foreign exchange gains or losses on third-party debt and short-term intercompany debt, which are recorded in foreign exchange gains (losses) in our consolidated statements of income.

*European Operations.* We operate in the EU and several countries that are not members of the EU. Our risk management policy is to fully hedge our monetary exposures in those countries to minimize the financial effects of fluctuations in the *euro* and other European currencies.

#### Principal Capital Expenditures, Acquisitions and Divestitures

#### Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were \$304 million in 2003, \$240 million in 2002 and \$226 million in 2001. In 2003, major projects included expansion of our edible oil products facilities in Europe, the construction of a new margarine plant and an oilseed processing plant in Brazil, logistics investments, primarily in Brazil, expansion of our grain origination facilities in Brazil and expansion of our fertilizer mixing capacity. In addition, we expanded our Indian operations through the buyout of a joint venture partner in India and the purchase of a small crushing and refining facility. In 2002, we completed the upgrades to several of our oilseed processing and corn dry milling facilities in Brazil and the United States and the modernization of an acidulation plant for fertilizers in Brazil. In 2001, we completed a number of revenue enhancing projects which we began in 2000, including constructing a sulfuric acid plant in Brazil for our fertilizer segment, as well as the completion of additional agricultural

commodities storage facilities in North America and Brazil and the upgrade of our Destrehan, Louisiana export elevator. Also in 2001, we completed the expansion of our oilseed processing plant in Rondonopolis, Brazil, which is the largest oilseed processing plant in Brazil.

Although we have no specific material commitments for capital expenditures, we intend to invest approximately \$350 million to \$400 million in 2004. The majority will be used to improve oilseed processing logistics and operating efficiencies in Europe, expand and upgrade our mining and port facilities in Brazil, expand or acquire grain origination facilities in the United States and Europe, modernize certain of our edible oil refineries in the United States and Europe and pursue strategic equity investments. We intend to fund these capital expenditures with cash flows from operations and available borrowings.

#### Acquisitions, Dispositions and Alliances

Acquisition of Cereol. In 2002, we acquired 97.38% of the shares of Cereol S.A. and in April 2003, we acquired the remaining 2.62% of the shares of Cereol, resulting in 100% ownership of Cereol for \$810 million in cash (net of cash acquired of \$90 million). Cereol's results of operations have been included in our consolidated financial statements since October 1, 2002. We accounted for the acquisition under the purchase method.

Alliance with DuPont. In April 2003, we entered into an alliance with DuPont and together formed Solae by contributing DuPont's Protein Technologies business and our North American and European soy ingredients operations. Solae is a soy ingredients joint venture and a key component in our broader strategic alliance with DuPont. We have a 28% interest in Solae. In May, 2003, we sold our Brazilian soy ingredients operations to Solae for \$251 million in cash, net of sale-related expenses of approximately \$5 million. Based on an independent appraisal, we recognized a tax-free gain on sale of \$111 million in the second quarter of 2003 relating to this sale. We did not recognize any gain on this sale to the extent of the 28% interest retained through our ownership interest in Solae. We used the proceeds from the sale to reduce indebtedness. As a result of these transactions, our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003 reflects a long-term investment in Solae, which is accounted for under the equity method.

Saipol Joint Venture. In July 2003, we sold Lesieur, a French producer of branded bottled vegetable oils, to Saipol, an oilseed processing joint venture between Bunge and Sofiproteol. We received approximately \$240 million in cash, which included the repayment of Lesieur's intercompany debt owed to us of \$72 million, and a note receivable from Saipol of \$31 million. We own 33% of Saipol, which we account for under the equity method. We did not recognize a gain or loss on the sale. The proceeds from the sale were used to reduce outstanding indebtedness. The \$31 million note receivable is due July 2009 with interest payable annually at a rate of 5.55%.

Sale of U.S. Bakery Business. In December 2003, we sold our U.S. bakery business to Dawn Food Products, Inc. The total cash proceeds from the transaction were approximately \$82 million, including an adjustment for working capital. We recognized a gain on the sale of \$2 million net of tax in the fourth quarter of 2003 that is included in discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income. We used the net proceeds from the sale to reduce outstanding indebtedness.

#### **Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates**

We believe that the application of the following accounting policies, which are important to our financial position and results of operations, requires significant judgments and estimates on the part of management. For a summary of all of our accounting policies, including the accounting policies discussed below, see Note 1 of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

#### Recoverable Taxes

We evaluate the collectibility of our recoverable taxes and record valuation allowances if we determine that collection is doubtful. Recoverable taxes primarily represent value added taxes paid on the acquisition of raw materials and other services which can be recovered in cash or as compensation of outstanding balances against income taxes or certain other taxes we may owe. In 2002, we commenced recording valuation allowances against certain recoverable taxes owed to us by the Argentine government due to delayed payment and uncertainty regarding the local economic environment. Management's assumption about the collectibility of recoverable taxes requires significant judgment because it involves an assessment of the ability and willingness of the Argentine government to refund the taxes. The balance of these allowances fluctuates depending on the sales activity of existing inventories, purchases of new inventories, seasonality, changes in applicable tax rates, cash payment by the Argentine government and compensation of outstanding balances against income or certain other taxes owed to the Argentine government. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, our allowances for recoverable taxes were \$25 million and \$64 million, respectively. The balance declined from December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2003, as a result of either cash received by us or compensation against taxes owed by us to the Argentine government.

#### Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of costs of businesses acquired over the fair market value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets* (SFAS No. 142), requires that goodwill be tested for impairment annually. In assessing the recovery of goodwill, projections regarding estimated discounted future cash flows and other factors are used to determine the fair value of the reporting units and the respective assets. These projections are based on historical data, anticipated market conditions and management plans. If these estimates or related projections change in the future, we may be required to record additional impairment charges. In the fourth quarter of 2003, we performed our annual impairment test and an impairment charge of \$16 million was recorded on goodwill relating to our Austrian oilseed processing operations. The write-down resulted from deterioration in the operating environment due to increases in raw material and freight costs and increased competitive pressure. No other impairment charges resulted from the required impairment evaluations on the rest of our reporting units.

#### Intangible Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment and identifiable intangible assets. When facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying values of long-lived assets may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability is performed by comparing the carrying value of the assets to the projected future cash flows to be generated by such assets. If it appears that the carrying value of our assets is not recoverable, we recognize an impairment loss as a charge against results of operations. Our judgments related to the expected useful lives of long-lived assets and our ability to realize undiscounted cash flows in excess of the carrying amount of such assets are affected by factors such as the ongoing maintenance of the assets, changes in economic conditions and changes in operating performance. As we assess the ongoing expected cash flows and carrying amounts of our long-lived assets, changes in these factors could cause us to realize material impairment charges.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, we recorded a pre-tax impairment charge in our agribusiness segment of \$40 million relating to fixed assets of our European oilseed processing facilities. These facilities are older, less efficient crushing facilities, and are largely dependent on soybeans imported from North and South America for production. The European oilseed operations experienced operating losses during 2003. During the fourth quarter, we updated our operating forecast to include the effects of certain events occurring in the fourth quarter, including the shortfall in North American soy crop, increased export tariffs for Brazilian soy exports and increased freight rates. Furthermore, we

determined that maintenance capital expenditures for the facilities would be substantially higher than previously forecasted. As a result of these factors, we tested the assets for impairment based on an undiscounted cash flow model and determined that these cash flows would not recover the carrying value of the assets. The impairment was measured based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeded the discounted cash flows.

#### **Contingencies**

We are a party to a large number of claims and lawsuits, primarily tax and labor claims in Brazil, arising in the normal course of business, and have accrued our estimate of the probable costs to resolve these claims. This estimate has been developed in consultation with in-house and outside counsel and is based on an analysis of potential results, assuming a combination of litigation and settlement strategies. Future results of operations for any particular quarterly or annual period could be materially affected by changes in our assumptions or the effectiveness of our strategies relating to these proceedings.

#### Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor various pension and postretirement benefit plans. In connection with the plans, we make various assumptions in the determination of projected benefit obligations and expense recognition related to pension and postretirement obligations. Key assumptions include discount rates, rates of return on plan assets, asset allocations and rates of future compensation increases. Management develops its assumptions based on its experience and by reference to market-related data. All assumptions are reviewed periodically and adjusted as necessary.

In 2003, we lowered the weighted average discount rate assumption used to calculate projected benefit obligations under the plans from 6.8% at December 31, 2002 to 6.0% at December 31, 2003, largely based on decreases in U.S. Aa-rated corporate bond rates with similar maturities. U.S.-based plans represent approximately 85% of total projected benefit obligations. The weighted average rate of return assumption on assets of funded plans was also reduced from 9.0% at December 31, 2002 to 8.4% at December 31, 2003 and is based on average assumed asset allocations of 60% equity securities and 40% government and corporate debt securities.

In 2003, the combination of a decline in assets and a decline in the discount rate caused us to record a minimum pension liability, which reduced shareholders' equity by \$10 million, net of tax. Future recognition of additional minimum pension liabilities will depend primarily on the actual return on assets and the discount rate.

A one percentage point decrease in the assumed discount rate on our defined benefit pension plans would increase annual expense and the projected benefit obligation by \$3 million and \$32 million, respectively. A one percentage point increase or decrease in the long-term return assumptions on our defined benefit pension plan assets would increase or decrease annual pension expense by \$2 million.

#### Income Taxes

We record valuation allowances to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that we are likely to realize. We consider future taxable income and prudent tax planning strategies to assess the need for and the size of the valuation allowances. If we determine that we can realize a deferred tax asset in excess of our net recorded amount, we decrease the valuation allowance, thereby increasing net income. Conversely, if we determine that we are unable to realize all or part of our net deferred tax asset, we increase the valuation allowance, thereby decreasing net income.

Prior to recording a valuation allowance, our deferred tax assets were \$696 million at December 31, 2003. However, we have valuation allowances of \$91 million, principally representing the uncertainty regarding the recoverability of certain net operating loss carryforwards.

#### **Results of Operations**

### Statements of Income and Segment Presentation Changes

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we have made the following changes in the presentation of our consolidated statements of income and segment information:

interest income on advances to suppliers, which primarily include farmers, that was previously recorded as interest income and included in our consolidated statements of income, has been reclassified as a component of gross profit to reflect the operational nature of this income;

interest income, interest expense, foreign exchange gains and losses and other income and expense, which were previously disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, are now individually disclosed on the face of the statements of income; and

the presentation of segment information has been changed to include the financial costs of carrying operating working capital, including foreign exchange gains and losses, interest expense on debt financing working capital and interest income earned on working capital items, which is consistent with how management views the results for operational purposes.

Prior year amounts have been reclassified to reflect these changes.

#### Reclassifications

In 2003, we changed the name of our "wheat milling and bakery products" segment to "milling products" in connection with the sale of our U.S. bakery business and reclassification of our corn milling products business line from the "other" segment to the "milling products" segment. As a result, our "other" segment now reflects only the historical results of our soy ingredients business line, which we sold to Solae in May 2003. Therefore, we now have four reporting segments: agribusiness, fertilizer, edible oil products and milling products. The operating results of our U.S. bakery business that we sold in 2003 have been reported as discontinued operations. The amounts presented herein have been changed to reflect all of these reclassifications.

Certain agribusiness activities of our Canadian operations that were previously included in our edible oil products segment in 2002 were retroactively reclassified to the agribusiness segment to conform to the 2003 presentation.

#### 2003 Overview

Fiscal year 2003 was the first full year of combined operations with Cereol, which we acquired in October 2002. We increased sales volumes and net sales primarily due to the Cereol acquisition and through organic growth.

Our agribusiness division results through the third quarter of 2003 lagged behind the prior year because of weaknesses in North American and Western European oilseed processing margins and a return to more normalized margins in South America. In the United States, a poor harvest in 2002/2003 was followed by a 12% smaller harvest in 2003/2004, the smallest in seven years. These reduced harvests put pressure on our North American and Western European agribusiness segment soybean processing operations. To address imbalances in U.S. supply and demand, we temporarily idled two of our U.S. oilseed processing facilities in the first half of 2003. In addition, we recorded \$56 million of pretax impairment charges on our long-lived assets in Europe.

As a result of changing harvest expectations and heightened concerns regarding "mad cow" infected livestock in the United States, the commodity markets during the third and fourth quarters of 2003 were also very volatile. Chicago Board of Trade (CBOT) soybean product prices were near seven-year highs, which caused a wave of farmer selling in North and South America late in the third and during the fourth quarters. In the fourth quarter, customer demand was very strong, and margins

improved. In addition, our efficient global logistics system and competitive freight pricing helped offset record increases in freight rates in 2003. As a result, our fourth quarter agribusiness results significantly offset the weaker results experienced in the first three quarters of 2003.

Our fertilizer business was strong throughout the year, driven by higher international prices for imported raw materials, increases in planted acreage and well-capitalized farmers in South America.

Our edible oils business benefited from the acquisition of Cereol and from efficiency programs in Brazil and North America.

The geographic diversity of our operations mitigates risk to our business by lowering our exposure to any one market, region or product. Our 2003 results illustrate this diversification. Our 2003 net sales to external customers by geographic area were 33% in North America, 19% in South America, 32% in Europe and 16% in Asia.

### Segment Results

A summary of certain items in our consolidated statements of income and volumes by reportable segment for the periods indicated is set forth below.

		Year Ended December 31,			_	Year Ended December 31,	
		2003		2002	Change	2001	Change
			(US	in millions,	except volumes a	and percentages)	
Volumes (in thousands of metric tons):							
Agribusiness		88,395		69,606	27%	57,503	21%
Fertilizer		11,538		10,708	8%	8,955	20%
Edible oil products		3,447		1,946	77%	1,610	21%
Milling products		3,468		3,303	5%	3,293	
Other (soy ingredients)		140		226	(38)%	109	107%
Total		106,988		85,789	25%	71,470	20%
	_				_		
Net sales:							
Agribusiness	\$	17,345	\$	10,483	65% \$	8,412	25%
Fertilizer		1,954		1,384	41%	1,316	5%
Edible oil products		2,063		1,279	61%	872	47%
Milling products		751		628	20%	621	1%
Other (soy ingredients)		52		108	(52)%	81	33%
Total	\$	22,165	\$	13,882	60% \$	11,302	23%
					_		
Cost of goods sold:							
Agribusiness	\$	(16,758)	\$	(9,700)	73% \$	(7,902)	23%
Fertilizer		(1,581)		(1,091)	45%	(1,036)	5%
Edible oil products		(1,817)		(1,128)	61%	(787)	43%
Milling products		(670)		(551)	22%	(553)	
Other (soy ingredients)		(34)		(74)	(54)%	(53)	40%
Total	\$	(20,860)	\$	(12,544)	66% \$	(10,331)	21%

Gross profit:							
Agribusiness	\$	587	\$	783	(25)%\$	510	54%
Fertilizer		373		293	27%	280	5%
Edible oil products		246		151	63%	85	78%
Milling products		81		77	5%	68	13%
Other (soy ingredients)		18		34	(47)%	28	21%
Total	\$	1,305	\$	1,338	(2)%\$	971	38%
Selling, general and administrative expenses:	ф	(2.40)	ф	(204)	220/ 4	(100)	500
Agribusiness	\$	(348)	Э	(284)	23% \$	(189)	50%
Fertilizer Edible oil products		(129) (164)		(100)	29% 22%	(95) (77)	5% 74%
Edible oil products Milling products				(134) (51)			
Other (soy ingredients)		(43)			(16)%	(54) (8)	(6)% 25%
Other (soy ingredients)		(7)		(10)	(30)%	(8)	23%
Total	\$	(691)	\$	(579)	19% \$	(423)	37%
Foreign exchange gain (loss):							
Agribusiness	\$	89	\$	(171)	(152)%\$	(77)	122%
Fertilizer		(20)		9	(322)%	(21)	(143)%
Edible oil products				3	(100)%	(6)	(150)%
Milling products						(1)	(100)%
Other (soy ingredients)		(1)		3	(133)%	(1)	(400)%
Total	\$	68	\$	(156)	(144)%\$	(106)	(47)%
Interest income:							
Agribusiness	\$	32	\$	22	45% \$	37	(41)%
Fertilizer		53		36	47%	32	13%
Edible oil products		6		1	500%	2	(50)%
Milling products				2	(100)%	5	(60)%
Other (soy ingredients)							
Total	\$	91	\$	61	49% \$	76	(20)%
	Ψ	, ·	Ψ	<b>01</b>	.570 \$	, 0	(20)70
Interest expense:							
Agribusiness	\$	(86)	\$	(67)	28% \$	(126)	(47)%
Fertilizer		(35)		(46)	(24)%	(59)	(22)%
Edible oil products		(24)		(15)	60%	(8)	88%
Milling products		(8)		(10)	(20)%	(11)	(9)%
Other (soy ingredients)		(2)		(5)	(60)%	(3)	67%
Total	\$	(155)	\$	(143)	8% \$	(207)	(31)%
G							
Segment operating profit:	ø	27/	¢	202	(2)07 6	155	9207
Agribusiness	\$	274	\$	283	(3)%\$	155	83%
Fertilizer  Edible oil products		242 64		192	26% 967%	137	40%
Edible oil products Milling products				6		(4)	250%
Milling products Other (soy ingredients)		30		18 22	67%	7 16	157% 38%
Onici (soy ingredicitis)		δ		LL	(64)%	10	38%
Total(1)	\$	618	\$	521	19% \$	311	68%
10tal(1)	Ψ	010	Ψ	321	1770 ψ	311	00

Edgar Filing: BUNGE LTD - Form F-3/A

Depreciation, depletion and amortization:						
Agribusiness	\$ 91	\$	75	21% \$	62	21%
Fertilizer	57		56	2%	60	(7)%
Edible oil products	23		18	28%	19	(5)%
Milling products	13		9	44%	17	(47)%
Other (soy ingredients)			10	(100)%	5	100%
		_				
Total	\$ 184	\$	168	10% \$	163	3%
		_				
Net Income	\$ 411	\$	255	61% \$	134	90%

Total segment operating profit is our consolidated income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest that includes an allocated portion of the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to debt financing operating working capital, including readily marketable inventories. Also included in total segment operating profit is interest income and interest expense attributable to the financing of operating working capital. Total segment operating profit is a non-GAAP measure and is not intended to replace income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest, the most directly comparable GAAP measure. Total segment operating profit is a key performance measurement used by our management to evaluate whether our operating activities cover the financing costs of our business. We believe total segment operating profit is a more complete measure of our operating profitability, since it allocates foreign exchange gains and losses and the cost of debt financing working capital to the appropriate operating segments. Additionally, we believe total segment operating profit assists investors by allowing them to evaluate changes in the operating results of our portfolio of businesses before non-operating factors that affect net income. Total segment operating profit is not a measure of consolidated operating results under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest or any other measure of consolidated operating results under GAAP.

Below is a reconciliation of income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest to total segment profit:

		Year l Decem				Year Ended December 31,		
	2	2003	2002		Change	2001	Change	
				(US\$ in	millions, exce			
Total segment operating profit	\$	618	\$	521	19%\$	311	68%	
Gain on sale of soy ingredients business		111						
Unallocated expenses net(1)		(6)		(40)		(47)		
	_		_		_			
Income from continuing operations before								
income tax and minority interest	\$	723	\$	481	50%\$	264	82%	
			_		-			

(1)

Unallocated expenses net includes interest income, interest expense, foreign exchange gains and losses and other income and expense not directly attributable to our operating segments.

2003 Compared to 2002

Agribusiness Segment. Agribusiness segment net sales increased 65% due to a 27% increase in volumes and higher average selling prices for soy commodity products. Volumes increased 10% due to

organic growth and 17% due to the acquisition of Cereol. Soy commodity product prices increased sharply during the third and fourth quarters driven by the reduced U.S. soybean crop. Heightened concerns relating to mad cow disease late in the fourth quarter also contributed to price increases.

Cost of goods sold increased 73% in 2003 from last year due to the increased volumes, increased raw material costs due to the tight 2002/2003 United States old crop carryover, higher energy costs due to increases in gas prices and the October 2002 acquisition of Cereol. Cost of goods sold in 2003 reflected commodity inventory mark-to-market losses in our Brazilian and Argentine subsidiaries that resulted from the appreciation of the *real* and *peso* of 22% and 15%, respectively, versus a devaluation of 34% and 51%, respectively, in 2002 which resulted in mark-to-market gains. Included in cost of goods sold in 2003 were \$56 million of non-cash impairment charges on long-lived assets in our European oilseed processing operations, a \$39 million decline in our allowances for recoverable taxes as a result of either cash received by us or compensation against taxes owed by us to the Argentine government and a curtailment gain of \$15 million relating to the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees. Cost of goods sold in 2002 included a \$44 million charge relating to reserves for recoverable taxes from the Argentine government.

Gross profit decreased 25% due to the increase in cost of goods sold. Agribusiness gross profit through the third quarter of 2003 lagged behind the prior year primarily because of weaknesses in North American and European oilseed processing margins and a return to more normal margins in South America. These results were offset in part by improved margins in the fourth quarter of 2003 relating to increased farmer selling and customer purchases and effective risk management strategies, including ocean freight results. The decline in gross profit was more than offset by changes in the foreign exchange results from a loss of \$171 million in 2002 to a gain of \$89 million in 2003 on the net monetary U.S. dollar liability positions of our Brazilian and Argentine subsidiaries.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A) increased 23% primarily due to our acquisition of Cereol and higher costs associated with the increase in sales volumes. Also included in SG&A in 2003 was a non-cash curtailment gain of \$5 million, relating to the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefit liabilities for employees transferred to Solae and the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefit of certain U.S. employees.

Segment operating profit declined 3% primarily due to the decrease in gross profit and increase in SG&A partially offset by foreign exchange gains.

Fertilizer Segment. Fertilizer segment net sales increased 41% due to higher average selling prices and an 8% increase in volumes. Selling prices benefited from higher international selling prices for imported fertilizers and raw materials, such as phosphate, ammonia and urea, which helped boost local prices as products are priced to import parity. International selling prices of phosphate, ammonia and urea increased 23%, 47% and 58%, respectively, during 2003. Our sales of retail fertilizer products were robust, as South American farmers increased their plantings of soybeans in reaction to higher soybean prices. Our nutrient sales volumes increased 20% due to the increased demand for fertilizer raw materials.

Cost of goods sold increased 45% due to higher sales volumes and imported raw material costs. However, the higher costs of imported raw materials were mitigated by our subsidiary, Fosfertil's, lower raw material costs since Fosfertil produces urea from raw materials not linked to international natural gas prices. Gross profit increased 27% as a result of higher fertilizer selling prices and volumes offset partially by increases in imported raw material costs and the sale of lower margin products.

SG&A increased 29% due to certain labor contingencies, increases in information technology and institutional advertising expenses, appreciation in the value of the Brazilian *real* and increases in transactional taxes.

Segment operating profit increased 26% primarily due to the increase in gross profit. 2002 included an extra month of segment operating profit of \$5 million from Fosfertil, which had been reporting its results one month in arrears.

*Edible Oil Products Segment.* Edible oil products segment net sales increased 61% primarily due to a 77% increase in volumes as a result of the Cereol acquisition and 4% organic growth in our South American operations.

Cost of goods sold increased 61% in 2003 from 2002 primarily due to the Cereol acquisition and higher raw material costs, principally crude soybean oil. Included in cost of goods sold in 2003 was a non-cash curtailment gain of \$1 million relating to the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees. Included in 2002 was a \$5 million non-cash impairment charge on U.S. long-lived operating assets attributable to the planned disposal of a bottling facility. Gross profit increased 63% primarily due to the Cereol acquisition and a recovery of margins in our North and South American operations, principally in margarines and mayonnaise attributable to new branding and packaging strategies as well as portfolio rationalization measures.

SG&A increased 22% due to the Cereol acquisition, partially offset by our cost reduction efforts in our South American operations. In addition, in 2003, SG&A included a non-cash curtailment gain of \$1 million, relating to the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees.

Segment operating profit increased 967% primarily due to the Cereol acquisition and efficiency/cost reduction programs in North America and Brazil.

*Milling Products Segment.* Milling products segment net sales increased 20% due to higher average selling prices for wheat and corn milling products and a 5% increase in volumes. The increase in average selling prices was primarily due to higher raw material costs.

Cost of goods sold increased 22% due to higher wheat costs. Included in cost of goods sold in 2003 was a non-cash curtailment gain of \$1 million, relating to the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees. Gross profit increased 5% as a result of the higher average selling prices and volumes.

SG&A decreased 16% due to cost savings programs. In addition, in 2003, SG&A included a non-cash curtailment gain of \$1 million relating to the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees.

Segment operating profit increased 67% as a result of the improvement in gross profit, lower SG&A and the October 2003 acquisition of a corn mill in the United States.

Other Segment (Soy Ingredients). Our North American and European soy ingredients operations were contributed to Solae, our joint venture with DuPont, in April 2003 and our Brazilian soy ingredients operations were sold to Solae in May 2003. Therefore, historical results are presented herein for comparative purposes.

Financial Costs. A summary of consolidated financial costs for the periods indicated follows.

		Year Ended December 31,				
	2	2003		2002	Change	
				n millions, percentage		
Interest income	\$	102	\$	71	44%	
Interest expense	\$	(215)	\$	(176)	22%	
Foreign exchange gain (loss)	\$	92	\$	(179)	(151)%	

Interest income increased 44% due to interest income on higher invested cash in Brazil where interest rates are higher. 2002 also included \$6 million of interest income resulting from the completion of a tax examination relating to tax benefits associated with U.S. export sales. Interest expense increased 22% primarily due to higher average debt levels resulting from debt incurred to acquire Cereol and our assumption of Cereol's debt, partially offset by a reduction in interest expense due to more efficient use of working capital. Also, in the latter half of 2002 and in May 2003 and December 2003, we issued long-term debt at relatively higher interest rates to reduce our reliance on short-term debt and finance the repayment of a portion of long-term debt coming due.

Foreign exchange gains were \$92 million in 2003 compared to losses of \$179 million last year due primarily to the 22% appreciation in the value of the Brazilian *real* in 2003 against the U.S. dollar. In contrast, in 2002 the value of the Brazilian *real* declined by 34% resulting in foreign exchange losses.

*Other*. Other income and expense increased \$13 million to \$19 million in 2003 from \$6 million of income in 2002 primarily due to higher earnings from our joint ventures in Argentina and the Saipol joint venture acquired in the acquisition of Cereol.

Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense increased \$97 million to \$201 million in 2003 from \$104 million in 2002 primarily due to the increase in pretax income. Our effective tax rate for 2003 increased to 28% compared to 22% in 2002. Excluding the tax-free gain on sale of Bunge's Brazilian soy ingredients business to Solae, the 2003 effective tax rate was 33%. Our effective tax rate is affected by the geographic locations in which we do business, movements in foreign exchange rates and U.S. tax incentives on export sales. The primary causes of the increased effective tax rate in 2003 were the effect of a stronger Brazilian *real*, and increased net tax expense of \$23 million due to new tax laws in South America and reduced tax benefits on U.S. export sales. In 2002, our income tax expense was reduced by a \$20 million tax credit relating to the refund of prior years' tax benefits on U.S. export sales.

*Net Income.* Net income increased \$156 million to \$411 million in 2003 from \$255 million in 2002. Net income for 2003 includes the \$111 million gain on sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients business to Solae. Net income for 2003 also included an after tax gain of \$16 million relating to the curtailment of certain pension and postretirement healthcare benefit plans and \$40 million of after-tax impairment charges on long-lived assets in Europe.

In 2003, discontinued operations included a loss of \$7 million, which included an environmental expense of \$3 million, net of tax, related to discontinued operations we sold in 1995 and a \$2 million, net of tax gain, on the U.S. bakery business sold in December 2003. In 2002, discontinued operations included income of \$3 million related to the 2003 bakery sale.

Net income in 2002 included \$5 million of after-tax impairment charges on long-lived assets and charges recorded as cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles of \$14 million, net of tax, representing the write-off of goodwill in the milling products segment as a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*, and \$9 million, net of tax, related to the adoption of SFAS No. 143, *Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations*.

#### 2002 Compared to 2001

Agribusiness Segment. Agribusiness segment net sales increased 25% due to a 21% increase in volumes. Volumes increased due to a large South American crop, increased demand for soy commodity products and our acquisitions of Cereol and La Plata Cereal.

Cost of goods sold increased 23% primarily due to increased volumes, partially offset by the effects of the devaluation of the Brazilian *real* and Argentine *peso*. Cost of goods sold in 2002 and 2001 reflected commodity inventory mark-to-market gains in our Brazilian and Argentine subsidiaries that resulted from the devaluation of the *real* and *peso* of 34% and 51%, respectively, in 2002, and 16% and 39%, respectively, in 2001. Gross profit increased 54% primarily due to higher volumes, the devaluation of the Brazilian *real* and Argentine *peso*, favorable pricing and a large, quality crop in South America. The increase was offset in part by the increase in cost of goods sold and a \$44 million non-cash charge relating to the collectibility of recoverable taxes from the Argentine government. The increase in gross profit was partially offset by a \$94 million increase in foreign exchange losses.

SG&A increased 50% primarily due to the expansion of our business and the acquisitions of Cereol and La Plata Cereal. Interest expense declined 47% due to lower average interest rates and

more efficient use of working capital. Segment operating profit increased 83% due to the improvement in gross profit and the acquisition of Cereol.

Fertilizer Segment. Fertilizer segment net sales increased 5% primarily due to a 20% increase in sales volumes, partially offset by lower average selling prices. The increase in volumes was a result of increases in acreage planted, a large second crop in Brazil that increased demand for raw materials, a strong export market for Brazilian meat products that increased demand for animal nutrients and an extra month of results from Fosfertil, which had been reporting its results one month in arrears. The decline in average selling prices was due to high inventory levels and a competitive price environment due to low prices of imported raw materials.

Cost of goods sold increased 5% primarily due to increased volumes, partially offset by the Brazilian *real* devaluation. Gross profit increased 5% as a result of the higher sales volumes and \$9 million of gross profit, attributable to an extra month of results from Fosfertil, partially offset by the increase in cost of goods sold and lower average selling prices.

SG&A increased 5% primarily due to the increase in sales volumes and the extra month of results from Fosfertil. SG&A in 2001 included an \$8 million non-recurring credit relating to Brazilian health and welfare taxes.

Segment operating profit increased 40% primarily due to the improvements in gross profit and lower overall financial costs. 2002 also included an extra month of segment operating profit of \$5 million from Fosfertil.

*Edible Oil Products Segment.* Edible oil products segment net sales increased 47% primarily due to the acquisition of Cereol and organic growth. Cost of goods sold increased 43% primarily due to increased volumes resulting from our acquisition of Cereol and higher raw material costs, principally crude soybean oil.

Gross profit increased 78% primarily due to our acquisition of Cereol.

SG&A increased 74% due to our acquisition of Cereol, partially offset by our cost reduction efforts and the impact of the *real* devaluation on *real*-denominated costs.

Segment operating profit increased 250% primarily due to our acquisition of Cereol and organic growth.

Milling Products Segment. Milling products segment net sales increased 1% due to higher average selling prices. The increase in average selling prices was largely due to a supply shortage in wheat milling products in Brazil as competitors in financial difficulty lowered production, as well as a change in the product mix to higher priced products.

Cost of goods sold was relatively flat. Gross profit increased 13% primarily due to higher average selling prices.

SG&A decreased 6% in 2002 due to the effects of the *real* devaluation.

Segment operating profit increased 157% due to the increase in gross profit and lower SG&A expenses.

Other Segment (Soy Ingredients). Our North American and European soy ingredients operations were contributed to Solae, our joint venture with DuPont, in April 2003 and our Brazilian soy ingredients operations were sold to Solae in May 2003. Therefore, historical results are presented herein for comparative purposes.

Financial Costs. A summary of consolidated financial costs for the periods indicated follows.

	Year Ended December 31,			
	 2002	2	2001	Change
			millions,	
Interest income	\$ 71	\$	91	(22)%
Interest expense	\$ (176)	\$	(223)	(21)%
Foreign exchange loss	\$ (179)	\$	(148)	21%

Interest income decreased 22% due to lower average interest rates in Brazil. Interest expense decreased 21% because of lower interest rates and more efficient use of working capital, partially offset by an increase in interest expense due to higher debt levels resulting from debt incurred to acquire Cereol and our assumption of Cereol's debt.

Foreign exchange losses increased 21% primarily due to the larger devaluations of the Brazilian *real* and the Argentine *peso* against the U.S. dollar in 2002 versus 2001.

*Income Tax Expense.* Income tax expense increased \$36 million to \$104 million in 2002 from \$68 million in 2001 primarily due to the increase in pretax income. Our effective tax rate for 2002 was 22% versus 26% in 2001. Our effective tax rate decreased in 2002 from 2001 predominantly due to a \$20 million tax credit relating to the refund of prior years' U.S. foreign sales corporation benefits. Our effective tax rate was also favorably affected by the devaluation of the Brazilian *real* as we recognized Brazilian tax benefits related to foreign exchange losses.

*Minority Interest.* Minority interest expense increased \$30 million to \$102 million in 2002 from \$72 million in 2001 primarily due to increased earnings at our less than wholly owned subsidiaries and our acquisition of Cereol.

Net Income. Net income increased by \$121 million to \$255 million in 2002 from \$134 million in 2001.

As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*, and our completion of the transitional impairment test, we recorded a goodwill impairment charge in 2002 of \$14 million, net of tax, related mainly to goodwill in our bakery mixes business line of our wheat milling and bakery products segment. In addition, subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, in the fourth quarter of 2002, we recorded an additional goodwill impairment charge of \$4 million in cost of goods sold resulting from the loss of a customer in the milling products segment. As a result of the early adoption of SFAS No. 143, *Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations*, effective as of January 1, 2002, we also recorded an asset retirement obligation charge of \$9 million, net of tax, as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. Results on discontinued operations income of \$3 million in 2002 relates to the U.S. bakery business sold in December 2003.

Net income in 2001 was positively affected by a \$7 million, net of tax, cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle related to the adoption of SFAS No. 133, *Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities*. As a result of the adoption, commencing in 2001, we began recording unrealized gains and losses on previously unrecognized forward and sales contracts as a component of cost of goods sold over the term of these contracts rather than on the delivery date for the underlying commodity. In addition, we recorded a \$3 million gain on the disposal of our baked goods division in Brazil, which we sold to a third party in March 2001 for \$59 million.

### **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

Our primary financial objective is to maintain sufficient liquidity through a conservative balance sheet to provide flexibility to pursue our growth objectives. Our current ratio, defined as current assets divided by current liabilities, was 1.63 and 1.44 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Cash and Readily Marketable Inventories. Cash and cash equivalents were \$489 million at December 31, 2003 and \$470 million at December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003, we had \$78 million of restricted cash, which is included in cash and cash equivalents, and is set aside as collateral against short-term loans for our operations in Europe.

Included in our inventories were readily marketable commodity inventories of \$1,868 million at December 31, 2003 and \$1,517 million at December 31, 2002. These agricultural commodity inventories, which are financed primarily with debt, are readily convertible to cash because of their commodity characteristics, widely available markets and international pricing mechanisms. The increase in readily marketable inventories was primarily due to higher prices and large farmer selling that occurred during December 2003 due to the dramatic increase in soybean commodity prices.

Long and Short-Term Debt. We conduct most of our financing activities at the parent company level. We have a master trust facility designed to act as our central treasury and permit us and our subsidiaries to borrow long- and short-term debt on a more efficient basis. The primary assets of the master trust facility consist of intercompany loans made to Bunge Limited and its subsidiaries. Bunge Limited's wholly owned financing subsidiaries fund the master trust with long and short-term debt obtained from third parties, including our commercial paper program.

To finance working capital, we use cash flows generated from operations and short-term (usually 30-60 days maturity) borrowings, including our commercial paper program, and various long-term bank facilities and credit lines, which are sufficient to meet our business needs. At December 31, 2003, we had \$426 million outstanding under our commercial paper program, which has a maximum available borrowing capacity of \$600 million. Our commercial paper program is our least expensive available short-term funding source. We maintain back-up bank credit lines equal to the maximum capacity of our commercial paper program. If we were unable to access the commercial paper market, we would use our bank credit lines, which would be at a higher cost than our commercial paper.

At December 31, 2003, we had approximately \$380 million of committed unused and available borrowing capacity under our commercial paper program and other short-term lines of credit and approximately \$520 million of committed unused and available borrowing capacity under long-term credit facilities, all of which are held through a number of lending institutions. We expect our borrowings under these credit facilities and credit lines to increase in connection with our financing of commodity inventories due to higher prices.

Our short-term and long-term debt decreased by \$9 million at December 31, 2003 from December 31, 2002 primarily due to the repayment of outstanding indebtedness with the \$532 million in net proceeds received from the sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients business, Lesieur and our U.S. bakery business in 2003 and the proceeds from the repayment in 2003 by Mutual Investment Limited of the remaining \$55 million principal amount of a note owed to us. The repayment of debt was offset by a significant increase in debt in the fourth quarter, caused by the dramatic increase in soy commodity prices.

On May 19, 2003, we completed an offering of \$300 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured guaranteed senior notes due 2013 bearing interest at a rate of 5.875% per year, to reduce further reliance on short-term borrowings and to finance the repayment of the current portion of long-term debt coming due. On December 15, 2003, we completed an offering of \$500 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured guaranteed senior notes due 2008 bearing interest at a rate of 4.375% per year. The notes issued in May and December of 2003 were issued by our wholly owned

finance subsidiary, Bunge Limited Finance Corp., and are guaranteed by us. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on each of the notes.

On May 28, 2003, we entered into a \$455 million 364-day revolving credit facility and a \$195 million 3-year revolving credit facility to replace a €600 million credit facility previously held by a subsidiary. This credit facility was entered into by our wholly-owned finance subsidiary, Bunge Finance Europe B.V., and is guaranteed by us. There was \$250 million outstanding under the credit facility at December 31, 2003.

Through our subsidiaries, we have various other long-term debt facilities at fixed and variable interest rates denominated in both U.S. dollars, Brazilian *reais* and *euros*, most of which mature between 2005 and 2021. At December 31, 2003, we had \$430 million outstanding under these long-term debt facilities. Of this amount, at December 31, 2003, \$308 million was secured by certain land, property, equipment and export commodity contracts, as well as investments in our consolidated subsidiaries, having a net carrying value of \$631 million.

Our long-term debt agreements, commercial paper program, senior credit facilities and senior guaranteed notes require us to comply with specified financial covenants related to minimum net worth and working capital and a maximum long-term debt to capitalization ratio. We were in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2003.

We do not have any ratings downgrade triggers that would accelerate the maturity of our debt. However, a downgrade in our credit rating could adversely affect our ability to renew existing, or to obtain access to new, credit facilities in the future and would increase the cost of such facilities to us.

Our credit ratings on our unsecured guaranteed senior notes by Moody's Investors Services, Inc. at December 31, 2003 were "Baa3" with "outlook positive", and "BBB" by Standard & Poor's Rating Services and Fitch Rating Services. Our commercial paper is rated "A-1" by Standard & Poor's Rating Services, and "P-1" by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and the interest rates on our commercial paper borrowings are indexed to this rating.

Redeemable Preferred Stock. In December 2000, Bunge First Capital Limited, our consolidated subsidiary, issued 170,000, \$.01 par value shares of cumulative variable rate redeemable preferred shares to private investors for \$170 million. Cash dividends on our redeemable preferred stock are payable quarterly. The amount of the dividend is calculated based on alternative benchmark financing rates, certain actual expenses and a return. Under the terms of the redeemable preferred stock, if more than one quarterly dividend is unpaid, and upon the occurrence of certain other events, including a material default on our indebtedness, the redeemable preferred shareholders may, among other things, require us to arrange for the sale of their redeemable preferred stock to third parties at a price based on the issue price of the redeemable preferred stock plus accrued and unpaid dividends, or require us to take other actions to protect their interests. As of December 31, 2003, we have accrued \$1 million of current accrued quarterly dividends payable and we have no quarterly dividends in arrears.

Shareholders' Equity. Shareholders' equity increased to \$2,377 million at December 31, 2003 from \$1,472 million at December 31, 2002 as a result of net income of \$411 million, \$55 million received from Mutual Investment Limited as a result of the repayment of a note owed to us, foreign exchange translation gains of \$489 million primarily generated by our European, Brazilian and Argentine subsidiaries and \$11 million attributable to the exercise of employee stock options. This increase was partially offset by dividends paid to shareholders of \$42 million and other comprehensive losses of \$19 million.

#### Guarantees

We have issued or were a party to the following third-party guarantees at December 31, 2003:

	Maximum Potential Future Payments
	(US\$ in millions)
Operating lease residual values	\$ 69
Unconsolidated affiliates financing Customer financing	20 93
Total	\$ 182

We entered into synthetic lease agreements for barges and railcars originally owned by us and subsequently sold to third parties. The leases are classified as operating leases. Any gains on the sales have been deferred and are being recognized ratably over the related lease terms. We have the option at the end of each lease to purchase the barges or railcars at fixed prices based on estimated fair values or to sell the assets. If we elect to sell, we receive proceeds up to fixed amounts specified in the agreements. If the proceeds are less than the specified fixed amounts, we are obligated under a guarantee to pay supplemental rent for the deficiency in proceeds. The operating leases expire through 2007. There are no recourse provisions or collateral that would enable us to recover any amounts paid under this guarantee.

We have issued a guarantee to a financial institution for \$20 million related to the debt of our joint ventures in Argentina, which are our unconsolidated affiliates. The term of the guarantee is equal to the term of the related financing, which matures in six years. There are no recourse provisions or collateral that would enable us to recover any amounts paid under this guarantee.

We have issued guarantees to a financial institution in Brazil related to amounts owed to the institution by certain of our customers. The terms of the guarantees are equal to the terms of the related financing arrangements, which can be as short as 120 days or as long as 360 days. In the event that the customers default on their payments to the institutions and we would be required to perform under the guarantees, we have obtained collateral from the customers. At December 31, 2003, the majority of these financing arrangements were collateralized by land and crop production.

We have recorded a liability of \$1 million related to the fair value of the above guarantees at December 31, 2003.

We have issued parent level guarantees for the repayment of certain of our U.S. senior debt and committed credit facilities with a carrying amount of \$2,257 million at December 31, 2003. All outstanding debt related to these guarantees is included in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of Bunge Limited Finance Corp. or any of our other subsidiaries to transfer funds to us.

In addition, certain of our subsidiaries have provided guarantees of indebtedness of certain of their subsidiaries under lines of credit with various institutions. The total borrowing capacity available under these lines of credit guarantees is \$270 million.

### Cash Flows

2003 Compared to 2002. In 2003, our cash balance increased \$19 million, reflecting the net impact of cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, compared to a \$271 million increase in our cash balance in 2002.

Our operating activities used cash of \$41 million in 2003, compared to cash generated of \$128 million in 2002. Historically, our cash flow from operations has varied depending on the timing of

the acquisition of, and the market prices for, agribusiness commodity inventories. Through the third quarter of 2003, our cash flows provided by operations were \$638 million. However, the increase in soy commodity market prices in the latter half of December 2003 resulted in significant farmer selling, which increased our use of cash that was needed to acquire inventories. Our risk management policies include hedging strategies to mitigate the risks that the cost of these inventories would not be recovered. We anticipate generating significant positive cash flows when these inventories are sold. Also reflected in the cash flow from operations is the \$57 million paid in 2003 in connection with the settlement agreement relating to the sale of Ducros by Cereol. See "Business Legal Proceedings" for additional information on this settlement agreement.

Cash generated by investing activities was \$60 million for 2003, compared to cash used of \$1,071 million in 2002. Investments in property, plant and equipment of \$304 million consisted primarily of additions under our normal capital expenditure plan. Of this amount, \$98 million represented maintenance capital expenditures in 2003, compared to \$117 million in 2002. Maintenance capital expenditures are expenditures made to replace existing equipment in order to maintain current production capacity. The majority of non-maintenance capital expenditures in 2003 related to efficiency improvements to reduce costs, equipment upgrades and business expansion. The increase in capital expenditures in 2003 over 2002 is primarily due to the acquisition of Cereol as we now have more equipment and facilities. Although we have no current material commitments for capital expenditures, we estimate that our total capital expenditures will be approximately \$350 million to \$400 million in each of 2004 and 2005, including \$115 million to \$130 million of maintenance capital expenditures.

In 2003, we received net proceeds of \$532 million from the sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients business, Lesieur and our U.S. bakery operations. We used \$23 million to acquire the remaining 2.62% of Cereol's outstanding shares that we did not already own and we paid an additional purchase price of \$42 million to Edison and Cereol's former public shareholders. In addition, in 2003, we acquired additional shares in Fosfertil for \$84 million, and we completed certain smaller acquisitions in India and Eastern Europe having an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$37 million. In 2002, we used cash of \$741 million (net of cash acquired) to acquire Cereol and \$94 million to acquire shares held by minority shareholders in connection with the corporate restructuring of our Brazilian subsidiaries and to acquire La Plata Cereal in Argentina.

Cash used in financing activities was \$61 million in 2003, compared to cash generated of \$1,295 million in 2002. In 2003, we used cash flow from the net proceeds from the sales of businesses to reduce borrowings on short and long-term debt. In 2003, we issued \$800 million of senior notes, and, in 2002, we issued \$686 million of senior notes and \$250 million of convertible notes. In 2003, Mutual Investment Limited repaid in full the \$55 million note owed to us. Dividends paid during 2003 were \$42 million and \$37 million in 2002. In 2002, we generated cash by selling common shares for net proceeds of \$293 million.

2002 Compared to 2001. In 2002, we generated cash of \$271 million, which was the net effect of cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities, compared to 2001, when we used cash of \$224 million.

Our operating activities provided cash of \$128 million in 2002 compared to \$205 million in 2001. The decrease resulted from the consolidation of Cereol's cash flow from operations for the fourth quarter of 2002. We did not have the benefit of a full year of cash flow from Cereol as it was acquired in October 2002. Cereol's seasonal acquisition of commodity inventories in the fourth quarter normally causes negative cash flow in the fourth quarter. Excluding the negative effect of Cereol's cash flow used by operating activities for the fourth quarter of 2002 of \$164 million, cash flow from operating activities provided \$292 million for 2002, an increase of \$87 million compared to 2001.

Cash used in investing activities increased to \$1,071 million in 2002 from \$175 million used in 2001. Investing activities consist primarily of payments for business acquisitions and additions to

property, plant and equipment under our capital expenditure plan. Payments for business acquisitions were significantly higher in 2002 due to the acquisition of Cereol and the acquisition of shares held by minority shareholders in connection with the corporate restructuring of our Brazilian subsidiaries. In 2001, we received net proceeds of \$59 million from the sale of our baked goods division. Total capital expenditures for 2002 were \$240 million. Of this amount, approximately \$117 million represented maintenance capital expenditures. The majority of non-maintenance capital expenditures incurred in 2002 related to efficiency improvements to reduce costs, equipment upgrades due to changes in technology and business expansion.

Cash provided by financing activities increased to \$1,295 million in 2002 from \$224 million used in 2001. In the first quarter of 2002, we sold common shares for net proceeds of \$293 million. As part of our continuing strategy of centralizing our financing activities at the parent company level, we paid down \$451 million of long-term variable rate revolving loans held by some of our subsidiaries, which were partially replaced with parent company borrowings. We also paid the last installment of \$56 million on a 9.25% note collateralized by our commodity exports. In addition, we borrowed \$317 million under our long-term credit facilities. In 2002, we issued senior guaranteed notes, senior notes and convertible notes for aggregate net proceeds of \$925 million. Dividends paid during 2002 were \$37 million. In addition, our former parent company, Mutual Investment Limited, repaid \$21 million of the principal amount of a note due to us.

### **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued revised SFAS No. 132, *Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits* (SFAS No. 132). This revision of SFAS No. 132 does not change the measurement or recognition of postretirement benefit plans required by SFAS No. 87, *Employers' Accounting for Pensions, Pension Plans and Termination Benefits*, and SFAS No. 106, *Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions*. This statement retains the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 132, which it replaces. It requires additional disclosures to those in the original SFAS No. 132 about plan assets, investment strategy, measurement dates, plan obligations, cash flows of defined benefit pension plans and other defined benefit postretirement plans. Also, required for interim reporting will be the components of periodic benefit cost recognized during the interim period. We have complied with the disclosure requirements of the revised SFAS No. 132.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, *Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity* (SFAS No. 150). SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how a company classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that a company classify a financial instrument, which is within the scope of SFAS No. 150, as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and to certain other instruments that existed prior to May 31, 2003 as of the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In April 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 149, *Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities* (SFAS No. 149). SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies accounting for derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is applied prospectively and is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, except for SFAS No. 133 implementation issues that have been effective for fiscal quarters that began prior to June 15, 2003, and certain provisions relating to forward purchases or sales of when-issued securities or other securities that do not yet exist. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, Consolidated Financial Statements (ARB 51). In December 2003, the FASB revised FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46) and codified certain FASB Staff Positions (FSPs) previously issued for FIN 46 in FASB Interpretation No. 46, Revised (FIN 46R). FIN 46 as originally issued and as revised by FIN 46R, establishes consolidation criteria for entities for which control is not easily discernable under ARB 51. The adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R in 2003 did not have a material impact on the accounting for our accounts receivable securitizations or our consolidated financial statements.

#### Research and Development, Patents and Licenses

Our research and development activities are focused on developing products and optimizing techniques that will drive growth or otherwise add value to our core business lines.

In our food products division, we have established centers of excellence, located in the United States and Budapest, to develop and enhance technology and processes associated with food products and marketing.

Our total research and development expenses were \$8 million in 2003, \$8 million in 2002 and \$6 million in 2001. As of December 31, 2003, our research and development organization consisted of approximately 115 employees worldwide.

We own trademarks on the majority of the brands we produce in our food products and fertilizer divisions. We typically obtain long-term licenses for the remainder. We have patents covering some of our products and manufacturing processes. However, we do not consider any of these patents to be material to our business.

We believe we have taken appropriate steps to be the owner of or to be entitled to use all intellectual property rights necessary to carry out our business.

#### Seasonality

In our agribusiness division, we do not experience material seasonal fluctuations in volume since we are geographically diversified in the global agribusiness market. The worldwide need for food is not seasonal and increases as populations grow. The geographic balance of our grain origination assets in the northern and southern hemispheres also assures us a more consistent supply of agricultural commodities throughout the year, although our overall supply of agricultural commodities can be impacted by adverse weather conditions such as flood, drought or frost. However, there is a degree of seasonality in our gross profit, as our higher margin oilseed processing operations experience increases in volumes in the second, third and fourth quarters due to the timing of the soybean harvests. In addition, price and margin variations and increased availability of agricultural commodities at harvest times often cause fluctuations in our inventories and short-term borrowings.

In our fertilizer division, we are subject to seasonal trends based on the agricultural growing cycle in Brazil. As a result, fertilizer sales are significantly higher in the third and fourth quarters of our fiscal year.

In our food products division, there are no significant seasonal effects on our business.

#### **Income Taxes**

As a Bermuda exempted company, we are not subject to income taxes in our jurisdiction of incorporation. However, our subsidiaries, which operate in multiple tax jurisdictions, are subject to income taxes at various statutory rates.

64

In 2003, the sale of our Brazilian soy ingredients business to Solae for a gain of \$111 million did not result in taxable income and therefore no income tax was provisioned. However, we have recorded a net tax expense of \$23 million relating to new tax laws in South America.

Our U.S. export sales of agricultural commodities and certain food products have been subject to favorable U.S. tax treatment on export sales through the use of a U.S. Foreign Sales Corp. (FSC). Beginning in 2002, due to the repeal of the FSC, we were required to use the tax provisions of the Extraterritorial Income (ETI) exclusion, which was substantially similar to the FSC. This tax treatment lowered our overall tax liabilities and thereby reduced our income tax expense by \$16 million in 2003, \$9 million in 2002 and \$10 million in 2001. The U.S. Congress is considering legislation to repeal the ETI and propose a new tax incentive for certain domestic manufacturers, which could subject U.S. exporters, including us, to higher tax rates. We will continue to monitor the U.S. legislation and determine its effects as the legislation continues to develop.

In 2003, the Argentine government enacted a new tax law affecting exporters of certain products, including grains and oilseeds. The law generally provides that in certain circumstances when an export is made to a related party that is not the final purchaser of the exported products, the income tax payable by the exporter with respect to such sales must be based on the greater of the contract price of the exported products or the market price of the products at the date of shipment. The Argentine government has not yet issued interpretive regulations regarding the application and scope of this law. We will continue to monitor developments with respect to this legislation and any effect that it may have on our consolidated financial statements.

#### Inflation

Inflation did not have a material impact on our business in 2003, 2002 or 2001.

### **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

We have two accounts receivable securitization facilities. Through agreements with certain financial institutions, we may sell, on a revolving basis, undivided percentage ownership interests in designated pools of accounts receivable without recourse up to a maximum amount of \$146 million. Collections reduce accounts receivable included in the pools, and are used to purchase new receivables, which become part of the pools. The facilities expire in 2005 and 2007 and the effective yield rates approximate the 30-day commercial paper rate plus annual commitment fees ranging from 29 to 40 basis points.

In 2003, the outstanding undivided interests averaged \$125 million. We retain collection and administrative responsibilities for the receivables in the pools. In 2003, we recognized \$3 million in related charges, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of income.

In addition, we retain interests in the pools of receivables not sold. Due to the short-term nature of the receivables, our retained interests in the pools are valued at historical cost, which approximate fair value. The full amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts has been retained in our consolidated balance sheets since collections of all pooled receivables are first used to reduce the outstanding undivided interests. Accounts receivable at December 31, 2003 were net of \$125 million, representing the outstanding undivided interests in pooled receivables.

Other than the receivables securitization facilities and our sale-leaseback transactions relating to certain barges and rail cars, we do not have any off-balance sheet financings.

### **Contractual Obligations**

The following table summarizes our scheduled contractual obligations and their expected maturities at December 31, 2003, and the effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flows in the future periods indicated.

A + 1	Dogom	hon 2	1 2003
ΔТ	Hecem	ner 🔹	. /11113

				_		years		years
		(US\$	in m	illions)				
\$ 426	\$	426	\$		\$		\$	
463		463						
2,505		128		665		584		1,128
319		68		155		72		24
728		728						
 			_					
\$ 4,441	\$	1,813	\$	820	\$	656	\$	1,152
	463 2,505 319 728	463 2,505 319 728	463 463 2,505 128 319 68 728 728	463 463 2,505 128 319 68 728 728	463 463 2,505 128 665 319 68 155 728 728	463 463 2,505 128 665 319 68 155 728 728	463 463 2,505 128 665 584 319 68 155 72 728 728	463 463 2,505 128 665 584 319 68 155 72 728 728

(1) Excludes 5.35% senior notes due 2014 issued on April 13, 2004. See "Summary Recent Developments Senior Notes Offering."

We have a joint venture with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, or the EBRD, pursuant to which we own approximately 60% and the EBRD owns approximately 40% of Polska Oil Investment B.V., or Polska Oil. Polska Oil, in turn, owns 50% of Zaklady Thuszczowe Kruszwica S.A., or Kruszwica, a Polish producer of bottled edible oils. Bunge also has a 32% additional direct interest in Kruszwica. Polska Oil and Kruszwica are our consolidated subsidiaries. The EBRD has the option to put its shares in Polska Oil to us at any time prior to June 3, 2005 at the then current fair market value as determined by an independent expert, subject to a floor and cap based on a contractual formula. At December 31, 2003, the estimated fair market value of the EBRD stake in Polska Oil was approximately \$27 million.

We expect to contribute \$9 million to our pension plans and \$2 million to our postretirement benefit plans in 2004. In addition, in 2004, Bunge expects to contribute \$6 million to a non-qualified plan for a 2004 lump-sum distribution from that plan.

In connection with the Cereol acquisition, we have accrued termination benefits and facility-related realignment obligations as part of the acquisition integration plan. These obligations, which totaled \$35 million, have been accrued as part of the Cereol acquisition purchase price. Through December 31, 2003, \$11 million has been paid, with the remaining \$24 million expected to be paid during 2004 and financed with operating cash flows.

### Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

### Risk Management

As a result of our global operating and financing activities, we are exposed to changes in agricultural commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, which may affect our results of operations and financial position. We use derivative financial instruments for the purpose of managing the risks and/or costs associated with fluctuations in commodity prices and foreign exchange rates. While these hedging instruments are subject to fluctuations in value, those fluctuations are generally offset by the value of the underlying exposures being hedged. The counterparties to these contractual arrangements are primarily major financial institutions or, in the case of commodity futures and options, a commodity exchange. As a result, credit risk arising from these contracts is not significant and we do not anticipate any significant losses. Our finance and risk management committee supervises, reviews and periodically revises our overall risk management policies and risk limits. We

only enter into derivatives that are related to our inherent business and financial exposure as a global agribusiness company.

#### Commodities Risk

We operate in many areas of the food industry from agricultural raw materials to the production and sale of branded food products. As a result, we use and produce various materials, many of which are agricultural commodities, including soybeans, soybean oil, soybean meal, wheat and corn. Agricultural commodities are subject to price fluctuations due to a number of unpredictable factors that may create price risk. We enter into various derivative contracts and primarily exchange-traded futures, with the objective of managing our exposure to adverse price movements in the agricultural commodities used for our business operations. We have established policies that limit the amount of unhedged fixed-price agricultural commodity positions permissible for our operating companies, which are a combination of quantity and value at risk limits. We measure and review our sensitivity to our net commodities position on a daily basis.

We use a sensitivity analysis to estimate our exposure to market risk on our agricultural commodity position. The daily net agricultural commodity position consists of inventory, related purchase and sale contracts, and exchange-traded contracts, including those used to hedge portions of our production requirements. The fair value of that position is a summation of the fair values calculated for each agricultural commodity by valuing each net position at quoted average futures prices for the period. Market risk is estimated as the potential loss in fair value resulting from a hypothetical 10% adverse change in prices. The results of this analysis, which may differ from actual results, are as follows:

	 Year Ended December 31, 2003		I	Year Decembe			
	Tair alue		Iarket Risk	Fair Value		Market Risk	
			(US\$ in	millio	ons)		
Highest net long position	\$ 517	\$	52	\$	529	\$	53
Highest net short position	(50)		(5)		(10)		(1)

### Currency Risk

Our global operations require active participation in foreign exchange markets. To reduce the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuations, we follow a policy of hedging net monetary assets and liabilities and transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies applicable to each of our various subsidiaries. Our primary exposure is related to our businesses located in Brazil and Argentina and, to a lesser extent, Europe, the Middle East and Asia. To minimize the adverse impact of currency movements, we enter into foreign exchange swaps and option contracts to hedge currency exposures.

When determining our exposure, we exclude intercompany loans that are deemed to be permanently invested. The repayments of permanently invested intercompany loans are not planned or anticipated in the foreseeable future and therefore are treated as analogous to equity. As a result, the foreign exchange gains and losses on these borrowings are excluded from the determination of net income and recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The balance of permanently invested intercompany borrowings was \$681 million and \$699 million as of December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively. Included in other comprehensive income (loss) are exchange gains of \$118 million in 2003 and exchange losses of \$215 million in 2002, related to permanently invested intercompany loans.

For risk management purposes and to determine the overall level of hedging required, we further reduce the foreign exchange exposure determined above by the value of our agricultural commodities

inventories. These agricultural commodities inventories, because of their international pricing in U.S. dollars, provide a natural hedge to our currency exposure.

Our net currency position, including cross-currency swaps and currency options, and our market risk, which is the potential loss from an adverse 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates, is set forth in the following table. In addition, we have provided an analysis of our foreign currency exposure after reducing the exposure for our agricultural commodities inventory. Actual results may differ from the information set forth below.

	As of December 31,			
		2003 2		2002
		s)		
Brazilian Operations:				
Net currency short position, from financial instruments, including				
derivatives	\$	(1,080)	\$	(843)
Market risk		(108)		(84)
Agricultural commodities inventories		1,063		870
Net currency long (short) position, less agricultural commodities				
inventories		(17)		27
Market risk		(2)		3
Argentine Operations:				
Net currency long (short) position, from financial instruments,				
including derivatives	\$	(32)	\$	112
Market risk		(3)		11
Agricultural commodities inventories		71		38
Net currency long position, less agricultural commodities inventories		39		150
Market risk		4		15

### Interest Rate Risk

We issue debt in fixed and floating rate instruments. We are exposed to market risk due to changes in interest rates. We do not engage in interest rate-related financial transactions for trading or speculative purposes. We did not have any outstanding interest rate swaps at December 31, 2003. Of our total long-term debt outstanding of \$2,505 million at December 31, 2003 including current maturities, \$2,020 million was fixed rate. Long-term debt that is exposed to interest rate risk at December 31, 2003 is listed below.

As of December 31, 2003	
	(US\$ in millions)
\$	302
	152
	31
\$	485
	_

LIBOR as of December 31, 2003 was 1.16%.

(2) BNDES loans are Brazilian government industrial development loans.

68

(3)

IGPM is a Brazilian inflation index published by Fundação Getulio Vargas. The annualized rate for the year ended December 31, 2003 was 8.71%.

An increase in the interest rates on our long-term variable rate debt based on a 10% change in the LIBOR and IGPM rates at December 31, 2003 would increase the interest rates on our variable rate debt between 12 to 87 basis points, which would have no material effect on our operating results.

In addition to long-term debt, we have variable interest rate short-term debt and commercial paper with a balance of \$889 million at December 31, 2003. The short-term debt is predominantly held with commercial banks and the interest rates are generally based on LIBOR plus a spread of 1% to 2%.

Our commercial paper is rated "A-1" by Standard & Poor's Rating Services and "P-1" by Moody's Investors Services, Inc. and the interest rates on our commercial paper borrowings are indexed to this rating. An increase in interest rates on our short-term debt based on a 10% change in LIBOR and a 10% change in the commercial paper interest rate for A-1/P-1 rated commercial paper at December 31, 2003 would increase the interest rate on our variable rate short-term debt approximately 12 basis points, which would have no material effect on our operating results.

#### **BUSINESS**

We are an integrated, global agribusiness and food company operating throughout the farm-to-consumer food chain. Our operations range from sales of raw materials such as grains and fertilizers to retail food products such as margarine and mayonnaise. In 2003, we had total net sales of \$22,165 million and total segment operating profit of \$618 million. We believe we are:

the world's leading oilseed processing company, based on processing capacity;

the largest processor of soybeans in the Americas, the region in which 84% of the world's soybeans are grown, and one of the world's leading exporters of soybean products, based on volume;

the largest producer and supplier of fertilizer to farmers in South America, based on volume; and

the world's leading seller of bottled vegetable oils, based on sales.

We conduct our operations in three divisions: agribusiness, fertilizer and food products, and we have four reporting segments agribusiness, fertilizer, edible oil products and milling products. Our agribusiness division is an integrated business involved in the purchase, sale and processing of grains and oilseeds. Our agribusiness origination and processing operations and assets are primarily located in the Americas and Europe, and we have international marketing offices throughout the world. The net sales in our agribusiness division were \$17,345 million in 2003, or 78% of our total net sales, and the operating profit of our agribusiness segment in 2003 was \$274 million, or 44% of our total segment operating profit.

Our fertilizer division is involved in every stage of the fertilizer business, from mining of raw materials to the sale of retail fertilizer products. The activities of our fertilizer division are primarily located in Brazil and Argentina. Net sales in our fertilizer division were \$1,954 million in 2003, or 9% of our total net sales, and the operating profit of our fertilizer segment in 2003 was \$242 million, or 39% of our total segment operating profit.

Our food products division consists of two business lines: edible oil products and milling products. These businesses produce and sell food products such as edible oils, shortenings, margarine, mayonnaise and milled products such as wheat flours and corn products. The activities of our food products division are primarily located in North America, Europe, Brazil and India. Net sales in our food products division were \$2,866 million in 2003, or 13% of our total net sales. The operating profit of our edible oil products segment and our milling products segment in 2003 was \$64 million and \$30 million, respectively, or 10% and 5% of total segment operating profit.

### **Our Competitive Strengths**

We believe our business benefits from the following competitive strengths:

Significant synergies within and among our businesses. By operating in complementary businesses throughout the food supply chain, we enjoy significant operating efficiencies. For example, in Brazil, we transport fertilizer raw materials from export-import points to our inland fertilizer plants and back-haul agricultural commodities from our inland locations to export-import points. By using the same transportation resources across business lines, we are able to realize significant cost advantages and logistical efficiencies. In our fertilizer division, we also benefit from our internal sources of raw materials provided by the mines we operate. In our food products division, we capitalize on synergies with our agribusiness division by supplying a significant portion of our raw material requirements from our agribusiness operations, such as crude oils, wheat and corn, thereby helping to ensure an adequate supply of raw materials for these businesses.

Geographic and product balance and positioning. We have substantial agricultural commodities origination facilities in both the northern and southern hemispheres. This balance between the two hemispheres mitigates seasonal effects on agricultural production, allowing us to offer a constant supply of oilseeds, grains, meal and oil throughout the year. We also have product balance in oilseeds through our canola and sunflower seed product offerings. Our geographic and product balance mitigates the risks of exposure to adverse agricultural and other conditions in any one particular region or product line.

Scale, quality and strategic location of our facilities. In the United States, Brazil and Argentina, we operate large, efficient and well-maintained agricultural commodities storage, oilseed processing facilities and export terminals, generating economies of scale and reducing overall costs. We have also selectively located many of our grain elevators and processing and manufacturing facilities in close proximity to our suppliers, domestic customers, edible oil refineries and key export points to reduce transportation costs and delivery times for our products.

Well positioned in higher growth areas of our markets. We believe that we are well positioned in the higher growth areas of the markets in which we operate. For example, our leadership position in the Brazilian soybean origination and processing markets will allow us to benefit from continued rapid growth in Brazilian soybean cultivation. Our market leadership position in the Brazilian fertilizer industry enables us to capitalize on the accelerated growth that is anticipated in the fertilizer market associated with the expansion in the agricultural sector and increased fertilizer use. In our food products division, the leading consumer market position of our edible oil products business in Eastern Europe and Brazil will allow us to benefit from anticipated increases in per capita oil consumption in these markets.

#### **Our Business Strategy**

Our objective is to continue to expand our business and increase our profitability by focusing on the following key business strategies:

Grow our leadership position in the most attractive markets for our products. In our agribusiness division, we intend to maintain our leading positions in the fastest growing oilseed and grain production regions of South America and Eastern Europe while, at the same time, increasing our presence in areas of growing consumption in Asia. In our fertilizer division, we are focusing on Brazil, the world's fastest growing major fertilizer market, and we plan to significantly increase our mining and intermediate raw materials production capacity over the next five years. In our food products division, we are focusing our expansion on higher growth and higher consumption markets, such as in India and Eastern Europe. We believe that a combination of organic growth, achieved through increases in our internal origination, oilseed processing and fertilizer production capabilities, along with growth through selective acquisitions and alliances, will enable us to achieve these objectives.

Focus on operating efficiency. As the prices of many of our products are set in global commodity markets, our profitability is largely dependent on the cost efficiency of our production and product handling processes. As a result, in each of our divisions, we intend to continue to seek to locate assets that are efficient in terms of scale and function in close proximity to agricultural production areas, customers and transport networks to reduce our operating and logistics costs. This enables us to benefit from lower per-unit costs as production volume increases. In addition, we have invested and will continue to invest in improving our logistics systems, including through technology enhancements, physical infrastructure development and our company-wide, initiative focused on improving productivity, quality, safety and environmental standards.

Provide superior customized service and product offerings to customers and farmers. We intend to continue to focus on meeting the needs of our customers and suppliers by offering them value-added services. We offer crop financing and agronomics services to farmers. We also intend to continue to develop specialized products for our food processor and foodservice customers that allow our customers to improve the quality and nutritional profile of their products.

Capture value through integration of our businesses. The close integration of our businesses allows us to achieve raw material sourcing, logistic and product synergies that we believe enhance our competitiveness and profitability. We intend to continue to strengthen the coordination among our divisions in order to capitalize on opportunities to grow our customer and supplier base, lower our logistics and raw material costs and allow us to take advantage of new and developing market opportunities in each of our businesses.

### Agribusiness

Overview. Our agribusiness division is an integrated business involved in the purchase, sale and processing of grains and oilseeds. Our agribusiness operations begin with origination, which involves the purchasing, storing and merchandising of oilseeds and grains. The principal oilseeds and grains that we purchase are soybean, sunflower seed, rapeseed or canola, wheat, corn and sorghum. Of the total amount of grains and oilseeds we originated in 2003, approximately half were soybeans. In addition, we process oilseeds, which involves crushing oilseeds to produce meal and crude and further processed oils. Finally, our international marketing operations link our agribusiness operations with our overseas customers through export sales and distribution while managing commodity, financing and freight risks.

We obtain all of our oilseeds and grains from third parties, either directly through individual relationships and purchase contracts with farmers or indirectly through intermediaries. We do not engage in any farming operations.

Facilities. We have approximately 280 grain storage facilities that are located close to agricultural production areas and export locations. We also have approximately 50 oilseed processing plants and approximately 25 international marketing offices throughout the world.

Customers. We sell oilseeds, grains, meal and oil to both our own oilseed processing operations and our food products division, as well as to U.S. and international customers in 60 countries around the world. In 2003, our oilseed processing operations used approximately three-fourths of the oilseeds that we originated. The principal third-party purchasers of our grains and oilseeds are oilseed processors, feed manufacturers and wheat and corn millers. The principal purchasers of our oilseed meal and hulls include feed manufacturers and livestock, poultry and aquaculture producers that use these products as animal feed ingredients. The principal purchasers of our crude and further processed oils are edible oil processing companies, including our own food products division, which purchased approximately one-third of our total crude oil production.

In Brazil and Canada we produce oilseed meal and oil for both the domestic and export markets. In Argentina, we produce oilseed meal and oil primarily for the export market. In the United States, the market for these commodity products is primarily domestic. In Europe, whether oil and meal are sold domestically or exported varies country by country. Europe is the largest protein meal consuming region in the world, and our network of crushing plants and local distribution operations for imported protein meal provides broad market coverage.

In the United States, Brazil and Europe, some domestically produced soybean meal is used in the production of meat and poultry that is ultimately exported. As a result, our oilseed processing operations in those countries benefit from global demand for U.S., Brazilian and European poultry and pork exports.

Distribution and Logistics. We use a variety of transportation modes to transport our agricultural commodities and commodity products, including railcars, river barges, trucks and ocean-going vessels. We own and lease railcars and barges, and use transportation services provided by railroads, truck lines and barge companies to fulfill our logistics needs. We also contract with third parties for ocean freight services. In North and South America, we have operations in 13 ports. We have made and will continue to make selective investments in port and storage facilities overseas to better serve our customer base.

Other Services. In Brazil, where there are fewer sources of crop financing than in the United States, we provide financing services to farmers. Since 1985, we have offered crop financing in Brazil without experiencing material write-offs. Our crop financing loans are typically secured by the farmer's crop and a mortgage on the farmer's land and other assets. The amount of each advance is limited to a predetermined fraction of the individual farmer's historical average output to contain our exposure to crop shortfalls. These loans carry market interest rates and are repaid in soybeans or other grains, the value of which is pegged to the U.S. dollar due to the international pricing of these agricultural commodities, thereby reducing any transfer or convertibility risk. As of December 31, 2003, our total secured advances to our suppliers, which primarily include farmers, were \$333 million. In addition to our crop financing program, we provide trade structured financing and risk management services to our customers, principally through third-party financial institutions.

Competition. Markets for our agribusiness products are highly competitive. Our major competitors in our agribusiness operations are ADM and Cargill and, to a lesser extent, local, large agricultural cooperatives and trading companies, such as Louis Dreyfus Group.

#### **Fertilizer**

Overview. We are the largest producer and supplier of fertilizer to farmers in South America and the only major integrated fertilizer producer in Brazil, participating in all stages of the business, from mining of raw materials to selling of mixed fertilizers. In the Brazilian retail market, we have over 29% of the market share of "NPK" fertilizers. NPK refers to nitrogen, phosphate and potassium, the main components of chemical fertilizers.

Fertilizer Products and Services. Our fertilizer division is comprised of nutrients and retail operations. Our nutrients operations include the mining and processing of phosphate ore and the production and sale of intermediate products to fertilizer mixers, cooperatives and our own retail operations. We also produce phosphate-based animal feed ingredients. The primary products we produce in our nutrients operations are single super phosphate, dicalcium phosphate and phosphoric acid. Dicalcium phosphate is a major source of calcium used in animal feed for livestock production and is a principal alternative to meat and bone meal. We are the leading producer of dicalcium phosphate in Brazil. Our retail operations consist of producing, distributing and selling mixed NPK formulas, mixed nutrients and other fertilizer products directly to retailers, processing and trading companies and farmers primarily in Brazil, as well as in Argentina. We market our fertilizers under the Serrana, Manah, Ouro Verde and IAP brands.

*Mines and Facilities.* We operate five of the six major phosphate mines in Brazil. We also operate several processing plants, which are strategically located in the key fertilizer consumption regions of Brazil, thereby reducing transportation costs to deliver our products to our customers. Our mines are

operated under concessions from the Brazilian government. The following table sets forth information about our mining properties:

Name	Product Mined	Annual Production for the Year Ended December 31, 2003 (millions of metric tons)	Years Until Reserve Depletion
Araxá	Phosphate and other ores	6	18(1)
Cajati	Phosphate and other ores	5	20(1)
Catalão	Phosphate and other ores	6	36
Tapira	Phosphate and other ores	14	58
Salitre	Phosphate and other ores	N/A(2)	N/A(2)

- We operate our mines under concessions granted by the Brazilian Ministry of Economy and Public Works. The Araxá and Cajati mines operate under concession contracts that expire in 2022 and 2023, respectively, but may be renewed at our option for consecutive ten-year periods thereafter through the useful life of the mines. The number of years until reserve depletion represents the number of years until the initial expiration of those concession contracts. The concessions for the other mines have no specified termination dates and are granted for the useful life of the mines. A January 2004 evaluation of the reserves at the Araxá and Cajati mines indicates that the reserves are worth approximately \$160 million, which is in excess of the historical purchase price and carrying value of the mines on our balance sheet.
- Production at the Salitre mine has not commenced; however, annual production is expected to be approximately 5 million metric tons per year. This would result in projected depletion of the reserves in 97 years.

As a result of expansion in the Brazilian agricultural sector and the related increase in demand for fertilizer, we have recently expanded our fertilizer mixing capacity and intend to significantly expand our production capabilities at our existing mines.

Raw Materials. Our basic raw materials in our fertilizer division are potash, phosphate, sulfuric acid and nitrogen-based products. Our mines and processing plants produced sufficient phosphate rock to supply approximately 60% of our total phosphate requirements in 2003. We import the balance of our demand for phosphate mainly from Morocco, the United States, Israel and Europe. Our sulfuric acid requirements are fully satisfied by our three acidulation plants. In 2003, Fosfertil supplied approximately 20% of our internal demand for nitrogen, and we purchased the remainder from third-party suppliers. Our internal need for potash is fully satisfied from third-party suppliers. Approximately 66% and 72% of our total raw material needs were imported in 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The prices of phosphate rock, sulfuric acid, nitrogen and potash are determined by reference to international prices as a result of supply and demand factors. Each of these raw materials is readily available in the international marketplace from multiple sources.

Distribution and Logistics. Logistics management is essential to success in the Brazilian fertilizer industry because most fertilizer raw materials are imported, Brazil lacks an efficient transportation infrastructure and transporting raw materials is expensive. Our phosphate mining operations in Brazil allow us to lower our logistics costs by reducing our use of imported raw materials, thereby also reducing the associated transportation expenses. In addition, we reduce our logistics costs by back-hauling agricultural commodities from inland locations after our delivery of imported fertilizer raw materials. We are also investing in the development of port terminals and partnerships with railroads to reduce our transportation costs and improve efficiencies.

Competition. Our main competitor in the Brazilian nutrients market is Copebras. Our largest retail fertilizer competitors include Cargill, Norsk Hydro (Trevo) and Heringer.

#### **Food Products**

Overview. Our food products division consists of two business segments: edible oil products and milling products. We participate in food products markets where we can realize synergies with our agribusiness operations in connection with our raw material procurement activities, which enables us to benefit from being part of an integrated, global agribusiness enterprise. For example, many of our oilseed processing facilities are located in close proximity to our edible oil refineries and mills to reduce transportation costs. We sell our products to three customer types or market channels: food processors, foodservice companies and retail outlets. We have a large customer base in our food products division, none of which represents more than 5% of our total net sales in that division.

The principal raw materials we use in our food products division are various crude and further processed oils in our edible oils segment and corn, wheat and wheat flour in our milling products segment. Our food products division obtains a substantial portion of its raw materials from our agribusiness division. As these raw materials are agricultural commodities or commodity products, we expect supply to be adequate for our operational needs.

#### Edible Oil Products

*Products.* Our edible oil products include bottled oils, shortenings, margarine, mayonnaise and other products derived from the oil refining process. We primarily use soybean, sunflower, rapeseed or canola, corn, peanut and other oils that we produce in our oilseed processing operations. We are the leading seller of bottled vegetable oils in the world, based on sales, and have edible oil processing, refining and bottling facilities in North America, South America, Europe and India.

Distribution and Customers. Our U.S. food processor customers include baked goods companies such as General Mills, Inc., McKee Foods Corporation and Sara Lee Corporation. Our Brazilian food processor customers include Nestlé, Groupe Danone and Nabisco Inc. In the United States, our foodservice customers include Sysco Corporation, Ruby Tuesday's, Inc., Krispy Kreme Doughnuts Inc. and Yum!Brands, Inc. In Brazil, we are a major supplier of frying and baking shortening to McDonald's Corporation. In Europe, our food processor customers include Unilever and Nestlé, and our foodservice customers include Olitalia SRL and Heidenreich.

We sell our retail edible oil products in Brazil under a number of our own brands, including Soya, the leading bottled oil brand, and *Bunge Pro*, the top foodservice shortening brand. We are also the market leader in the Brazilian margarine market with our own brands, *Delicia* and *Primor*. In the United States, our *Elite* brand is the top foodservice brand family of edible oil products. In Europe, we are the market leader in consumer bottled vegetable oils, which are sold in various local markets under brand names including *Oli*, *Venusz*, *Floriol*, *Kujawski*, *Olek*, *Unisol* and *Oleina*. In India, we have a strong market presence with our primary brands, *Dalda*, *Chambal* and *Masterline*.

Competition. In the United States, Brazil and Canada, our principal competitors in the edible oil products business include ADM, Cargill and Unilever, among others. In Europe, our consumer bottled oils compete with Unilever and with various local companies in each country.

### Milling Products

*Products.* Our milling products include wheat flours, sold primarily in Brazil, and corn products sold in the United States. Corn products consist of dry milled corn grits, meal and flours, as well as soy-fortified corn meal and corn-soy blend that we sell to the U.S. government for humanitarian relief programs. We also produce corn oil and corn feed products. In 2003 and 2002, we had the leading

market share of the U.S. corn dry milling industry, based on sales. We also have corn milling operations in Canada and Mexico. In Brazil, our wheat milling operation primarily sells bakery flours and bakery pre-mixes.

In March 2004, our Brazilian subsidiary Bunge Alimentos S.A. exchanged its domestic retail flour assets for J. Macedo's industrial flour assets. The transaction is subject to the receipt of regulatory approval in Brazil.

Distribution and Customers. In Brazil, our wheat milling and related bakery products include a variety of commercial bakery flours. The food processor customers of our wheat milling products in Brazil include Nestlé, Groupe Danone and Nabisco. Our corn products are predominantly sold into the U.S. food processing sector. Our corn grits and meal are used primarily in the cereal, snack food and brewing industries. Our flours are sold to the baking industry and other food processors, as well as in retail markets. Our corn oil and feed products are sold to edible oil processors and animal feed markets. Our U.S. customers include Anheuser-Busch, Inc., Frito Lay, Inc., General Mills, Inc. and Kellogg Company. In Mexico, we are the sole supplier of corn flaking grits to Kellogg Company.

Competition. The wheat milling industry in Brazil is highly competitive, with many small regional producers. Our major competitors in the flour lines in Brazil are Pena Branca Alimentos, M. Dias Branco S.A. and Moinho Pacifico. Our major competitors in our U.S. corn products business are Cargill and J.R. Short Milling Co.

#### Joint Ventures and Alliances

Alliance with DuPont. In April 2003, we entered into an alliance with DuPont. This alliance consists of a minority-owned venture, Solae, that focuses on the global production and distribution of specialty food ingredients, including soy proteins and lecithins; a biotechnology agreement to jointly develop and commercialize soybeans with improved quality traits; and an alliance to develop a broader offering of services and products for farmers. DuPont contributed its soy food ingredients business for a 72% majority ownership interest in Solae and we contributed our North American and European soy ingredients operations for a 28% ownership interest. In May 2003, we sold our Brazilian soy ingredients operations to Solae for \$251 million in cash, net of sale-related expenses of approximately \$5 million. Based on an independent appraisal, we recognized a tax-free gain on sale of \$111 million in the second quarter of 2003 relating to this sale. We did not recognize any gain on this sale to the extent of the 28% interest we retained through our ownership interest in Solae.

Sale of Lesieur. In July 2003, we sold Lesieur, a French producer of branded bottled vegetable oils, to Saipol, an oilseed processing joint venture between Bunge and Sofiproteol. We received approximately \$240 million in cash, which included the repayment of Lesieur's intercompany debt owed to us of \$72 million, and a note receivable from Saipol of \$31 million, which is payable in July 2009. We have a 33.34% ownership interest in the Saipol joint venture. There was no gain or loss on this transaction.

#### Risk Management

Effective risk management is a fundamental aspect of our business. Correctly anticipating market developments to optimize timing of purchases, sales and hedging is essential for maximizing the return on our assets. We engage in commodity price hedging in our agribusiness and food products divisions to reduce the impact of volatility in the prices of the principal agricultural commodities we use in those divisions. We also engage in foreign currency and interest rate hedging. Our trading decisions take place in various markets but position limits are centrally set and monitored. For foreign exchange risk, we require our positions to be hedged in accordance with our foreign exchange policies. We have a finance and risk management committee of our board of directors that supervises and reviews our

overall risk management policies and risk limits. In addition, we have a chief risk management officer, reporting directly to our chief financial officer, who focuses on managing our risk exposures. We also review our risk management policies, procedures and systems with outside consultants. See " Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk."

#### **Government Regulation and Environmental Matters**

#### **Government Regulation**

We are subject to regulation under U.S. federal, state and local laws, the laws of the European Union and the laws of the other jurisdictions in which we operate. These regulations govern various aspects of our business, including storage, processing and distribution of our agricultural commodity products, food handling and storage, processing and port operations and environmental matters. To operate our facilities, we must obtain and maintain numerous permits, licenses and approvals from governmental agencies. In addition, our facilities are subject to periodic inspection by governmental agencies, including the Department of Agriculture, the Food and Drug Administration and the Environmental Protection Agency in the United States and analogous governmental agencies in the other countries in which we do business throughout the world. Certain new regulations that had or are expected to have an impact on our industry are outlined below.

Oilseed Cultivation in Europe. In the European Union, oilseed cultivation is governed by the Agenda 2000 measures adopted in March 1999, which provide for a reduction in direct aid paid to European oilseed producers. This policy led to a decrease in acreage devoted to agricultural use, including oilseed production. In July 2002, the European Commission published the Mid-Term Review of the Common Agricultural Policy, which analyzed the impact of the Agenda 2000 measures on European oilseed production. The Mid-Term Review, which was passed in June 2003, does not include any specific measures in favor of oilseeds but allows for grants to farmers growing non-food crops, including rapeseed for biodiesel production.

GMO Regulation. New regulations have been passed in Europe and Brazil related to the regulation of GMOs. The European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (EU) have passed new regulations which require labeling and traceability criteria for GMOs. These regulations, which take effect on April 19, 2004, introduce the obligation to inform customers when marketing a GMO or GMO derivative, as well as the obligation to maintain systems of traceability at all levels in the food chain. Products derived from GMOs, including food and animal feed, must be labeled if they contain more than 0.9% genetically modified material. The European Union Commission is still required to publish technical guidance on sampling and testing for genetic material to facilitate a coordinated approach to inspections and controls at the EU Member State level before the regulations scheduled to take effect on April 19, 2004 can be implemented.

In Brazil, the government has legalized the planting and sale of GMO soybeans in certain regions through January 2005. However, certain Brazilian states have banned the planting, sale or transport of GMO crops, which has resulted in the disruption of certain GMO crop shipments. In addition, Brazilian law requires that all products intended for animal or human consumption be labeled if the GMO content of such product exceeds 1%.

Trans-Fatty Acids Labeling Requirements. The U.S. Food and Drug Administration recently defined new labeling rules, which will be effective January 1, 2006, requiring food processors to disclose levels of trans-fatty acids contained in their products. Many of our soybean oil products that are sold in the United States contain trans-fatty acids as a result of being hydrogenated for use in processed and packaged foods to extend shelf life and stabilize flavor. As a result of the labeling requirement, several food processors have recently indicated an intention to switch to products with lower levels of trans-fatty acids.

Argentine Export Tax. In 2003, the Argentine government enacted a new tax law affecting exporters of certain products, including grains and oilseeds. The law generally provides that in certain circumstances when an export is made to a related party that is not the final purchaser of the exported products, the income tax payable by the exporter with respect to such sales must be based on the greater of the contract price of the exported products or the market price of the products at the date of shipment. Final regulations clarifying the application of the new law have not yet been issued.

#### **Environmental Matters**

We are subject to various environmental protection and occupational health and safety laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate. We handle and dispose of materials and wastes classified as hazardous or toxic by one or more regulatory agencies in most of our business lines. Handling hazardous or toxic materials and wastes is inherently risky, and we incur costs to comply with health, safety and environmental regulations applicable to our operations.

Our total environmental compliance expenses were approximately \$20 million in 2003, \$7 million in 2002 and \$5 million in 2001. The increase in our environmental compliance expenses in 2003 was primarily due to a full year of combined operations with Cereol and \$7 million of expenses associated with certain facilities in the United States that we sold in 1995, which we reported as discontinued operations. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations did not materially affect our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position in 2003, and, based on current laws and regulations, we do not expect that they will do so in 2004.

#### **Legal Proceedings**

We are party to various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business. Although we cannot accurately predict the amount of any liability that may arise with respect to any of these matters, we do not expect any proceeding, if determined adversely to us, to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Although we vigorously defend all claims, we make provision for potential liabilities when we deem them probable and reasonably estimable. These provisions are based on current information and legal advice and are adjusted from time to time according to developments.

Our Brazilian subsidiaries are subject to pending tax claims by Brazilian federal, state and local tax authorities. As of December 31, 2003, these claims numbered approximately 934 individual cases, represented in the aggregate approximately \$420 million and averaged approximately \$450,000 per claim. The Brazilian tax claims relate to income tax claims, value added tax claims and sales tax claims. The determination of the manner in which various Brazilian federal, state and municipal taxes apply to our operations is subject to varying interpretations arising from the complex nature of Brazilian tax laws and changes in those laws. In addition, we have approximately 417 individual claims pending against Brazilian federal, state and local tax authorities to recover taxes previously paid by us. As of December 31, 2003, these claims represented in the aggregate approximately \$525 million and averaged approximately \$1.3 million per claim.

We are also party to a number of labor claims relating to our Brazilian operations. Court rulings under labor laws in Brazil have historically ruled in favor of the employee-plaintiff. We have reserved \$59 million as of December 31, 2003 in respect of these claims. The labor claims primarily relate to dismissals, severance, health and safety, salary adjustments and supplementary retirement benefits.

In April 2003, we entered into a settlement agreement with McCormick & Company, Incorporated, McCormick France SAS and Ducros S.A. relating to a claim for €155 million brought by McCormick over the purchase price of Ducros, which was sold to McCormick by Cereol in August 2000. Under the settlement agreement, we paid McCormick \$57 million. In connection with the settlement, we paid an

additional purchase price to Edison S.p.A., the former significant shareholder of Cereol, and Cereol's former public shareholders of approximately \$42 million in the aggregate.

In addition, we are involved in arbitration with Cereol's former joint venture partner over the final purchase price of Oleina Holding and related issues. Cereol purchased the 49% of Oleina it did not already own from its joint venture partner for \$27 million in February 2002. In April 2004, we were notified that the arbitration tribunal had determined the purchase price to be approximately \$73 million. Subsequently, Cereol's former joint venture partner submitted a request for rectification to increase the purchase price to approximately \$108 million. We are currently reviewing the decision of the arbitration tribunal and analyzing our alternatives with respect to this decision. We are entitled to be indemnified by Edison S.p.A, from whom we purchased Cereol in October 2002, for any portion of the final purchase price which exceeds \$39 million. Edison has informed us that it is currently evaluating whether the conditions precedent to this indemnification have been satisfied. We have assessed the collectibility of this receivable under the terms of our agreement with Edison and we believe this amount is fully collectible from Edison under the agreement.

Some employees of Lesieur at two of its former facilities in France have made claims for disability pensions from the French social security administration relating to illnesses potentially connected to asbestos exposure associated with production processes of certain discontinued product lines at the facilities. Lesieur is not named as a party to these claims. In addition, two cases are pending against Lesieur before the French social security courts to determine the extent of Lesieur's liability, if any, for asbestos exposure. In addition, one case related to asbestos exposure filed against Cereol in Italy by the heirs of a former employee was recently decided by the trial court in favor of the plaintiff for €300,000. We are appealing this decision. We are unable to predict the outcome of these proceedings or to predict whether additional claims will be filed in France, Italy or other European countries. While it is difficult to assess the potential liability for these claims, we do not expect that any liability would have a material adverse effect on our financial results or business.

The Brazilian securities commission is investigating Bunge Alimentos (formerly, Ceval Alimentos S.A.) and its former and current management for possible non-compliance with Brazilian accounting rules that occurred prior to our acquisition of Ceval Alimentos in 1997. The investigation was initiated by minority shareholders of Ceval Alimentos after we, pursuant to applicable Brazilian accounting regulations, reduced the company's corporate capital after the acquisition. We renamed the company Bunge Alimentos after the acquisition.

In April 2000, Bunge acquired Manah S.A., a Brazilian fertilizer company that had an indirect participation in Fosfertil. Fosfertil is the main Brazilian producer of phosphate used to produce NPK fertilizers. This acquisition was approved by the Brazilian antitrust commission in February 2004. The approval was conditioned on the formalization of an operational agreement between Bunge and the antitrust commission relating to the maintenance of existing competitive conditions in the fertilizer market. Although the terms of the operational agreement have not been finalized, Bunge does not expect them to have a material adverse impact on our business or financial results.

#### DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth the information for each of our directors, executive officers and key employees. Unless otherwise stated, the address for our directors, executive officers and key employees is care of Bunge Limited, 50 Main Street, White Plains, New York 10606.

Name Positions Alberto Weisser Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer Jorge Born, Jr. Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors Ernest G. Bachrach Director Director Enrique H. Boilini Carlos Braun Saint Director Michael H. Bulkin Director Octavio Caraballo Director Francis Coppinger Director Bernard de La Tour d'Auvergne Lauraguais Director William Engels Director Paul H. Hatfield Director Andrew J. Burke Managing Director, Soy Ingredients and New Business Development, **Bunge Limited** Archibald Gwathmey Managing Director, Agribusiness Division, Bunge Limited, and Chief Executive Officer, Bunge Global Markets, Inc. João Fernando Kfouri Managing Director, Food Products Division, Bunge Limited Flavio Sá Carvalho Chief Personnel Officer William M. Wells Chief Financial Officer President and Chief Executive Officer, Bunge Fertilizantes S.A. Mario A. Barbosa Neto Chief Executive Officer, Bunge Europe Jean-Louis Gourbin Carl L. Hausmann President and Chief Executive Officer, Bunge North America, Inc. President and Chief Executive Officer, Bunge Argentina S.A. Raul Padilla Sergio Roberto Waldrich President and Chief Executive Officer, Bunge Alimentos S.A.

Alberto Weisser, 49. Mr. Weisser is the Chairman of our board of directors and our Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Weisser has been with Bunge since July 1993. He has been a member of our board of directors since 1995, was appointed our Chief Executive Officer in January 1999 and became Chairman of the board of directors in July 1999. Prior to that, Mr. Weisser held the position of Chief Financial Officer. Prior to joining Bunge, Mr. Weisser worked for the BASF Group in various finance-related positions for 15 years. Mr. Weisser is also a member of the board of directors of Ferro Corporation and a member of the North American Agribusiness Advisory Board of Rabobank. He also serves as Chairman of Seara Alimentos S.A., a subsidiary of Mutual Investment Limited engaged in poultry and meat production. Mr. Weisser has a bachelor's degree in Business Administration from the University of São Paulo, Brazil and has participated in several post-graduate programs at Harvard Business School. He has also attended INSEAD's Management Development Program in France.

Jorge Born, Jr., 42. Mr. Born has been a member of our board of directors and our Deputy Chairman since 2001. Mr. Born is President and Chief Executive Officer of Bomagra S.A., a privately

held company involved in the real estate, technology and communications equipment, hotel construction and management, farming and waste management industries in Argentina. Mr. Born also serves on the Advisory Board of Hochschild Mining S.A., a South American mining conglomerate. He is also a director and Deputy Chairman of the board of directors of Mutual Investment Limited, our parent company prior to our initial public offering. Prior to joining Bomagra in 1997, Mr. Born spent all of his professional life working for Bunge in various capacities in the commodities trading, oilseed processing and food products areas in Argentina, Brazil, the United States and Europe. He also served as head of Bunge's European operations from 1992 to 1997. Mr. Born has a B.S. in Economics from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and is a member of Wharton's Latin American Executive Board and the Board of Governors of Wharton's Lauder Institute.

Ernest G. Bachrach, 51. Mr. Bachrach has been a member of our board of directors since 2001. He has been the Chief Executive Officer for Latin America and, since 1999 has been a member of the Executive Committee, of Advent International Corporation, a private equity firm. He has been with Advent since 1990. Prior to joining Advent, Mr. Bachrach worked as Senior Partner, European Investments, for Morningside Group, a private investment group. Mr. Bachrach also serves as a member of the boards of CardSystem Upsi S.A., Aeroplazas S.A. de C.V., Consultoria Internacional S.A. de C.V., Arabela Holding S.A. de C.V., Farmacologia Argentina de Avanzada, Atgal Investments Corporation and Fort Demider S.A. He is also the President of Universal Assistance S.A. and of GESA S.A. de C.V. He has a B.S. in Chemical Engineering from Lehigh University and an M.B.A. from Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration.

Enrique H. Boilini, 43. Mr. Boilini has been a member of our board of directors since 2001. He has been a Managing Member at Yellow Jersey Capital, LLC, an investment management company, since September 2002. Prior to establishing Yellow Jersey Capital, Mr. Boilini was a Managing Member of Farallon Capital Management, LLC and Farallon Partners, LLC, two investment management companies, since October 1996. Mr. Boilini joined Farallon in March 1995 as a Managing Director. Prior to that, Mr. Boilini also worked at Metallgessellschaft Corporation, as the head trader of emerging market debt and equity securities, and also served as a Vice President at The First Boston Corporation, where he was responsible for that company's activities in Argentina. Mr. Boilini is a member of the boards of Alpargatas SAIC and Copernico Argentina Fund Grand Cayman and he is a Managing Director and member of the board of Sovereign Debt Solutions Limited, an entity that acts as negotiating team for the Argentine Bond Restructuring Agency PLC (ABRA), a special purpose vehicle established for the sole function of aggregating bonds issued by Argentina and held by retail and small institutional investors outside the United States and representing those investors in the restructuring of Argentina's sovereign debt. Mr. Boilini received an M.B.A. from Columbia Business School in 1988 and a Civil Engineering degree from the University of Buenos Aires School of Engineering.

Carlos Braun Saint, 32. Mr. Braun Saint has been a member of our board of directors since 2001. Mr. Braun Saint is a Vice President and director of Agroexpress S.A., an agribusiness company in Argentina, a position he has held since January 2001. Mr. Braun Saint is also employed by Bellamar Estancias S.A., another Argentine agribusiness company, where he has worked since February 1999 and served on the board of directors since November 2002. Prior to that, he worked for the Private Banking division of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria for two years. Mr. Braun Saint is also a director of Mutual Investment Limited. Mr. Braun Saint attended Belgrano University in Argentina for four years.

Michael H. Bulkin, 65. Mr. Bulkin has been a member of our board of directors since 2001. Mr. Bulkin is a private investor. He retired as a Director of McKinsey & Company in 1993 after 30 years of service in which he served as a board member and in a variety of senior positions, most recently as head of McKinsey's New York and Northeast offices. Mr. Bulkin also serves as a member of the boards of Ferro Corporation, American Bridge Company and Specified Technologies Inc. He holds

a Bachelor of Engineering Science degree from Pratt Institute, and a Master of Industrial Administration from Yale University.

Octavio Caraballo, 60. Mr. Caraballo has been a member of our board of directors since 2001. Mr. Caraballo is President of Las Lilas S.A., an Argentine company. Mr. Caraballo joined Bunge in 1967, and served in various divisions over the course of his career, including as head of the Bunge group's former paints, chemicals and mining division, until his retirement in 1997. Prior to joining Bunge, he worked for several financial institutions in Europe. He is also a director of Mutual Investment Limited and has served as Chairman of the board of directors and President of Mutual Investment Limited. Mr. Caraballo received a Business Administration degree from Babson College and is a member of the Board of Trustees of Babson College.

Francis Coppinger, 53. Mr. Coppinger has been a member of our board of directors since 2001. He is Chief Executive Officer of Publicité Internationale Intermedia Plc (PII), a joint-venture he established with the Michelin Group in December 1992. Based in Brussels, PII coordinates the media activities of the Michelin Group in Europe. Prior to his career with PII, Mr. Coppinger held a number of senior executive positions, including General Manager and Chairman, with Intermedia, a media buying agency based in Paris. He is a member of the board of directors of Intermedia. He is also a director of Mutual Investment Limited. Mr. Coppinger holds a Bachelors degree in Economics from the University of Paris and attended the Institut d'Etudes Politiques de Paris.

Bernard de La Tour d'Auvergne Lauraguais, 59. Mr. de La Tour d'Auvergne Lauraguais has been a member of our board of directors since 2001. Mr. de La Tour d'Auvergne Lauraguais joined Bunge in 1970 and held various senior executive positions in Argentina, Brazil and Europe in the agribusiness and food products divisions until his retirement in 1994. He is also the Chairman of the board of directors of Mutual Investment Limited. Mr. de La Tour d'Auvergne Lauraguais has a degree in Civil Engineering from the Federal Polytechnic School of the University of Lausanne, Switzerland and an M.B.A. from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.

William Engels, 44. Mr. Engels has been a member of our board of directors since 2001. From September 2002 to January 2003, he was head of mergers and acquisitions at Quinsa, a Luxembourg-based holding company listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Engels has also served as Group Controller and as Manager of Corporate Finance at Quinsa, beginning in 1992. In 2003, Mr. Engels joined the board of directors of Quinsa as the representative of Beverage Associates (BAC) Corp. Prior to joining Quinsa, Mr. Engels served as Vice President at Citibank, N.A. in London, responsible for European sales of Latin American investment products. He is also a director of Mutual Investment Limited. Mr. Engels also serves as a member of the board of BISA, a fund with diversified investments in different industries. Mr. Engels holds a B.S. from Babson College, an M.A. from the University of Pennsylvania and an M.B.A. from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.

Paul H. Hatfield, 68. Mr. Hatfield has been a member of our board of directors since 2002. He is also the Principal of Hatfield Capital Group, a private equity investment firm that he founded in 1997. From 1995 to 1997, Mr. Hatfield was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Petrolite Corporation, a chemical company. Before joining Petrolite, Mr. Hatfield spent over 35 years at the Ralston Purina Company in a variety of management positions. Mr. Hatfield also serves as a member of the board of directors of the Boyce Thompson Institute at Cornell University, Solutia, Inc., Maritz, Inc. and PENFORD Corporation. In addition, Mr. Hatfield has been a member of the Advisory Board of the Institute of International Business at St. Louis University since 1985. Mr. Hatfield has a Bachelor of Science in Agricultural Economics and a Master of Science in Economics and Marketing, both received from Kansas State University.

Andrew J. Burke, 48. Mr. Burke has been the Managing Director of our soy ingredients and new business development since January 2002. Previously, Mr. Burke served as Chief Executive Officer of

the U.S. subsidiary of Degussa AG, the German chemical company. He joined Degussa in 1983, where he held a variety of finance and marketing positions, including Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President of the chemical group. Prior to joining Degussa, Mr. Burke worked for Beecham Pharmaceuticals and Price Waterhouse & Company. Mr. Burke is a graduate of Villanova University, is licensed as a certified public accountant and earned an M.B.A. from Manhattan College.

Archibald Gwathmey, 52. Mr. Gwathmey has been the Managing Director of our agribusiness division since December 2002 and Chief Executive Officer of Bunge Global Markets, Inc., our international marketing division, since 1999. Mr. Gwathmey joined Bunge in 1975 as a trainee and has over 25 years experience in commodities trading and oilseed processing. During his career with Bunge, he has served as head of the U.S. grain division and head of the U.S. oilseed processing division. Mr. Gwathmey graduated from Harvard College with a B.A. in Classics and English. He has also served as a Director of the National Oilseed Processors Association.

João Fernando Kfouri, 65. Mr. Kfouri has been the Managing Director of our food products division since May 1, 2001. Prior to that, Mr. Kfouri was employed for 18 years with Joseph E. Seagram and Sons Ltd., most recently as President of the Americas division, with responsibility for North and South American operations. Prior to that, Mr. Kfouri worked for General Foods Corp., where he served in numerous capacities, including General Manager of Venezuelan operations. Mr. Kfouri received a degree in Business from the São Paulo School of Business Administration of the Getulio Vargas Foundation.

Flavio Sá Carvalho, 60. Mr. Carvalho has been our Chief Personnel Officer since 1998. Prior to joining Bunge, he served as Vice President of Human Resources at Aetna International, Inc. since 1994. Prior to that, he was with Bank of America for 12 years in multiple capacities, including Director of Human Resources for their Latin American operations, International Compensation and Benefits, Corporate Staffing and Planning and Vice President of International Human Resources. Mr. Sá Carvalho studied Mass Communications in Brazil and holds an M.S. in Education Research and Development from Florida State University.

William M. Wells, 43. Mr. Wells has been our Chief Financial Officer since January 2000. Prior to that, Mr. Wells was with McDonald's Corporation for ten years, where he served in numerous capacities, including chief executive of System Capital Corporation, the McDonald's System's dedicated finance company, Chief Financial Officer of McDonald's Brazil and Director of both U.S. and Latin American finance. Before McDonald's, Mr. Wells was with Citibank N.A. in Brazil and New York. He has a Master's Degree in International Business from the University of South Carolina.

Mario A. Barbosa Neto, 57. Mr. Barbosa Neto has been the President and Chief Executive Officer of Bunge Fertilizantes S.A. since 1996 with the formation of Fertilizantes Serrana S.A., the predecessor company of Bunge Fertilizantes S.A. Mr. Barbosa Neto has over 20 years experience in the Brazilian fertilizer industry. Prior to joining Serrana, he served as superintendent of Fosfertil S.A. from 1992 to 1996 and was the Chief Financial Officer of Manah S.A. from 1980 to 1992. Mr. Barbosa Neto has a B.S. in Engineering from the University of São Paulo and an M.B.A. from the Getulio Vargas Foundation. In addition to serving on the board of directors of Bunge Fertilizantes and Bunge Brasil, he serves as President of the Administrative Council of Fosbrasil S.A., and is a board member of Fertifós, Ultrafertil, Alpargatas Santista Têxtil and Bunge Alimentos. Mr. Barbosa Neto is also Vice President of the International Fertilizer Association.

Jean-Louis Gourbin, 56. Mr. Goubin has been the Chief Executive Officer of Bunge Europe since January 2004. Prior to that, Mr. Gourbin was with the Danone Group, where he served as Executive Vice President of Danone and President of its Biscuits and Cereal Products division since 1999. Before joining the Danone Group, Mr. Gourbin worked for more than 15 years with the Kellogg Company, where he last occupied the positions of President of Kellogg Europe and Executive Vice President of

Kellogg. He has also held positions at Ralston Purina and CPC. Mr. Gourbin holds both a Bachelor's and a Master's degree in Economics from the Sorbonne.

Carl L. Hausmann, 57. Mr. Hausmann has been the President and Chief Executive Officer of Bunge North America, Inc. since January 2004. Prior to that, he served as the Chief Executive Officer of Bunge Europe since October 15, 2002. Prior to that, he was the Chief Executive Officer of Cereol S.A. Mr. Hausmann was Chief Executive Officer of Cereol since its inception on July 1, 2001. Prior to that, Cereol was a 100%-owned subsidiary of Eridania Beghin-Say. Mr. Hausmann worked in various capacities for Eridania Beghin-Say beginning in 1992. From 1978 to 1992, he worked for Continental Grain Company. He has served as director of the National Oilseed Processors Association and as the President and Director of Fediol, the European Oilseed Processors Association. Mr. Hausmann has a B.S. degree from Boston College and an M.B.A. from INSEAD.

Raul Padilla, 48. Mr. Padilla is the President and Chief Executive Officer of Bunge Argentina S.A., our oilseed processing and grain origination subsidiary in Argentina. He joined the company in 1991, becoming Chief Executive Officer and Commercial Director in 1999. Mr. Padilla has over 23 years experience in the oilseed processing and grain handling industries in Argentina, beginning his career with La Plata Cereal in 1977. He serves as President of the Argentinean National Oilseed Crushers Association, Vice President of the International Association of Seed Crushers and is a director of the Buenos Aires Cereal Exchange and the Rosario Futures Exchange. Mr. Padilla is a graduate of the University of Buenos Aires.

Sergio Roberto Waldrich, 46. Mr. Waldrich has been the President of Bunge Alimentos S.A. since 2002. Prior to becoming the President of Bunge Alimentos, Mr. Waldrich was President of the Ceval Division of Bunge Alimentos for two years. He joined Ceval Alimentos as a trainee in 1972. Mr. Waldrich worked in various production positions over his career with the company, eventually serving as head of the poultry division. When the poultry division was spun off by Bunge into a separate company, Seara Alimentos S.A., Mr. Waldrich was named Vice President and General Manager of that company. He rejoined Ceval Alimentos in August 2000 as General Director and has been its President since the formation of Bunge Alimentos. Mr. Waldrich has a degree in Chemical Engineering from the University of Blumenau and an M.B.A. from the University of Florianópolis. Mr. Waldrich is the former President of the Brazilian Port Industry Association and the Brazilian Port Export Association.

#### PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common shares for each person, or group of affiliated persons, who is known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common shares. All holders of our common shares are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of holders of common shares. The voting rights attached to common shares held by our major shareholders do not differ from those that attach to common shares held by any other holder. To our knowledge, based on information provided by Mellon Investor Services LLC, our transfer agent, at March 31, 2004, there were 100,203,786 of our common shares issued and outstanding held by approximately 173 shareholders of record, which does not include persons whose common shares are held of record by a bank, brokerage house or clearing agency.

	Snares Benefic	nany Owned
Name of Beneficial Owner	Number	Percent(1)
Wellington Management Company, LLP(2)	9,385,600	9.37%
Franklin Resources, Inc.(3)	7,476,435	7.46%
Charles B. Johnson(3)	7,476,435	7.46%
Rupert H. Johnson, Jr.(3)	7,476,435	7.46%

- (1) Based on 100,203,786 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2004.
- Based on information filed by Wellington Management Company, LLP with the SEC on Schedule 13G on February 12, 2004. Based on the Schedule 13G, Wellington Management Company, LLP, in its capacity as investment advisor, may be deemed to beneficially own 9,385,600 common shares that are held of record by its clients.
- Based on information filed by Franklin Resources, Inc., Charles B. Johnson, Rupert H. Johnson, Jr. and Franklin Advisers, Inc. with the SEC on Schedule 13G on February 10, 2004. Based on the Schedule 13G, Mr. Charles Johnson and Mr. Rupert Johnson, Jr. may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the 7,476,435 shares with Franklin Resources, Inc. by virtue of each owning in excess of 10% of the outstanding common stock of Franklin Resources, Inc. Franklin Resources, Inc. is a parent holding company and our common shares are held by certain of its investment advisory subsidiaries. These investment advisory subsidiaries have the following holdings: Franklin Advisers, Inc. has the sole power to direct the vote of and dispose of 5,398,387 of such shares; Franklin Advisory Services, LLC has the sole power to direct the vote of and dispose of 2,017,500 of such shares; Franklin Private Client Group, Inc. has the sole power to dispose of 48 of such shares; and Fiduciary Trust Company International has the sole power to direct the vote of and dispose of 60,500 of such shares. Based on the Schedule 13G, each of Franklin Resources, Inc., its investment advisory subsidiaries, Mr. Charles Johnson and Mr. Rupert Johnson disclaim any economic interest or beneficial ownership of our common shares.

#### DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

The following description is a summary of our memorandum of association, the rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to our shares and our bye-laws. These summaries do not purport to be complete and are subject to, and are qualified in their entirety by reference to, all of the provisions of our memorandum of association and bye-laws, copies of which have been filed as exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part. Please also see "Item 10B. Additional Information Memorandum and Articles of Association" in our 2003 Annual Report, incorporated herein by reference. See "Where You Can Find More Information" and "Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference."

#### General

We are a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Bermuda. We are registered with the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda under registration number EC20791. We were incorporated on May 18, 1995 under the name Bunge Agribusiness Limited, and our name was changed to Bunge Limited on February 5, 1999. Our registered office is located at 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda.

The objects of our business are set out in paragraph 6 of our memorandum of association. Our objects include:

to carry on the business of the production, development, processing, manufacturing, purchasing, handling, selling and trading of, and otherwise dealing in, all types of agricultural produce and commodities and their derivatives and all types of animals and animal products and their derivatives and all types of branded food products;

to carry on the business of seed crushing, oil extraction by crushing and any other processes and milling;

to carry on the business of mining and quarrying of fertilizer raw materials and the production, development, processing, manufacturing, purchasing, handling, selling and trading of, and otherwise dealing in, fertilizers of every description;

to carry on the business of logistics and transportation services;

to do any of the foregoing by electronic means, including over the Internet;

to act and perform all of the functions of a holding company;

to acquire and own securities and other property with a view to investment;

to provide financing and financial services and to make financial accommodation and to advance and lend money or other property to any company in our group; and

other financing and general objects.

Since 1998, other than increasing our authorized share capital, effecting a share exchange with our sole shareholder to reduce the par value of our common shares, authorizing a 52.65-to-1 share dividend in respect of our contributed surplus, authorizing the creation of preference shares, the issuance of 17,600,000 common shares at a the price of \$16.00 per share in our initial public offering in August 2001, the issuance of 13,743,633 common shares at the price of \$19.00 per share in a public offering in March 2002, the issuance of \$250 million principal amount of 3<sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub>% convertible notes due 2022 in October 2002 and the common shares issued in connection with grants under our Non-Employee Directors' Equity Incentive Plan and Employee Equity Incentive Plan, there have been no material changes to our share capital. For more information about the Non-Employee Directors' Equity Incentive Plan and Employee Equity Incentive Plan, see "Item 6B. Directors, Senior Management and Employees Compensation" in our 2003 Annual Report. There have been no bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings with respect to us or our subsidiaries.

There have been no public takeover offers by third parties for our shares nor have we made any public takeover offers for the shares of another company during the last or current financial years, except as described under "Business Information on the Company History and Development of the Company Principal Capital Expenditures, Acquisitions and Divestitures" in our 2003 Annual Report, incorporated herein by reference.

### **Share Capital**

Our authorized share capital consists of 240,000,000 common shares, par value \$.01 per share, 240,000 Series A Preference Shares, par value \$.01 per share, and 9,760,000 undesignated preference shares, par value \$.01 per share. Upon completion of this offering, assuming the underwriters do not exercise their over-allotment option, there will be approximately 108,703,786 common shares issued and outstanding and no preference shares issued and outstanding. All of our issued and outstanding common shares prior to completion of this offering are and will be fully paid, and all of our shares to be issued in this offering will be issued fully paid.

Pursuant to our bye-laws, and subject to the requirements of any stock exchange on which our shares are listed, our board of directors is authorized to issue any of our authorized but unissued shares. Subject to certain exceptions, including public offers for cash, any issuance of common shares or securities convertible into common shares in excess of 20% of the voting power or number of the common shares outstanding before such issuance requires shareholder approval. There are no limitations on the right of non-Bermudians or non-residents of Bermuda to hold or vote our shares.

#### **Common Shares**

Holders of common shares have no pre-emptive, redemption, conversion or sinking fund rights. Holders of common shares are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of holders of common shares. Unless a different majority is required by law or by our bye-laws, resolutions to be approved by holders of common shares require approval by a simple majority of votes cast at a meeting at which a quorum is present.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders of common shares are entitled to share equally and ratably in our assets, if any, remaining after the payment of all of our debts and liabilities, subject to any liquidation preference on any outstanding preference shares.

### **Preference Shares**

Pursuant to Bermuda law and our bye-laws, our board of directors by resolution may establish one or more series of preference shares having such number of shares, designations, dividend rates, relative voting rights, conversion or exchange rights, redemption rights, liquidation rights and other relative participation, optional or other special rights, qualifications, limitations or restrictions as may be fixed by the board without any further shareholder approval. Such rights, preferences, powers and limitations as may be established could also have the effect of discouraging an attempt to obtain control of us. See "Shareholder Rights Plan" below.

Our board of directors has designated 240,000 preference shares as Series A Preference Shares, par value \$.01 per share. Other than the issuance of the Series A Preference Shares authorized by the board in connection with our shareholder rights plan, we have no present plans to issue any preference shares. The terms of the Series A Preference Shares are summarized below under "Shareholder Rights Plan."

#### **Dividend Rights**

Under Bermuda law, a company's board of directors may declare and pay dividends from time to time unless there are reasonable grounds for believing that the company is or would, after the payment, be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or that the realizable value of its assets would

thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and issued share capital and share premium accounts. Under our bye-laws, each common share is entitled to dividends if, as and when dividends are declared by our board of directors, subject to any preferred dividend right of the holders of any preference shares. There are no restrictions on our ability to transfer funds (other than funds denominated in Bermuda dollars) in or out of Bermuda or to pay dividends to U.S. residents who are holders of our common shares.

#### Variation of Rights

If at any time we have more than one class of shares, the rights attaching to any class, unless otherwise provided for by the terms of issue of the relevant class, may be varied either: (1) with the consent in writing of the holders of 75% of the issued shares of that class; or (2) with the sanction of a resolution passed by a majority of the votes cast at a general meeting of the relevant class of shareholders at which a quorum shall be two or more persons holding or representing by proxy one-third of the issued shares of the class. Our bye-laws specify that the creation or issue of shares ranking equally with existing shares will not, unless expressly provided by the terms of issue of those shares, vary the rights attached to existing shares. In addition, the creation or issue of preference shares ranking senior to common shares will not be deemed to vary the rights attached to common shares.

#### **Transfer of Shares**

Our board of directors may, in its absolute discretion and without assigning any reason, refuse to register the transfer of a share that is not fully paid. Our board of directors may also refuse to recognize an instrument of transfer of a share unless it is accompanied by the relevant share certificate and such other evidence of the transferor's right to make the transfer as our board of directors shall reasonably require. Subject to these restrictions, a holder of common shares may transfer the title to all or any of his common shares by completing a form of transfer in the form set out in our bye-laws (or as near thereto as circumstances admit) or in such other common form as the board may accept. The instrument of transfer must be signed by the transferor and transferee, although, in the case of a fully paid share, our board of directors may accept the instrument signed only by the transferor. The board may also accept mechanically executed transfers. Share transfers may also be affected through our transfer agent and may be made electronically.

#### Meetings of Shareholders

Under Bermuda law, a company is required to convene at least one general meeting of shareholders each calendar year. Bermuda law provides that a special general meeting of shareholders may be called by the board of directors of a company and must be called upon the request of shareholders holding not less than 10% of the paid-up capital of the company carrying the right to vote. Bermuda law also requires that shareholders be given at least five days' advance notice of a general meeting, but the accidental omission to give notice to any person does not invalidate the proceedings at a meeting. Our bye-laws provide that either the chairman or our board of directors may convene an annual general meeting or a special general meeting. Under our bye-laws, at least twenty-one days' notice of an annual general meeting or a special general meeting must be given to each shareholder entitled to vote at such meeting. This notice requirement is subject to the ability to hold such meetings on shorter notice if such notice is agreed: (i) in the case of an annual general meeting, by all of the shareholders entitled to attend and vote at such meeting; or (ii) in the case of a special general meeting, by a majority in number of the shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the meeting holding not less than 95% of the shares entitled to vote at such meeting. The quorum required for a general meeting of shareholders is two or more persons present in person at the start of the meeting and representing in person or by proxy in excess of 50% of the paid-up voting share capital.

#### Access to Books and Records and Dissemination of Information

Members of the general public have the right to inspect the public documents of a company available at the office of the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda. These documents include the company's memorandum of association, including its objects and powers, and certain alterations to its memorandum of association. The shareholders have the additional right to inspect the bye-laws of the company, minutes of general meetings and the company's audited financial statements, which must be presented at the annual general meeting. The register of shareholders of a company is also open to inspection by shareholders without charge and by members of the general public on the payment of a fee. The register of shareholders is required to be open for inspection for not less than two hours in any business day (subject to the ability of a company to close the register of shareholders for not more than thirty days in a year). A company is required to maintain its share register in Bermuda but may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 1981, establish a branch register outside Bermuda. A company is required to keep at its registered office a register of directors and officers that is open for inspection by members of the public without charge for not less than two hours in any business day. Bermuda law does not, however, provide a general right for shareholders to inspect or obtain copies of any other corporate records.

#### **Election and Removal of Directors**

Our bye-laws provide that our board consists of between five and eleven directors or such greater number as the board and the shareholders may determine. Our board of directors consists of eleven directors. The lesser of one-third or two of our directors may be employed by us or by any other entity in our group. Our board is divided into three classes that are, as nearly as possible, of equal size. Each class of directors is elected for a three-year term of office, but the terms are staggered so that the term of only one class of directors expires at each annual general meeting. There is also no requirement in our bye-laws or Bermuda law that our directors must retire at a certain age.

Any shareholder wishing to propose for election as a director a person who is not an existing director or is not proposed by our board must give notice to the company of the intention to propose that person for election. The notice must be given not later than 90 days before the first anniversary of the last annual general meeting, or ten days after the notice of the general meeting at which the directors will be elected is given, whichever is earlier.

A director may be removed for cause by a majority of shareholder votes cast at a meeting at which a quorum is present, provided notice is given to the director of the shareholders' meeting convened to remove the director. A director may be removed without cause upon the affirmative vote of at least 66% of all votes attaching to all shares then in issue entitling the holder to attend and vote on the resolution, provided notice is given to the director of the shareholders' meeting convened to remove the director. The notice must contain a statement of the intention to remove the director and, if the removal is for cause, a summary of the facts justifying the removal and must be served on the director not less than fourteen days before the meeting. The director is entitled to attend the meeting and be heard on the motion for his removal.

Our board of directors can fill any vacancy occurring as a result of the removal, resignation, insolvency, death or incapacity of a director.

### **Proceedings of Board of Directors**

Our bye-laws provide that our business is to be managed and conducted by our board of directors. Bermuda law requires that our directors be individuals. There is no requirement in our bye-laws or Bermuda law that directors hold any of our shares.

The remuneration of our directors is determined by our board of directors, and there is no requirement that a specified number or percentage of "independent" directors must approve any such

determination. Our directors may also be paid all travel, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by them in connection with our business or their duties as directors.

Provided a director discloses a direct or indirect interest in any contract or arrangement with us as required by Bermuda law, such director is entitled to vote in respect of any such contract or arrangement in which he or she is interested, unless he or she is disqualified from voting by the chairman of the relevant board meeting. Under Bermuda law, a director (including the spouse or children of the director or any company of which such director, spouse or children own or control more than 20% of the capital or loan debt) cannot borrow from us (except loans made to directors who are bona fide employees or former employees pursuant to an employees' share scheme), unless shareholders holding 90% of the total voting rights have consented to the loan.

#### Waiver of Claims by Shareholders; Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Our bye-laws contain a provision by virtue of which our shareholders waive any claim or right of action that they have, both individually and on our behalf, against any director or officer in relation to any action or failure to take action by such director or officer, except in respect of any fraud or dishonesty of such director or officer. We have been advised by the SEC that, in the opinion of the SEC, the operation of this provision as a waiver of the right to sue for violations of federal securities laws would likely be unenforceable in U.S. courts. Our bye-laws also indemnify our directors and officers in respect of their actions and omissions, except in respect of their fraud or dishonesty.

#### Merger, Amalgamations and Business Combinations

The merger or amalgamation of a Bermuda company with another company or corporation (other than certain affiliated companies) requires the merger or amalgamation agreement to be approved by the company's board of directors and by its shareholders. Such shareholder approval, unless the bye-laws otherwise provide, requires 75% of the shareholders voting at such meeting in respect of which the quorum shall be two persons at least holding or representing more than one-third of the issued shares of the company. Our bye-laws provide that a merger or amalgamation (other than with a wholly-owned subsidiary) that has been approved by our board must only be approved by a majority of the votes cast at a general meeting of our shareholders at which the quorum shall be two or more persons representing more than one-half of the paid-up share capital carrying the right to vote. Any merger, amalgamation or other business combination (as defined in our bye-laws) not approved by our board must be approved by the holders of not less than 66% of all votes attaching to all shares then in issue entitling the holder to attend and vote on the resolution.

# Amendment of Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws

Bermuda law provides that the memorandum of association of a company may be amended by a resolution passed at a general meeting of shareholders of which due notice has been given. Our bye-laws provide that no bye-law shall be rescinded, altered or amended, and no new bye-law shall be made, unless it shall have been approved by a resolution of our board of directors and by a resolution of the shareholders. In the case of the bye-laws relating to election of directors, approval of business combinations and amendment of bye-law provisions, the required resolutions must include the affirmative vote of at least 66% of our directors then in office and of at least 66% percent of all votes attaching to all shares then in issue entitling the holder to attend and vote on the resolution, and, in the case of the bye-law relating to the removal of directors, the requisite affirmative votes are a simple majority of the directors then in office and at least 66% of all votes attaching to all shares then in issue entitling the holder to attend and vote on the resolution, and, in the case of the bye-laws relating to the issuance of unissued shares or other securities or instruments, the requisite affirmative votes are a simple majority of the directors then in office and at least 66% of the shares voting.

Under Bermuda law, the holders of an aggregate of not less than 20% in par value of any class of the company's share capital have the right to apply to the Bermuda courts for an annulment of any

amendment of the memorandum of association adopted by shareholders at any general meeting, other than an amendment which alters or reduces a company's share capital as provided in the Companies Act 1981. Where such an application is made, the amendment becomes effective only to the extent that it is confirmed by the Bermuda court. An application for an annulment of an amendment of the memorandum of association must be made within twenty-one days after the date on which the resolution altering the company's memorandum of association is passed and may be made on behalf of persons entitled to make the application by one or more of their number as they may appoint in writing for the purpose. No application may be made by shareholders voting in favor of the amendment.

#### **Appraisal Rights and Shareholder Suits**

Under Bermuda law, in the event of an amalgamation of a Bermuda company with another company or corporation, a shareholder of the Bermuda company who is not satisfied that fair value has been offered for such shareholder's shares may apply to a Bermuda court within one month of notice of the shareholders meeting to appraise the fair value of those shares.

Class actions and derivative actions are generally not available to shareholders under Bermuda law. The Bermuda courts, however, would ordinarily be expected to permit a shareholder to commence an action in the name of a company to remedy a wrong to the company where the act complained of is alleged to be beyond the corporate power of the company or is illegal or would result in the violation of the company's memorandum of association or bye-laws. Furthermore, consideration would be given by a Bermuda court to acts that are alleged to constitute a fraud against the minority shareholders or, for instance, where an act requires the approval of a greater percentage of the company's shareholders than that which actually approved it.

When the affairs of a company are being conducted in a manner which is oppressive or prejudicial to the interests of some part of the shareholders, one or more shareholders may apply to a Bermuda court, which may make such order as it sees fit, including an order regulating the conduct of the company's affairs in the future or ordering the purchase of the shares of any shareholders by other shareholders or by the company.

#### **Capitalization of Profits and Reserves**

Pursuant to our bye-laws, our board of directors may (i) capitalize any part of the amount of our share premium or other reserve accounts or any amount credited to our profit and loss account or otherwise available for distribution by applying such sum in paying up unissued shares to be allotted as fully paid bonus shares *pro rata* (except in connection with the conversion of shares) to the shareholders; or (ii) capitalize any sum credited to a reserve account or sums otherwise available for dividend or distribution by paying up in full partly paid shares of those shareholders who would have been entitled to such sums if they were distributed by way of dividend or distribution.

## Registrar or Transfer Agent

A register of holders of the common shares is maintained by Codan Services Limited in Bermuda, and a branch register is maintained in the United States by Mellon Investor Services L.L.C., which serves as branch registrar and transfer agent.

#### **Untraced Shareholders**

Our bye-laws provide that our board of directors may forfeit any dividend or other monies payable in respect of any shares which remain unclaimed for twelve years from the date when such monies became due for payment. In addition, we are entitled to cease sending checks or dividend warrants by post or otherwise to a shareholder if such instruments have been returned undelivered to, or left uncashed by, such shareholder on at least two consecutive occasions or, following one such occasion,

reasonable enquiries have failed to establish the shareholder's new address. This entitlement ceases if the shareholder claims a dividend or cashes a dividend check or a warrant.

#### Certain Provisions of Bermuda Law

We have been designated by the Bermuda Monetary Authority as a non-resident for Bermuda exchange control purposes. This designation allows us to engage in transactions in currencies other than the Bermuda dollar, and there are no restrictions on our ability to transfer funds (other than funds denominated in Bermuda dollars) in and out of Bermuda or to pay dividends to U.S. residents who are holders of our common shares.

The Bermuda Monetary Authority has given its consent for the issue and free transferability of all of the common shares that are the subject of this offering to and between non-residents of Bermuda for exchange control purposes, provided our shares remain listed on an appointed stock exchange, which includes the New York Stock Exchange. Approvals or permissions given by the Bermuda Monetary Authority do not constitute a guarantee by the Bermuda Monetary Authority as to our performance or our creditworthiness. Accordingly, in giving such consent or permissions, the Bermuda Monetary Authority shall not be liable for the financial soundness, performance or default of our business or for the correctness of any opinions or statements expressed in this prospectus. Certain issues and transfers of common shares involving persons deemed resident in Bermuda for exchange control purposes require the specific consent of the Bermuda Monetary Authority.

This prospectus will be filed with the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda pursuant to Part III of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. In accepting this prospectus for filing, the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda shall not be liable for the financial soundness, performance or default of our business or for the correctness of any opinions or statements expressed in this prospectus.

In accordance with Bermuda law, share certificates are only issued in the names of companies, partnerships or individuals. In the case of a shareholder acting in a special capacity (for example as a trustee), certificates may, at the request of the shareholder, record the capacity in which the shareholder is acting. Notwithstanding such recording of any special capacity, we are not bound to investigate or see to the execution of any such trust. We will take no notice of any trust applicable to any of our shares, whether or not we have been notified of such trust.

#### **Shareholder Rights Plan**

Our Board has adopted an amended and restated shareholder rights plan. Under the rights plan, one right will be issued and will attach to each outstanding common share. Each right will entitle the holder, in certain circumstances, to purchase from us a unit consisting of one one-thousandth of a Series A Preference Share at an exercise price of \$29.02 per right, subject to adjustment in certain events. At our 2003 annual general meeting, our shareholders approved amendments to the plan which extended its term to August 1, 2007 and permit future extensions of its term to be submitted to a shareholder vote at any annual general meeting or special general meeting convened prior to its scheduled expiration. For a more detailed description of the shareholder rights plan, see "Description of Share Capital" in our Registration Statement on Form F-1, as amended (Registration No. 333-81322), filed on March 8, 2002, which description is incorporated herein by reference, and to review a copy of our rights plan, see our Amended and Restated Shareholder Rights Plan, which is filed as an exhibit to our 2003 Annual Report.

#### SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

After this offering, we will have approximately 108,703,786 common shares issued and outstanding, assuming no exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option and excluding 7,778,425 million common shares issuable upon conversion of our 3.75% convertible notes due 2022, which notes are presently convertible, and common shares currently reserved for issuance under our equity incentive plans. All of the common shares sold in this offering will be freely tradeable under the Securities Act, unless held by our "affiliates," as that term is defined by the SEC. Shares that are owned by our affiliates may be sold in the public market subject to the restrictions of Rule 144 under the Securities Act. As of December 31, 2003, approximately 2,013,587 of our issued and outstanding common shares were beneficially owned by our directors and executive officers.

The convertible notes are convertible at the option of a holder into our common shares during, among other circumstances, any calendar quarter in which the closing price of our common shares for at least 20 of the last 30 trading days of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is more than 120% of the conversion price of \$32.1402, or approximately \$38.57 per share. The closing price condition was satisfied as of March 31, 2004 and the convertible notes may be converted at the option of the holder. The convertible notes will remain convertible until June 30, 2004, unless the closing price condition described above is satisfied again at June 30, 2004, at which point the convertible notes will remain convertible for another calendar quarter.

We, our directors, executive officers and key employees will enter into lock-up agreements that provide that, subject to limited exceptions described in "Underwriting," for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus, we and they will not directly or indirectly, offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase or otherwise dispose of any of our common shares or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for our common shares, or in any manner transfer all or a portion of the economic consequences associated with the ownership of our common shares, or cause a registration statement covering any of our common shares to be filed, without the prior written consent of Credit Suisse First Boston LLC. After the expiration of the lock-up agreements, the common shares beneficially owned by our directors, executive officers and key employees will be freely eligible for sale in the public market, subject to Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

We have filed registration statements on Form S-8 covering the sale of our common shares issued under our employee equity incentive plan and our non-employee directors' equity incentive plan. Accordingly, common shares registered under those registrations will be available for sale in the public market upon issuance of common shares pursuant to those plans, unless those common shares are subject to vesting restrictions or subject to limitation on resale by "affiliates" pursuant to Rule 144.

## **Registration Rights Agreement**

We granted to the shareholders of Mutual Investment Limited, who became shareholders of our company as part of our initial public offering in 2001, demand and piggyback registration rights under a registration rights agreement. The demand registration rights provide the holders with the right, subject to certain conditions and limitations, to request that we effect a registration of all or a portion of their shares on up to three occasions over a four year period beginning 180 days after the date of the prospectus relating to our initial public offering of August 2001. The piggyback registration rights provide the holders with the right, subject to certain conditions and limitations, to include those common shares owned by them in any registration of our common shares or equity securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common shares made by us for our own account or the account of any other person, including the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, over a six year period beginning 180 days after the date of the prospectus relating to our initial public offering of August 2001. These shareholders have elected not to include their common shares as a part of this offering. Collectively, these shareholders own approximately 47 million common shares, all of which are subject to the terms of the registration rights agreement.

#### CERTAIN TAX CONSIDERATIONS

#### **Bermuda Tax Consequences**

The following discussion is the opinion of Conyers Dill & Pearman, our special Bermuda tax counsel. At the present time, there is no Bermuda income or profits tax, withholding tax, capital gains tax, capital transfer tax, estate duty or inheritance tax payable by us or by our shareholders in respect of our shares. We have obtained an assurance from the Minister of Finance of Bermuda under the Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act 1966 that, in the event that any legislation is enacted in Bermuda imposing any tax computed on profits or income, or computed on any capital asset, gain or appreciation or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, such tax shall not, until March 28, 2016, be applicable to us or to any of our operations or to our shares, debentures or other obligations except insofar as such tax applies to persons ordinarily resident in Bermuda or to any taxes payable by us in respect of real property or leasehold interests in Bermuda held by us.

#### **United States Federal Income Tax Consequences**

The following discussion, except for the specific discussion regarding Bunge's possible U.S. federal income tax characterization as a passive foreign investment company (a "PFIC") under the caption " Passive Foreign Investment Company Status," is the opinion of Shearman & Sterling LLP, our special U.S. federal tax counsel, as to the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our shares that may be relevant to you if you are a U.S. holder (as defined below). For purposes of this discussion, a "U.S. holder" is a beneficial owner of our shares that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, is (i) a citizen or individual resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, or other entity taxed as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof, (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source, or (iv) a trust if a court within the U.S. is able to exercise primary supervision over its administration, and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all of its substantial decisions. The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in a partnership that holds our shares will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partners in such partnerships should consult their own tax advisors.

This discussion does not address all of the U.S. federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to you in light of your particular circumstances, and does not discuss any aspect of state, local or non-U.S. tax law. Moreover, this discussion deals only with our shares that you will hold as capital assets (generally, property held for investment), and does not apply to you if you are a member of a class of holders subject to special tax rules, such as banks, insurance companies, securities dealers, partnerships or other pass-through entities, tax-exempt organizations, persons that hold our shares as part of an integrated investment (including a straddle), persons owning, directly, indirectly or constructively, 10% or more of our voting stock and persons whose "functional currency" is not the U.S. dollar. This discussion is based on provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, and administrative and judicial interpretations thereof, all as now in effect, and all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect, and to different interpretations.

If you are considering buying our shares, we urge you to consult your own tax advisor as to the tax consequences relevant to the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our shares in light of your particular circumstances, including the effect of any state, local or non-U.S. tax laws.

#### Distributions

Subject to discussion below under "Passive Foreign Investment Company Status," a distribution of cash or property received by a U.S. holder in respect of our shares generally will be considered a

taxable dividend, and will be includible in U.S. holder's gross income, to the extent paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes). In the event that a distribution exceeds the amount of such current and accumulated earnings and profits, the excess will be treated first as a nontaxable return of capital to the extent of U.S. holder's adjusted tax basis in our shares, and, thereafter, as capital gain.

The gross amount of any taxable dividend will be subject to U.S. federal income tax as ordinary dividend income and will not be eligible for the corporate dividends-received deduction. Pursuant to recently enacted legislation, dividends in respect of our shares paid to certain U.S. holders (including individuals) in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2009 may qualify for preferential rates of U.S. federal income tax provided that our shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States (and provided that we are not a PFIC, as described below, and certain other requirements, including with respect to the holder's holding period, are satisfied). Although we believe that our shares currently are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States, no assurance can be given that our shares will remain readily tradable for this purpose. U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the effect of the recent legislation in their particular circumstances.

For U.S. foreign tax credit purposes, any dividend paid by us will be income from sources outside the United States. The limitation on foreign taxes eligible for the credit is calculated separately with respect to specific classes of income. For this purpose, dividends paid by us generally will constitute "passive income" or in the case of certain U.S. holders "financial services income." The rules relating to foreign tax credits are extremely complex and the availability of a foreign tax credit depends on numerous factors. U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors concerning the application of the U.S. foreign tax credit rules to their particular situation.

Taxable dividends paid in a currency other than the U.S. dollar will be included in the gross income of the U.S. holder in a U.S. dollar amount calculated by reference to the exchange rate in effect on the date the U.S. holder receives the dividend, regardless of whether such currency is actually converted into U.S. dollars. Gain or loss, if any, realized on a sale or other disposition of the foreign currency will be ordinary income or loss, and generally will be from sources within the United States for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors concerning the possibility of foreign currency gain or loss if any such currency is not converted into U.S. dollars on the date of receipt.

#### **Dispositions**

Upon a sale or other taxable disposition of our shares, a U.S. holder will recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference (if any) between the amount realized on the disposition and such U.S. holder's adjusted tax basis in our shares. Subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, such gain or loss will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if our shares are held for more than one year at the time of disposition. Certain non-corporate U.S. holders (including individuals) are eligible for preferential rates of U.S. federal income taxation in respect of long-term capital gains. The deduction of capital losses is subject to certain limitations under the Code. Any gain or loss recognized by a U.S. holder on a sale or other taxable disposition of our shares generally will be treated as derived from U.S. sources for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes.

#### Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

Information reporting requirements may apply to a U.S. holder with respect to distributions by us, or to the proceeds of a sale or redemption of our shares. In addition, under the backup withholding rules, we or any paying agent may be required to withhold tax from any such payment if a U.S. holder fails to furnish its correct taxpayer identification number, to certify such U.S. holder is not subject to

backup withholding, or to otherwise comply with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. Certain U.S. holders (including, among others, corporations) are exempt from the backup withholding requirements. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules generally may be claimed as a credit against a U.S. holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle such U.S. holder to receive a refund provided that the required information is timely furnished to the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS").

#### Passive Foreign Investment Company Status

Special U.S. federal income tax rules apply to U.S. persons owning shares of a PFIC. A non-U.S. corporation generally will be classified as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes in any taxable year in which, after applying relevant look-through rules with respect to the income and assets of subsidiaries, either:

at least 75% of its gross income is "passive income"; or

on average at least 50% of the gross value of its assets is attributable to assets that produce passive income or are held for the production of passive income.

For this purpose, passive income generally includes, among other things, dividends, interest, rents, royalties, gains from the disposition of passive assets and gains from commodities transactions, other than gains derived from "qualified active sales" of commodities and "qualified hedging transactions" involving commodities, within the meaning of applicable Treasury regulations (the "Commodity Exception").

Based on certain estimates of our gross income and gross assets and relying on the Commodity Exception, we do not believe that we currently are a PFIC, and do not anticipate becoming a PFIC in the foreseeable future. However, since PFIC status will be determined by us on an annual basis and since such status depends upon the composition of our income and assets (including, among others, less than 25% owned equity investments), and the nature of our activities (including our ability to qualify for the Commodity Exception and similar exceptions), from time to time, there can be no assurance that we will not be considered a PFIC for any taxable year. Moreover, we will not obtain an opinion of counsel, and no ruling will be sought from the IRS, regarding any U.S. federal income tax characterization of us as a PFIC.

If we are treated as a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. holder held our shares, certain adverse consequences could apply to the U.S. holder (see discussion below). For this reason, if we are treated as a PFIC for any taxable year, a U.S. holder of our shares may desire to make an election to treat us as a "qualified electing fund" (a "QEF") with respect to such U.S. holder. Generally, a QEF election should be made on or before the due date for filing the electing U.S. holder's U.S. federal income tax return for the first taxable year in which our shares are held by such U.S. holder and we are treated as a PFIC.

If a timely QEF election is made, the electing U.S. holder will be required to annually include in gross income (i) as ordinary income, a *pro* rata share of our ordinary earnings, and (ii) as long-term capital gain, a *pro-rata* share of our net capital gains, in either case, whether or not such earnings or gains are distributed by us. An electing U.S. holder that is a corporation will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction in respect of such income or gain. In addition, in the event that we incur a net loss for a taxable year, such loss will not be available as a deduction to an electing U.S. holder, and may not be carried forward or back in computing our ordinary earnings and net capital gain in other taxable years. In certain cases in which a QEF does not distribute all of its earnings in a taxable year, electing U.S. holders also may be permitted to elect to defer the payment of some or all of their U.S. federal income taxes on the QEF's undistributed earnings, subject to an interest charge on the deferred tax amount.

If we determine we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. holder held our shares, we will provide to a U.S. holder, upon written request, all information and documentation that the U.S. holder is required to obtain in connection with its making a QEF election for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In general, if a U.S. holder of our shares fails to make a timely QEF election (or mark-to-market election, see discussion below) for any taxable year that we are treated as a PFIC, the U.S. federal income tax consequences to such U.S. holder will be determined under the so-called "interest charge" method. Under such method, (i) any gain derived from the disposition of PFIC stock (possibly including a gift, exchange in a corporate reorganization or grant as security for a loan), as well as any "excess distribution" that is received from the PFIC (*i.e.*, a distribution that exceeds 125% of the average distributions from the shorter of the prior three years, and the U.S. holder's holding period for the stock), would be treated as ordinary income that was earned ratably over each day in the U.S. holder's holding period for the PFIC stock, (ii) the portion of such gain or distribution that is allocable to prior taxable years, other than any year before we became a PFIC, would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the highest rate applicable to ordinary income for the relevant taxable years, regardless of the tax rate otherwise applicable to the U.S. holder, and (iii) an interest charge would be imposed on the resulting U.S. federal income tax liability as if such liability represented a tax deficiency for the past taxable years, other than any year before we became a PFIC. In addition, a step-up in the tax basis of the PFIC stock may not be available upon the death of an individual U.S. holder.

IN MANY CASES, APPLICATION OF THE INTEREST CHARGE REGIME WILL HAVE SUBSTANTIALLY MORE ONEROUS U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES THAN WOULD RESULT TO A U.S. HOLDER IF A TIMELY QEF ELECTION IS MADE. ACCORDINGLY, IF WE ARE TREATED AS A PFIC FOR ANY TAXABLE YEAR, U.S. HOLDERS OF OUR SHARES ARE URGED TO CONSIDER CAREFULLY WHETHER TO MAKE A QEF ELECTION, AND THE CONSEQUENCES OF NOT MAKING SUCH AN ELECTION. WITH RESPECT TO AN INVESTMENT IN OUR SHARES.

As an alternative to the QEF election, a U.S. holder of "marketable stock" in a PFIC may make a "mark-to-market" election, provided the PFIC stock is regularly traded on a "qualified exchange." Under applicable Treasury regulations, a "qualified exchange" includes a national securities exchange that is registered with the SEC or the national market system established under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Currently, our shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange, which is a "qualified exchange." Under applicable Treasury regulations, PFIC stock traded on a qualified exchange is regularly traded on such exchange for any calendar year during which such stock is traded, other than in *de minimis* quantities, on at least 15 days during each calendar quarter. We cannot assure U.S. holders that our shares will be treated as regularly traded for purposes of the mark-to-market election.

If the mark-to-market election is made, the electing U.S. holder generally would (i) include in gross income, entirely as ordinary income, an amount equal to the difference between the fair market value of the PFIC stock as of the close of such taxable year and its adjusted tax basis, and (ii) deduct as an ordinary loss the excess, if any, of the adjusted tax basis of the PFIC stock over its fair market value at the end of the taxable year, but only to the extent of the amount previously included in income as a result of the mark-to-market election.

The mark-to-market election is made with respect to marketable stock in a PFIC on a shareholder-by-shareholder basis and, once made, can only be revoked with the consent of the IRS. Special rules would apply if the mark-to-market election is not made for the first taxable year in which a U.S. person owns stock of a PFIC.

If we are treated as a PFIC, then dividends in respect of our common shares will not be eligible for the preferential rates of U.S. federal income tax described above under "Distributions."

#### **UNDERWRITING**

Under the terms and subject to the conditions contained in an underwriting agreement dated , 2004, we have agreed to sell to the underwriters named below, for whom Credit Suisse First Boston LLC is acting as representative, the following respective numbers of our common shares:

Underwriter

Credit Suisse First Boston LLC

Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated

Citigroup Global Markets Inc.

Deutsche Bank Securities Inc.

Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated

Total

8,500,000

The underwriting agreement provides that the underwriters are obligated to purchase all the common shares in the offering if any are purchased, other than those shares covered by the over-allotment option described below. The underwriting agreement also provides that if an underwriter defaults, the purchase commitments of non-defaulting underwriters may be increased or the offering may be terminated.

We have granted to the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase on a pro rata basis up to 1,275,000 additional shares from us at the initial public offering price less the underwriting discounts and commissions. The option may be exercised only to cover any over-allotments of common shares.

The underwriters propose to offer the common shares initially at the public offering price on the cover page of this prospectus and to selling group members at that price less a selling concession of \$ per share. The underwriters and selling group members may allow a discount of \$ per share on sales to other broker/dealers. After the initial public offering, the representative underwriter may change the public offering price and concession and discount to broker/dealers.

The following table summarizes the compensation and estimated expenses we will pay:

	Per S	Share	Total			
	Without Over-Allotment	With Over-Allotment	Without Over-Allotment	With Over-Allotment		
Underwriting discounts and commissions paid by us	\$	\$	\$	\$		

We estimate that the expenses of the offering to be paid by us, not including underwriting discounts and commissions, will be approximately \$800,000.

We have agreed that we will not offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, or file with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933 relating to, any common shares or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any common shares, or publicly disclose the intention to make any offer, sale, pledge, disposition or filing, without the prior written consent of Credit Suisse First Boston LLC for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus, except issuances of stock options, restricted stock or other awards granted pursuant to our employee equity incentive plan or non-employee directors' equity incentive plan and issuances of common shares pursuant to the exercise of an option or a warrant or the conversion of a security outstanding on the date hereof. In addition to these exceptions, we will be permitted to issue common shares in connection with certain merger and acquisition transactions provided that the recipient of such common shares agrees to be bound by the lock-up restrictions.

Our officers, directors and key employees have agreed that they will not offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, any common shares or securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any common shares, enter into a transaction that would have the same effect, or enter into any swap, hedge or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of our common shares, whether any of these transactions are to be settled by delivery of our common shares or other securities, in cash or otherwise, or publicly disclose the intention to make any offer, sale, pledge or disposition, or to enter into any transaction, swap, hedge or other arrangement, without, in each case, the prior written consent of Credit Suisse First Boston LLC for a period of 90 days after the date of this prospectus. This agreement is subject to several exceptions that will, among other things, permit officers, directors and key employees to transfer securities by gift, will, intestacy or operation of law, to affiliates, as distributions to trust beneficiaries or to pledge the common shares to a financial institution provided that the recipient of such securities, in each case, agrees to be bound by the lock-up restrictions.

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities under the Securities Act, or contribute to payments that the underwriters may be required to make in that respect.

In connection with the offering, the underwriters may engage in stabilizing transactions, over-allotment transactions, syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids in accordance with Regulation M under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Stabilizing transactions permit bids to purchase the underlying security so long as the stabilizing bids do not exceed a specified maximum.

Over-allotment involves sales by the underwriters of shares in excess of the number of shares the underwriters are obligated to purchase, which creates a syndicate short position. The short position may be either a covered short position or a naked short position. In a covered short position, the number of shares over-allotted by the underwriters is not greater than the number of shares that they may purchase in the over-allotment option. In a naked short position, the number of shares involved is greater than the number of shares in the over-allotment option. The underwriters may close out any covered short position by either exercising their over-allotment option and/or purchasing shares in the open market.

Syndicate covering transactions involve purchases of the common shares in the open market after the distribution has been completed in order to cover syndicate short positions. In determining the source of shares to close out the short position, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price at which they may purchase shares through the over-allotment option. If the underwriters sell more shares than could be covered by the over-allotment option, a naked short position, the position can only be closed out by buying shares in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there could be downward pressure on the price of the shares in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in the offering.

Penalty bids permit the representative to reclaim a selling concession from a syndicate member when the common shares originally sold by the syndicate member are purchased in a stabilizing or syndicate covering transaction to cover syndicate short positions.

These stabilizing transactions, syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids may have the effect of raising or maintaining the market price of our common shares or preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the common shares. As a result, the price of our common shares may be higher than the price that might otherwise exist in the open market. These transactions may be effected on the New York Stock Exchange or otherwise and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on the web sites maintained by one or more of the underwriters participating in this offering. The representative may agree to allocate a number of shares to underwriters for sale to their online brokerage account holders. Internet distributions will be allocated by the underwriters that will make internet distributions on the same basis as other allocations.

In the ordinary course of their respective businesses, the underwriters and certain of their respective affiliates have in the past, and may in the future, engage in investment banking or other transactions of a financial nature with Bunge, including the provision of certain advisory services and the making of loans to Bunge and its affiliates, for which they have received customary compensation. An affiliate of Credit Suisse First Boston LLC is acting as our financial advisor in connection with the Bunge Brasil buyback.

#### NOTICE TO CANADIAN RESIDENTS

#### **Resale Restrictions**

The distribution of the common shares in Canada is being made only on a private placement basis exempt from the requirement that we prepare and file a prospectus with the securities regulatory authorities in each province where trades of the shares are made. Any resale of the common shares in Canada must be made under applicable securities laws which will vary depending on the relevant jurisdiction, and which may require resales to be made under available statutory exemptions or under a discretionary exemption granted by the applicable Canadian securities regulatory authority. Purchasers are advised to seek legal advice prior to any resale of the shares.

#### **Representations of Purchasers**

By purchasing shares in Canada and accepting a purchase confirmation a purchaser is representing to us and the dealer from whom the purchase confirmation is received that:

the purchaser is entitled under applicable provincial securities laws to purchase the shares without the benefit of a prospectus qualified under those securities laws,

where required by law, that the purchaser is purchasing as principal and not as agent, and

the purchaser has reviewed the text above under Resale Restrictions.

#### Rights of Action Ontario Purchasers Only

Under Ontario securities legislation, a purchaser who purchases a security offered by this prospectus during the period of distribution will have a statutory right of action for damages, or while still the owner of the shares, for rescission against us in the event that this circular contains a misrepresentation. A purchaser will be deemed to have relied on the misrepresentation. The right of action for damages is exercisable not later than the earlier of 180 days from the date the purchaser first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action and three years from the date on which payment is made for the shares. The right of action for rescission is exercisable not later than 180 days from the date on which payment is made for the shares. If a purchaser elects to exercise the right of action for rescission, the purchaser will have no right of action for damages against us. In no case will the amount recoverable in any action exceed the price at which the shares were offered to the purchaser and if the purchaser is shown to have purchased the securities with knowledge of the misrepresentation, we will have no liability. In the case of an action for damages, we will not be liable for all or any portion of the damages that are proven to not represent the depreciation in value of the shares as a result of the misrepresentation relied upon. These rights are in addition to, and without derogation from, any other rights or remedies available at law to an Ontario purchaser. The foregoing is a summary of the rights available to an Ontario purchaser. Ontario purchasers should refer to the complete text of the relevant statutory provisions.

#### **Enforcement of Legal Rights**

All of our directors and officers as well as the experts named herein may be located outside of Canada and, as a result, it may not be possible for Canadian purchasers to effect service of process within Canada upon us or those persons. All or a substantial portion of our assets and the assets of those persons may be located outside of Canada and, as a result, it may not be possible to satisfy a judgment against us or those persons in Canada or to enforce a judgment obtained in Canadian courts against us or those persons outside of Canada.

#### **Taxation and Eligibility for Investment**

Canadian purchasers of the shares should consult their own legal and tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of an investment in the shares in their particular circumstances and about the eligibility of the common shares for investment by the purchaser under relevant Canadian legislation.

#### ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are a Bermuda exempted company. As a result, the rights of holders of our common shares will be governed by Bermuda law and our memorandum of association and bye-laws. The rights of shareholders under Bermuda law may differ from the rights of shareholders of companies or corporations incorporated in other jurisdictions. Most of our directors and some of our officers and some of the named experts referred to in this prospectus are not residents of the United States, and a substantial portion of our assets and the assets of those directors, officers and named experts are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for investors to effect service of process on those persons in the United States or to enforce in the United States judgments obtained in U.S. courts against us or those persons based on the civil liability provisions of the U.S. securities laws. We have been advised by our special Bermuda counsel, Conyers Dill & Pearman, that uncertainty exists as to whether courts in Bermuda will enforce judgments obtained in other jurisdictions (including the United States) against us or our directors or officers under the securities laws of those jurisdictions or entertain actions in Bermuda against us or our directors or officers under the securities laws of other jurisdictions.

We have submitted to the jurisdiction of the U.S. federal and New York state courts sitting in The City of New York for the purpose of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of this offering, and we have agreed to accept service of process in any such action at our principal executive offices in White Plains, New York.

This prospectus will be filed with the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda pursuant to Part III of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. In accepting this prospectus for filing, the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda shall not be liable for the financial soundness, performance or default of our business or for the correctness of any opinions or statements expressed in this prospectus. The Bermuda Monetary Authority has given its consent for the issue and free transferability of all of the common shares that are the subject of this offering to and between non-residents of Bermuda for exchange control purposes, provided our shares remain listed on an appointed stock exchange, which includes the New York Stock Exchange. Approvals or permissions given by the Bermuda Monetary Authority do not constitute a guarantee by the Bermuda Monetary Authority as to our performance or our creditworthiness. Accordingly, in giving such consent or permissions, the Bermuda Monetary Authority shall not be liable for the financial soundness, performance or default of our business or for the correctness of any opinions or statements expressed in this prospectus. Certain issues and transfers of common shares involving persons deemed resident in Bermuda for exchange control purposes require the specific consent of the Bermuda Monetary Authority.

#### **LEGAL MATTERS**

The validity of the common shares offered by this prospectus and other legal matters relating to Bermuda law will be passed upon for us by Conyers Dill & Pearman, Hamilton, Bermuda, our special Bermuda counsel. James M. Macdonald, a partner of Conyers Dill & Pearman, serves as our secretary. Various U.S. law matters relating to this offering will be passed upon for us by Shearman & Sterling LLP, New York, New York, our special U.S. counsel, and for the underwriters by Davis Polk & Wardwell, New York, New York.

#### **EXPERTS**

The consolidated financial statements and the related financial statement schedule included in and incorporated by reference in this prospectus from Bunge Limited's Annual Report on Form 20-F have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, as stated in their reports, which are included and incorporated by reference herein (which reports express an unqualified opinion and include an explanatory paragraph relating to changes in methods of accounting for goodwill and asset retirement obligations in 2002), and have been so included and incorporated in reliance upon the reports of such firm given upon its authority as experts in accounting and auditing. The address of Deloitte & Touche LLP is Two World Financial Center, New York, NY 10281.

#### WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We are subject to the informational reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and, accordingly, we file reports, including annual reports on Form 20-F, and other information with the SEC. However, as a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act relating to the furnishing and content of proxy statements and relating to short-swing profit reporting and liability. Our 2003 Annual Report contains our audited consolidated financial statements. We also file our quarterly consolidated financial statements on Form 6-K with the SEC.

You may read and copy these reports and certain other information we file with the SEC, including the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, at the SEC's public reference rooms at Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may obtain copies of such material from the SEC by mail at prescribed rates. You should direct requests to the SEC's Public Reference Section, Room 1024, Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. In addition, we file electronic versions of these materials with the SEC through the SEC's EDGAR system. The SEC maintains an Internet web site at www.sec.gov, from which you can electronically access our filings.

Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0430 for further information on the public reference rooms and the EDGAR system. These documents are not incorporated by reference in this prospectus, except as described in "Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference." Our common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "BG." You may read reports and other information that we have filed with the New York Stock Exchange at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange, 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

#### INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to "incorporate by reference" in this prospectus the information we file with them, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring to the documents we file with the SEC. This prospectus incorporates by reference the following documents that we have previously filed with the SEC:

our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003, filed on March 15, 2004;

our quarterly report for the three month period ended March 31, 2004, filed on Form 6-K on May 10, 2004;

the description of Bunge Limited's common shares contained under the caption "Description of Share Capital" in our Registration Statement on Form F-1, as amended (Registration No. 333-65026), which is incorporated by reference into Bunge Limited's Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on July 30, 2001; and

the information contained under the caption "Description of Share Capital" in our Registration Statement on Form F-1, as amended (Registration No. 333-81322), filed on March 8, 2002.

All documents that we will file with or submit to the SEC under the Exchange Act on Form 20-F, and on Form 6-K which specifically state that they are intended to be incorporated by reference, after the date of this prospectus and prior to the termination of any offering of securities offered by this prospectus shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and to be a part of, this prospectus from the date such documents are filed. Any such information that we file with the SEC and that is incorporated by reference herein will automatically update and supercede previously filed information incorporated by reference in this prospectus. Any such statement so updated or superceded shall not be deemed, except as so updated or superceded, to constitute a part of this prospectus. Our file number for documents filed under the Exchange Act is 001-16625.

We will provide, without charge, to any person who receives a copy of this prospectus, upon written or oral request, a copy of any documents identified above, other than exhibits to such incorporated documents, unless the exhibits are specifically incorporated by reference in such incorporated document. Requests should be directed to:

Bunge Limited 50 Main Street White Plains, New York 10606 Attention: Investor Relations (914) 684-2800

## INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
Consolidated Financial Statements	
Independent Auditors' Report	F-2
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001	F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002	F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001	F-5
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001	F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-8
Independent Auditors' Report	F-53
Financial Statement Schedule II	F-54
Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	
Consolidated Interim Statements of Income for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2004 (unaudited) and 2003 (unaudited)	F-55
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2004 (unaudited) and December 31, 2003 (audited)	F-56
Consolidated Interim Statements of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2004 (unaudited) and 2003 (unaudited)	F-57
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Interim Financial Statements F-1	F-58

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Bunge Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bunge Limited and Subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flows, and shareholders' equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Bunge Limited and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 7 to the financial statements, effective January 1, 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and certain intangible assets to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 and changed its method of accounting for asset retirement obligations to conform to Statement of Financial accounting Standards No. 143.

/s/DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP New York, New York March 12, 2004 (May 13, 2004 as to Notes 1, 2, 6 and 9)

## BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(U.S. dollars in millions, except per share data)

<b>X</b> 7	T7 J						
Y ear	Ena	lea	- 12	ecem)	ner	.1	

		1 car	Ended December 31,			
		2003		2002		2001
Net sales	\$	22,165	\$	13,882	\$	11,302
Cost of goods sold (Notes 8 and 26)		(20,860)		(12,544)		(10,331)
Gross profit		1,305		1,338		971
Selling, general and administrative expenses		(691)		(579)		(423)
Gain on sale of soy ingredients business		111				
Interest income		102		71		91
Interest expense		(215)		(176)		(223)
Foreign exchange gain (loss)		92		(179)		(148)
Other income (expense)		19		6		(4)
Income from continuing operations before income tax and minority						
interest		723		481		264
Income tax expense		(201)		(104)		(68)
Income from continuing operations before minority interest		522		377		196
Minority interest		(104)		(102)		(72)
Winorky interest		(104)		(102)		(12)
Income from continuing operations		418		275		124
Discontinued operations, net of tax benefit (expense) of \$5 (2003), \$(1)						
(2002), \$0 (2001) (Note 3)		(7)		3		3
I		411		279		107
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles  Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax benefit		411		278		127
(expense) of \$6 (2002), \$(4) (2001)				(23)		7
	_		_			
Net income	\$	411	\$	255	\$	134
Earnings per common share (Note 23):						
Basic						
Income from continuing operations	\$	4.19	\$	2.87	\$	1.73
Discontinued operations		(.07)		.03		.04
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles				(.24)		.10
Net income per share	\$	4.12	\$	2.66	\$	1.87
Net income per share	Ψ	7.12	Ψ	2.00	Ψ	1.07
Diluted						
Income from continuing operations	\$	4.14	\$	2.85	\$	1.72
Discontinued operations		(.07)		.03		.04
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles			_	(.24)		.10
Net income per share	\$	4.07	\$	2.64	\$	1.86
ret meone per snare	Þ	4.07	Φ	2.04	φ	1.00

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

## BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

## CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(U.S. dollars in millions, except share data)

		December 31,		
		2003		2002
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	489	\$	470
Trade accounts receivable (less allowance of \$100 and \$80) (Note 17)		1,495		1,168
Inventories (Note 4)		2,867		2,407
Deferred income taxes		93		87
Other current assets (Note 5)		1,474		1,317
Total current assets		6,418		5,449
Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 6)		2,090		2,056
Goodwill (Note 8)		148		239
Other intangible assets (Note 9)		92		15
Investments in affiliates (Note 10)		537		52
Deferred income taxes		233		256
Other non-current assets	_	366		282
Total assets	\$	9,884	\$	8,349
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY Current liabilities:				
Short-term debt (Note 15)	\$	889	\$	1,250
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 16)		128		249
Trade accounts payable		1,678		1,271
Deferred income taxes		42		51
Other current liabilities (Note 11)	_	1,200		973
Total current liabilities		3,937		3,794
Long-term debt (Note 16)		2,377		1,904
Deferred income taxes		206		253
Other non-current liabilities		433		431
Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)				
Minority interest in subsidiaries Shareholders' equity:		554		495
Common shares, par value \$.01; authorized 240,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding: 2003 99, shares, 2002 99,332,233 shares	908,318	1		1
Additional paid-in capital		2,010		1,999
Receivable from former shareholder (Note 19)				(55)
Retained earnings		1,022		653
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(656)		(1,126)
Total shareholders' equity		2,377		1,472

		December 31,			
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$	9,884	\$	8,349	
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial states	ments.				

F-4

## BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

## CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

## (U.S. dollars in millions)

	Year Ended December 31,			
	2003	2002	2001	
OPERATING ACTIVITIES				
Net income	\$ 411 5	\$ 255	\$ 134	
Adjustment to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used for) operating activities:				
Gain on sale of soy ingredients business	(111)			
Foreign exchange (gain) loss	(120)	126	10	
Impairment of assets	56	5		
Bad debt expense	6	37	24	
Provision for recoverable taxes	(38)	44	20	
Depreciation, depletion and amortization	184	168	163	
Deferred income taxes	(17)	(4)	(11)	
Discontinued operations	7	(3)	(3)	
-	•			
Minority interest	104	102	72	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of acquisitions:				
Trade accounts receivable	(129)	(116)	(127)	
Inventories	(249)	(728)	(303)	
Recoverable taxes	34	(106)	134	
Prepaid commodity purchase contracts	(76)	(60)	(49)	
Advances to suppliers	(30)	(110)	1	
Trade accounts payable	174	469	12	
Arbitration settlement (Note 20)	(57)	.07		
	` ,	40	120	
Other net	(190)	49	128	
Cash provided by (used for) operating activities	(41)	128	205	
INVESTING ACTIVITIES	(20.4)	(2.10)	(2.2.5)	
Payments made for capital expenditures	(304)	(240)	(226)	
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired	28 (196)	(856)	9 (13)	
Investments in affiliate	(190)	(830)	(4)	
Proceeds from sale of assets held for sale	450	16	(4)	
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations	82	10	59	
•				
	(0	(1.071)	(175)	
Cash provided by (used for) investing activities FINANCING ACTIVITIES	60	(1,071)	(175)	
Net change in short-term debt	(381)	(185)	(316)	
Proceeds from long-term debt	851	1,937	121	
Repayment of long-term debt	(529)	(706)	(323)	
Proceeds from affiliate loan	41			
Proceeds from sale of common shares	7	293	278	
Dividends paid to shareholders	(42)	(37)	(8)	
Dividends paid to minority interest	(63)	(28)	(26)	
Proceeds from receivable from former shareholder	55	21	50	
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities	(61)	1,295	(224)	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	61	(81)	(30)	

Voor	Fnded	December	31

		_	
19	27		(224)
470	199	)	423
 	-	-	
\$ 489	\$ 470	\$	199
\$	470	470 199	470 199

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

# BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(U.S. dollars in millions, except share data)

	Commo	n Shares	4 J 3141	_,	Dani-alla		Accumulated Other	Total	
	Shares Amount		Addition: Paid-in Capital		Receivable from Former Shareholder	Retained Earnings	Comprehensive Income (Loss) (Note 22)	Income (Loss) Shareholders'	
Balances, January 1, 2001	64,380,000	\$ 1	\$ 1,4	128	\$ (126)	\$ 309	\$ (473)	\$ 1,139	
Comprehensive income 2001:	04,380,000	ψ 1	Ψ 1,-	<b>F</b> 20	Φ (120)	φ 507	ψ (473)	Ψ 1,137	
Net income Other comprehensive income (loss):						134		134	\$ 134
Foreign exchange translation adjustment							(222)		(222)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of									
tax benefit of \$2 Unrealized gain on							(3)		(3)
commodity futures, net of tax of \$7							12		12
Reclassification of realized gains to net income, net of tax of \$3							(4)		(4)
Total comprehensive									
income (loss)							(217)	(217)	\$ (83)
Collection of former shareholder receivable					50			50	
Dividend paid Issuance of common						(8)	)	(8)	
shares: initial public offering (Note 22)	18,775,100		2	278				278	
Balances, December 31, 2001	83,155,100	1	1,7	706	(76)	435	(690)	1,376	
Comprehensive income 2002: Net income						255		255	\$ 255
Other comprehensive income (loss):						200		200	<b>4</b>
Foreign exchange translation adjustment, net of									
tax benefit of \$17 Unrealized gain on							(403)		(403)
commodity futures, net of tax of \$8							13		13
Loss on treasury rate lock contracts, net of tax of \$0							(22)		(22)
Unrealized loss on investments, net of tax benefit of \$1							(22)		(22)
των συποιίτ σι φι							(1)		(1)

					I	Accumulated		
Reclassification of realized net (gains) to net income, net of tax of \$8						Other omprehensive ncome (Loss) (Note 22) (12)		(12)
Minimum pension liability, net of tax benefit of \$5						(11)		(11)
Total comprehensive income (loss)						(436)	(436) \$	(181)
Collection of former shareholder receivable Dividends paid Issuance of common shares: public offering (Note 22) under employee stock	16,093,633		292	21	(37)		21 (37)	
plan	83,500		1				1	
Balances, December 31, 2002	99,332,233	1	1,999	(55)	653	(1,126)	1,472 (continued on fold	lowing page)
				F-6				

# BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)

(U.S. dollars in millions, except share data)

	Commor	1 Shares	Additional	Receivable		Accumulated Other Comprehensive	Total	
	Shares	Amount	Paid-in Capital	from Former Shareholder	Retained Earnings	Income (Loss) (Note 22)	Shareholders' Equity	Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive								
income 2003: Net income					411		411	\$ 411
Other comprehensive					711		711	Ψ 411
income (loss):								
Foreign exchange translation								
adjustment, net of tax expense \$8						489		489
Unrealized loss on commodity futures, net of tax								
benefit of \$6						(9)		(9)
Unrealized gain on investments, net of tax of \$0						1		1
Reclassification of realized net (gains) to net income, net of tax expense of						(1)		40
\$2 Minimum pension						(1)		(1)
liability, net of tax benefit of \$7						(10)		(10)
Total comprehensive income (loss)						470	470	\$ 881
Collection of former shareholder receivable				55			55	
Dividends paid Issuance of common shares: under					(42)		(42)	
employee stock plan	576,085		11				11	
Balances, December 31, 2003	99,908,318	\$ 1	\$ 2,010	\$	\$ 1,022	\$ (656)	\$ 2,377	
	The	accompanyi	ng notes are a	n integral part of	f these consol	idated financial stat	ements	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-7

#### BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

#### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 1. Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business Bunge Limited is a Bermuda holding company. Bunge Limited, together with its consolidated subsidiaries through which Bunge's businesses are conducted (collectively, "Bunge"), is an integrated, global agribusiness and food company. Bunge Limited's shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol "BG". Bunge operates in three divisions, which include four reporting segments: agribusiness, fertilizer, edible oil products and milling products.

*Agribusiness* Bunge's agribusiness segment is an integrated business involved in the purchase, sale and processing of grains and oilseeds. Bunge's agribusiness products are sold throughout the world. Bunge's agribusiness operations are primarily located in the United States, Brazil, Argentina and Europe with world-wide international marketing offices.

Fertilizer Bunge's fertilizer segment is involved in every stage of the fertilizer business, from mining of raw materials to sales of fertilizer products. Bunge's fertilizer operations are primarily located in Brazil.

Edible oil products Bunge's edible oil products segment consists of producing and selling edible oil products, such as shortenings and oils, margarine, mayonnaise and other products derived from refined vegetable oil. Bunge's edible oil products operations are located in Europe, the United States, Brazil and India.

*Milling products* Bunge's milling products segment includes the wheat and corn milling businesses. The wheat milling business consists of producing and selling flours. Bunge's wheat milling activities are located in Brazil. The corn milling business consists of producing and selling products derived from corn. Bunge's corn milling activities are located in the United States.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of all majority owned subsidiaries over which Bunge exercises control and for which control is other than temporary. Intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation. Bunge has no non-consolidated majority owned subsidiaries.

Investments in 20% to 50% owned affiliates in which Bunge has the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for by the equity method of accounting whereby the investment is carried at acquisition cost, plus Bunge's equity in undistributed earnings or losses since acquisition. Investments in less than 20% owned affiliates are accounted for by the cost method unless such investments are marketable securities, which are carried at market value.

Use of Estimates and Certain Concentrations of Risk The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and require management to make certain estimates and assumptions. These may affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. They may also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Amounts affected include, but are not limited to, allowances for doubtful accounts, inventories, allowances for recoverable taxes, impairment and restructuring charges, useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, contingent liabilities, income tax valuation allowances and pension plan obligations. Actual amounts may vary from those estimates.

The availability and price of agricultural commodities used in Bunge's operations are subject to wide fluctuations due to unpredictable factors such as weather, plantings, government (domestic and

foreign) farm programs and policies, changes in global demand and global production of similar and competitive crops.

Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements The functional currency of the majority of Bunge's foreign subsidiaries is their local currency and, as such, amounts included in the consolidated statements of income are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the period. Assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates and resulting foreign exchange translation adjustments are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

**Foreign Currency Transactions** Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than their functional currency are remeasured into their respective functional currencies at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. The resulting exchange gains or losses are included in Bunge's consolidated statements of income.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include time deposits and readily marketable securities with original maturity dates of three months or less. At December 31, 2003, Bunge had \$78 million of restricted cash representing collateral against short-term debt in Europe, which was included in cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheet.

*Inventories* Inventories in the agribusiness segment, which consist of merchandisable agricultural commodities, are stated at market value (net realizable value). The merchandisable agricultural commodities are freely traded, have quoted market prices, may be sold without significant further processing and have predictable and insignificant disposal costs. Changes in the market values of merchandisable agricultural commodities inventories are recognized in earnings as a component of cost of goods sold.

Readily marketable inventories are agricultural commodities inventories that are readily convertible to cash because of their commodity characteristics, widely available markets and international pricing mechanisms. Bunge records interest expense attributable to readily marketable inventories based on the average interest rates incurred on the debt financing these inventories in interest expense in its consolidated statements of income.

Inventories that are not included in the agribusiness segment are principally stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost method.

Derivatives Bunge uses exchange-traded futures and options contracts to minimize the effects of changes in the prices of agricultural commodities on its agribusiness inventories and agricultural commodities forward cash purchase and sales contracts. Exchange-traded futures and options contracts are valued at the quoted market prices. Forward purchase contracts and forward sale contracts are valued at the quoted market prices, which are based on exchange quoted prices adjusted for differences in local markets. Changes in the market value of forward purchase and sale contracts, and exchange-traded futures and options contracts, are recognized in earnings as a component of cost of goods sold. These contracts are predominantly settled in cash.

In addition, Bunge hedges portions of its forecasted U.S. oilseed processing production requirements, including forecasted purchases of soybeans and sales of soy commodities products for a period that usually does not exceed three months. The instruments used are exchange-traded futures contracts, which are designated as cash flow hedges. The changes in the market value of such futures

contracts have historically been, and are expected to continue to be, highly effective at offsetting changes in price movements of the hedged item. To the extent they provide effective offset, gains or losses arising from hedging transactions are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of applicable taxes, and are reclassified to cost of goods sold in the consolidated statements of income when the products associated with the hedged item are sold. Bunge expects to reclassify approximately \$8 million after-tax net losses to cost of goods sold in the year ending December 31, 2004, relating to exchange-traded futures contracts cash flow hedges. If at any time during the hedging relationship Bunge no longer expects the hedge to be highly effective, then the changes in the market value of such futures contracts would prospectively be recorded in the consolidated statements of income.

Bunge also enters into derivative financial instruments, such as foreign currency forward contracts and swaps, to limit exposures to changes in foreign currency exchange rates with respect to its recorded foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. These derivative instruments are marked-to-market, with changes in their fair value recognized as a component of foreign exchange in the consolidated statements of income. Bunge may also hedge other foreign currency exposures as deemed appropriate.

Bunge may also use derivative instruments, such as treasury rate locks, to reduce the risk of changes in interest rates on forecasted issuance of fixed-rate debt. These hedges are designated as cash flow hedges. To the extent they provide effective offset, gains and losses arising from these derivative instruments are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and recognized in the consolidated statements of income over the term of the underlying debt.

All derivative financial instruments are marked-to-market and any resulting unrealized gains and losses on such derivative contracts are recorded in other current assets or other current liabilities in Bunge's consolidated balance sheets.

Bunge enters into derivatives that are related to its inherent business and financial exposure as a multinational agricultural commodities company.

**Recoverable Taxes** Recoverable taxes represent value-added taxes paid on the acquisition of raw materials and other services which can be recovered in cash or as compensation of outstanding balances against income taxes or certain other taxes Bunge may owe. Recoverable taxes are offset by allowances for uncollectible amounts if it is determined that collection is doubtful.

**Property, Plant and Equipment, Net** Property, plant and equipment, net is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and depletion. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Costs related to legal obligations associated with the retirement of assets are capitalized and depreciated over the lives of the underlying assets. Depreciation is computed based on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Included in property, plant and equipment are mining properties that are stated at cost less accumulated depletion. Depletion is calculated using the unit-of-production method based on proven and probable reserves (Note 6). Useful lives for property, plant and equipment are as follows:

	Years
Buildings	10 50
Machinery and equipment	7 20
Furniture, fixtures and other	3 20
F-10	

Bunge capitalizes interest on borrowings during the construction period of major capital projects. The capitalized interest is recorded as part of the asset to which it relates, and is depreciated over the asset's estimated useful life.

Goodwill Goodwill relates to the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of tangible and identifiable intangible net assets acquired in a business acquisition. Prior to January 1, 2002 goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 40 years. Effective January 1, 2002, Bunge adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142), which requires that goodwill and certain other intangible assets having indefinite lives no longer be amortized, but rather be tested annually for impairment based upon the fair value of the reporting unit with which it resides (see Notes 7 and 8).

Other Intangible Assets Other intangible assets that have definite useful lives include brands and trademarks recorded at fair value at the date of acquisition. Other intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, ranging from 10 to 40 years. Other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but rather tested annually for impairment.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Bunge reviews for impairment its long-lived assets and definite lived identified intangibles whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying amounts of an asset may not be recoverable. In performing the review for recoverability, Bunge estimates the future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and from its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized; otherwise, no impairment loss is recognized. The measurement of an impairment loss to be recognized for long-lived assets and identifiable intangibles that Bunge expects to hold and use is the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the asset.

Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Stock-Based Compensation Bunge has an employee equity incentive plan and a non-employee directors' equity incentive plan, which are described more fully in Note 24. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123), Bunge has elected to continue to account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25) and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 28, Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans (FIN 28). Bunge has granted stock options, performance-based restricted stock unit awards and time-vested regular restricted stock unit awards under its employee equity incentive plan and stock options under its non-employee directors' plan. In accordance with APB 25, Bunge accrues costs for its restricted stock unit awards granted over the vesting or performance period, and adjusts costs related to its performance-based restricted stock units for subsequent changes in the fair market value of the awards. These compensation costs are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. There is no compensation cost recorded for stock options granted under either plan, since the exercise price is equal to the fair market value of the underlying common shares on the date of grant. In accordance with SFAS No. 123 and the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure, Bunge discloses the pro forma effect of accounting for stock-based awards under the fair value method.

The following table sets forth pro forma information as if Bunge had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock options granted to determine its stock based compensation cost. The assumptions used to determine fair value are disclosed below.

	Year Ended December 31,								
(US\$ in millions, except per share data)	2	2003		2002	2	2001			
Net income, as reported  Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method for stock options granted, net of related	\$	411	\$	255	\$	134			
tax effects		(7)		(6)		(3)			
Pro forma net income	\$	404	\$	249	\$	131			
Earnings per common share:									
Basic as reported	\$	4.12	\$	2.66	\$	1.87			
Basic pro forma	\$	4.05	\$	2.60	\$	1.82			
Diluted as reported	\$	4.07	\$	2.64	\$	1.86			
Diluted pro forma	\$	4.00	\$	2.58	\$	1.82			

The estimated fair value of Bunge's options on the date of grant was calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The weighted average fair value of each stock option granted during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was \$9.82, \$8.77 and \$8.64, respectively. The following assumptions were used for the years ending December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001:

	2003	2002	2001
Assumptions:			
Expected option life (in years)	8.79	9.60	9.96
Expected dividend yield	1.57%	1.6%	.5%
Expected volatility of market price	34%	35%	28%
Risk-free interest rate	4.1%	3.8%	5.2%

Income Taxes Income tax expenses are recognized based on the tax jurisdictions in which Bunge's subsidiaries operate. Under Bermuda law, Bunge is not required to pay taxes in Bermuda on either income or capital gains. The provision for income taxes includes income taxes currently payable and deferred income taxes arising as a result of temporary differences between financial and tax reporting. Deferred tax assets are reduced by valuation allowances if it is determined that realization is doubtful.

**Revenue Recognition** Sales of agricultural commodities, fertilizers and all other products are recognized when title to the product and risk of loss transfer to the customer, which is dependent on the agreed upon sales terms with the customer. These sales terms provide for passage of title either at the time shipment is made or at the time of the delivery of product. Net sales are gross sales less discounts related to promotional programs and sales taxes. Shipping and handling costs are included as a component of cost of goods sold.

**Research and Development** Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses were \$8 million, \$8 million and \$6 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

New Accounting Pronouncements In March 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 04-2 (Issue No. 04-2), Whether Mineral Rights Are Tangible or Intangible Assets, that mineral rights, as defined in Issue No. 04-2, are tangible assets. There is an inconsistency between this consensus that mineral rights are tangible assets and the characterization of mineral rights as intangible assets in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141 and No. 142. In April 2004, the FASB issued proposed Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 141-a and 142-a, Interaction of FASB, Statements No. 141, Business Combinations and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and EITF Issue No. 04-2, Whether Mineral Rights Are Tangible or Intangible Assets to eliminate the inconsistency between EITF Issue No. 04-2 and SFAS No. 141 and No. 142. The guidance in this FSP would be effective for the first reporting period beginning after the date that this FSP is finalized. Early application of this guidance is permitted in periods for which financial statements have not yet been issued. Bunge has applied the EITF and the proposed FSP to its consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003 and has reclassified the prior period's consolidated balance sheet to conform to this presentation.

In December 2003, FASB issued revised SFAS No. 132, *Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefit*. This revision of SFAS No. 132 does not change the measurement or recognition of those plans required by SFAS No. 87, *Employers' Accounting for Pensions, Pension Plans and Termination Benefits*, and SFAS No. 106, *Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions*. This statement retains the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 132, which it replaces. It requires additional disclosures to those in the original SFAS No. 132 about plan assets, investment strategy, measurement dates, plan obligations, cash flows of defined benefit pension plans and other defined benefit postretirement plans. Also, required for interim reporting will be the components of periodic benefit cost recognized during the interim period. Bunge has complied with the disclosure requirements of the revised SFAS No. 132.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, *Consolidated Financial Statements* (ARB 51). In December 2003, the FASB revised FASB Interpretation No. 46, *Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities* (FIN 46) and codified certain FASB Staff Positions (FSPs) previously issued for FIN 46 in FASB Interpretation No. 46, Revised (FIN 46R). FIN 46 as originally issued and as revised by FIN46R, establishes consolidation criteria for entities for which control is not easily discernable under ARB 51. The adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R in 2003 did not have a material impact on Bunge's accounting for its accounts receivable securitization and its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, *Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity* (SFAS No. 150). SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how a company classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that a company classify a financial instrument which is within the scope of SFAS No. 150 as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances). SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and to certain other instruments that existed prior to May 31, 2003 as of the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a material impact on Bunge's consolidated financial statements.

In April 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (SFAS No. 149). SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies accounting for derivative

instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is applied prospectively and is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, except for provisions related to SFAS No. 133 implementation issues that have been effective for fiscal quarters that began prior to June 15, 2003, and certain provisions relating to forward purchases or sales of when-issued securities or other securities that do not yet exist. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a material impact on Bunge's consolidated financial statements.

**Reclassifications** Certain reclassifications were made to the prior years consolidated financial statements to conform to the current year's presentation. Certain of these reclassifications relate to the sale of the U.S. bakery business, which has been presented as a discontinued operation for all periods presented.

In addition, Bunge reclassified interest income on advances to suppliers, which primarily include farmers, previously recorded in interest income in non-operating income (expense) net, to a component of gross profit in Bunge's consolidated statements of income to reflect the operational nature of this item. All prior periods presented have been reclassified to reflect these changes and to conform to the current years' presentation.

#### 2. Business Combinations and Alliances

Acquisition of Cereol S.A. In the fourth quarter of 2002, Bunge acquired 97.38% of the shares of Cereol S.A. (Cereol) for \$787 million in cash (net of cash acquired of \$90 million). In April 2003, Bunge acquired the remaining 2.62% of the shares of Cereol for \$23 million in cash. As a result, Bunge owns 100% of Cereol's capital and voting rights. Cereol was engaged in the processing of oilseeds and the production of edible oils in Europe and North America. Cereol's results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements of Bunge since October 1, 2002. Bunge financed the Cereol acquisition with available cash and borrowings.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method under SFAS No. 141, *Business Combinations*. The cost to acquire Cereol has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, according to estimated fair values.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the Cereol acquisition.

	,	US\$ in nillions)
Calculation of purchase price:		
Cash paid	\$	900
Current liabilities assumed		835
Other non-current liabilities assumed		472
Total	\$	2,207
Allocation of purchase price:		
Current assets	\$	948
Property, plant and equipment		363
Investment in Lesieur		200
Net assets contributed to Solae		520
Intangible assets trademarks		53
Other non-current assets		149
Minority interest		(26)
Total	\$	2,207

In connection with the Cereol acquisition, Bunge has accrued termination benefits and facility related realignment obligations as part of its integration plan (the "Plan"). The Plan is designed to streamline personnel and realign facilities acquired from Cereol. These obligations, which totaled \$35 million, have been accrued as part of the purchase price and are included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003. Bunge's integration process and the Plan regarding this acquisition, which included an evaluation of these issues was finalized in 2003. Of the obligations accrued, \$29 million relate to employee termination and \$6 million relate to facility realignment. The following table summarizes activity related to the Plan:

(US\$ in millions)	Termin	Employee Termination Obligations		nation Realignment				otal
Accrued in purchase price	\$	29	\$	6	\$	35		
Amount paid		(9)	(	2)		(11)		
				-	_			
Balance at December 31, 2003	\$	20	\$	4	\$	24		
				_				

Payments related to employee termination and facility realignment obligations are expected to be substantially completed in 2004. The Plan is expected to be funded by cash flows from operations. No significant unresolved issues exist related to the Plan. Any adjustments to the Plan will be reported as an adjustment to net income.

Brazilian Restructuring In February 2002, Bunge restructured its major Brazilian subsidiaries. The restructuring involved the exchange of all of the shares of Bunge Fertilizantes S.A., Bunge's fertilizer operations, and Bunge Alimentos S.A., Bunge's agribusiness and food products operations, for shares of Serrana S.A., which was renamed Bunge Brasil S.A. Pursuant to Brazilian securities laws, the three

restructured subsidiaries offered withdrawal rights to their minority shareholders. These withdrawal rights required Bunge's subsidiaries to buy back and cancel shares from minority shareholders. Bunge has accounted for the restructuring as an acquisition of minority interest. The fair value of the consideration given, including the cash paid on the exercise of the withdrawal rights of \$105 million, was \$275 million. As a result of the restructuring, Bunge increased its indirect interest in Bunge Alimentos S.A. and Bunge Fertilizantes S.A. to 83%. As a result of the share exchange described above, Bunge has increased its basis in minority interest by \$103 million.

Bunge allocated \$108 million of the excess of the fair value over the historical book value to goodwill in the amount of \$53 million, which was assigned to the agribusiness segment and the remaining \$55 million to the following assets and segments.

(US\$ in millions)	Agribusiness	Fei	rtilizer		Edible Oil Products		Milling Products	C	Other	Т	otal
Property plant and equipment	\$	\$	28	\$	2	\$	5	\$		\$	35
Trademarks/brands	Ψ	Ψ	20	Ψ	11	Ψ	4	Ψ		Ψ	15
Licenses	2				1				2		5
				-		_		_		_	
Total	\$ 2	\$	28	\$	14	\$	9	\$	2	\$	55
										_	

In October 2003, Bunge's Brazilian fertilizer subsidiary, Bunge Fertilizantes S.A., acquired additional shares of approximately 11% of the total outstanding shares of Fertilizantes Fosfatados S.A. (Fosfertil). The total purchase price paid for these shares was \$84 million in cash. As a result of this acquisition, Bunge Fertilizantes now directly owns 11% of the voting shares and over 12% of the outstanding shares in Fosfertil. This acquisition is in addition to the indirect majority ownership interest in Fosfertil that Bunge has through its majority-owned consolidated subsidiary, Fertifos Administração e Participação S.A. (Fertifos), which owns 56% of the outstanding shares of Fosfertil. Bunge preliminarily allocated \$62 million of the excess of the fair value over the historical book value to mining properties based on estimated fair values (see Note 6).

The following unaudited pro forma summary financial information sets forth Bunge's results of operations as if the above listed acquisitions had been consummated as of January 1, 2002. The pro forma results include interest expense on debt incurred to finance the Cereol and Fosfertil acquisitions.

	Y	Year Ended December 31,						
(US\$ in millions, except per share data)		2003	2002					
Net sales	\$	22,165	\$	17,238				
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax	\$	413	\$	318 (23)				
Net income	\$	413	\$	295				
Earnings per common share basic: Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net of tax	\$	4.14	\$	3.32 (.24)				
Net income	\$	4.14	\$	3.08				
F-16								

Saipol Joint Venture In November 2002, Bunge announced its agreement to sell Lesieur, a French producer of branded bottled vegetable oils, to Saipol, an oilseed processing joint venture between Cereol and Sofiproteol (the financial arm of the French oilseed farmer's association). In July 2003, Bunge completed the sale of Lesieur and received in cash \$240 million for the sale, which included repayment of Lesieur intercompany debt of \$72 million owed to Cereol at closing and a note receivable from Saipol of \$31 million. The note receivable matures in July 2009 with interest payable annually at a rate of 5.55%. Bunge did not recognize a gain or loss on this transaction. Bunge has a 33.34% ownership interest in the Saipol joint venture, which is accounted for under the equity method.

Bunge recorded the assets and liabilities of Lesieur in the amount of \$367 million and \$207 million, respectively, as investment held for sale and were included in other current assets and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002. For the six months ended June 30, 2003 and the year ended December 31, 2002, Lesieur was consolidated and included in income from continuing operations in the consolidated statements of income. Bunge will retain an interest in this entity and have continued involvement in the joint venture operations.

DuPont Alliance In January 2003, Bunge announced its agreement to form an alliance with E.I. duPont de Nemours and Company (DuPont) to expand its agribusiness and soy ingredients businesses. The alliance consists of three components: a joint venture (The Solae Company, or Solae) for the production and distribution of specialty food ingredients, such as soy protein products and lecithins; a biotechnology agreement to jointly develop and commercialize soybeans with improved quality traits; and an alliance to develop a broader offering of services and products to farmers.

In April 2003, Bunge and DuPont signed definitive agreements and formed Solae, a soy ingredients joint venture, with DuPont contributing its Protein Technologies food ingredients business and Bunge contributing its North American and European ingredients operations. In exchange, Bunge received a 28% interest in Solae based on the fair value of its contribution. As a result of this transaction, Bunge has recorded a long-term investment in Solae in its consolidated balance sheet. The carrying value of net assets contributed, which also equals fair value, was \$520 million. Bunge did not recognize any gain or loss on this transaction. Bunge accounts for this investment under the equity method.

In May 2003, Bunge sold its Brazilian soy ingredients operations to Solae for \$251 million in cash, net of expenses of \$5 million. Consequently, Bunge recognized a non-taxable gain on sale of \$111 million in the second quarter of 2003 that was included in net income. Bunge did not recognize any additional ownership percentage in Solae as a result of this sale.

Other business acquisitions In 2003, Bunge completed certain smaller acquisitions in India and Eastern Europe having an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$37 million, the most significant of which was for 100% of Hindustan Lever's edible oils business in India for \$21 million. As a result of these acquisitions, Bunge recognized intangible assets of \$18 million and goodwill of \$17 million. In addition, Bunge completed the allocation of a 2002 acquisition, which generated goodwill of \$15 million.

#### 3. Discontinued Operations

On December 31, 2003, Bunge sold its U.S. bakery business to a third party. The sale includes the facilities that manufactured, marketed and sold dry mixes, frozen bakery products, syrups and toppings

F-17

that were historically reported in the milling and baking products segment until its sale. The proceeds from the sale were \$82 million, net of expenses. The divestiture resulted in a gain to Bunge of \$2 million, net of tax expense of \$1 million, which has been reported as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of income included an environmental expense of \$3 million, net of tax benefit of \$3 million, related to discontinued operations Bunge sold in 1995.

In March 2001, Bunge committed to a divestiture plan and sold its Brazilian baked goods business, Plus Vita S.A., to a third party. The proceeds from the sale were \$59 million, net of expenses. The divestiture resulted in a gain to Bunge of \$3 million. Accordingly, the operating results for the disposed businesses have been reported as discontinued operations for 2001. The following table summarizes the financial information related to the discontinued operations discussed above.

		Year Ended December 31,								
US\$ in millions)		2	003	2	2002	2	2001			
Net sales		\$	180	\$	192	\$	193			
(Loss) income before income taxes		\$	(15)	\$	3	\$				
	F-18									

#### 4. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

	 Decem	ber 31	١,
(US\$ in millions)	2003		2002
Agribusiness Readily marketable inventories at market value(1)	\$ 1,868	\$	1,517
Fertilizer	316		214
Edible oils	308		346
Milling	68		89
Other(2)	307		241
Total	\$ 2,867	\$	2,407
		_	

- (1)

  Readily marketable inventories are agricultural commodities inventories that are readily convertible to cash because of their commodity characteristics, widely available markets and international pricing mechanisms.
- Agribusiness inventories carried at lower of cost or market.

### 5. Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following:

		Decem	iber 31,						
(US\$ in millions)		2003		2002					
Prepaid commodity purchase contracts	\$	247	\$	173					
Secured advances to suppliers		280		205					
Unrealized gain on derivative contracts		418		162					
Assets of investment held for sale (Note 2)				367					
Recoverable taxes		70		79					
Marketable securities		13		12					
Other		446		319					
Total	\$	1,474	\$	1,317					

*Prepaid commodity purchase contracts* Prepaid commodity purchase contracts represent payments to producers in advance of delivery of the underlying commodities. Prepaid commodity purchase contracts are recorded at market.

Secured advances to suppliers Bunge provides cash advances to suppliers, which primarily include farmers, of soybeans to finance a portion of the suppliers' production cost. The advances are generally collateralized by physical assets of the supplier, carry a market interest rate and are repaid through the delivery of soybeans. Secured advances to suppliers are stated at the original value of the advance plus accrued interest, less allowances for uncollectible advances. In addition to the current secured advances, Bunge has non-current secured advances to suppliers in the amount of \$72 million and \$28 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The allowances for uncollectible advances totaled \$19 million and \$18 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Marketable securities These securities are classified as trading securities and recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices. The related gains or losses are recognized in other income in the consolidated statements of income.

### 6. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

	Decen	nber 31,
(US\$ in millions)	2003	2002
Land	\$ 114	\$ 86
Mining properties	216	96
Buildings	936	819
Machinery and equipment	1,998	1,992
Furniture, fixtures and other	158	114
	3,422	3,107
Less accumulated depreciation and depletion	(1,556)	(1,237)
Plus construction in process	224	186
Total	\$ 2,090	\$ 2,056

Bunge capitalized interest on construction in progress in the amount of \$8 million, \$6 million and \$15 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The useful lives of Bunge's mines, relating to the reserve depletion, range from 18 to 58 years. Depreciation and depletion expense was \$181 million, \$166 million and \$160 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

### 7. Change in Accounting Principles

Effective January 1, 2002, Bunge adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets* (SFAS No. 142). SFAS No. 142 supercedes APB Opinion No. 17, *Intangible Assets*, and changes the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives acquired individually or with a group of other assets, and those acquired in a business combination, by eliminating prospectively the amortization of all existing and newly acquired goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives. SFAS No. 142 requires goodwill and other intangible assets to be tested at least annually for impairment. Separable other intangible assets that are not deemed to have an indefinite life will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. The amortization provisions of SFAS No. 142 apply immediately to goodwill and intangible assets acquired after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 also requires that companies complete a transitional goodwill impairment test within six months from the date of adoption.

In accordance with the transitional guidance and the adoption of SFAS No. 142, Bunge completed a transitional impairment test computed based on a discounted cash flow and recorded a charge of \$14 million, net of tax of \$1 million as of January 1, 2002 for goodwill impairment losses. This impairment was related mainly to goodwill in the bakery mixes business line of its wheat milling and bakery products segment. The goodwill impairment losses are recorded as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in Bunge's consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2002. Bunge's other intangible assets were not affected by the adoption of SFAS No. 142.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, *Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations* (SFAS No. 143), which addresses the financial accounting and reporting for legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 provisions apply to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or the normal operation of a long-lived asset, except for certain obligations of lessees. SFAS No. 143 requires the recording of a liability for an asset retirement obligation in the period in which the liability is incurred. The initial measurement is based upon the present value of estimated third party costs and a related long-lived asset retirement cost capitalized as part of the asset's carrying value and allocated to expense over the asset's useful life. Bunge has adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 143 effective January 1, 2002. As a result of the early adoption of SFAS No. 143, Bunge recorded a \$9 million charge, net of tax of \$5 million, as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle relating to its mining properties assigned to the fertilizer segment and certain of its edible oil refining facilities assigned to the edible oil segment.

Set forth below is Bunge's adjusted net income and earnings per share had Bunge excluded goodwill amortization in accordance with SFAS No. 142 and included asset retirement charges in accordance with SFAS No. 143 for the year ended December 31, 2001. No goodwill amortization was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2002. As the effects of these adoptions were reflected in Bunge's consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, no adjustments to net income and earnings per share is shown for these years in the table below.

(US\$ in millions, except per share data)	Year Ended December 31, 2001			
Reported income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles	\$	127		
Add back goodwill amortization		6		
Less asset retirement adjustment		(2)		
Adjusted income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles	\$	131		
Reported net income	\$	134		
Add back goodwill amortization		16		
Less asset retirement adjustment		(12)		
Adjusted net income	\$	138		
Earning per common share basic:				
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles	\$	1.77		
Add back goodwill amortization		.08		
Less asset retirement adjustment		(.03)		
Adjusted income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles	\$	1.82		
Reported net income	\$	1.87		
Add back goodwill amortization		.08		
Less asset retirement adjustment		(.03)		
Adjusted net income	\$	1.92		
	Ŧ			

Earning per common share diluted:	
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles	\$ 1.76
Add back goodwill amortization	.08
Less asset retirement adjustment	(.03)
Adjusted income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles	\$ 1.81
Reported net income	\$ 1.86
Add back goodwill amortization	.08
Less asset retirement adjustment	(.03)
Adjusted net income	\$ 1.91

Had the provisions of SFAS No. 143 been applied for all periods presented, the asset retirement obligation at January 1, 2001 and December 31, 2001 would have been \$20 million and \$22 million, respectively (see Note 12).

Effective January 1, 2001, Bunge adopted SFAS No. 133, *Accounting for Derivative Investments and Hedging Activities*. As a result of this adoption, in 2001, Bunge recorded income of \$7 million, net of expenses of \$4 million, as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for the fair value of previously unrecognized derivative instruments.

#### 8. Goodwill

In the fourth quarter of 2003, Bunge performed its annual impairment test and recorded a pretax goodwill impairment charge of \$16 million relating to its Austrian oilseed processing operations. The write down resulted from a weak operating environment in this region causing the fair value of the reporting unit to be lower than its carrying value. No other impairment charges resulted from the required impairment evaluations on the rest of Bunge's reporting units. In assessing the recovery of goodwill, projections regarding estimated discounted future cash flows and other factors are made to determine the fair value of the reporting units and the respective assets. These projections are based on historical data, anticipated market conditions and management plans. If these estimates or related projections change in the future, we may be required to record additional impairment charges.

Subsequent to the initial adoption of SFAS No. 142, in the fourth quarter of 2002, Bunge recorded an additional goodwill impairment charge of \$4 million in cost of goods sold in the consolidated statements of income. The impairment charge was based on the discounted cash flow and related reduction in value, which resulted from the loss of a customer in the bakery mixes business line of its milling products segment. As result of the 2003 sale of the U.S. bakery business (see Note 3), this amount was reclassified to discontinued operations to conform to the 2003 presentation.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows.

(US\$ in millions)	Agribu	ısiness	Edible Oi Products	_	Mill Prod	0	Unall	ocated	Т	otal
Balance, January 1, 2002	\$	123	\$		\$	40	\$		\$	163
Goodwill acquired (Note 2)		53								53
Foreign exchange translation		(47)								(47)
Impairment losses						(4)				(4)
Acquisition purchase price								89		89
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle						(15)				(15)
				_						
Balance, December 31, 2002		129				21		89		239
Goodwill acquired (Note 2)		24		5		3				32
Foreign exchange translation		14								14
Impairment losses		(16)								(16)
Sale of bakery business (Note 3)						(19)				(19)
Tax benefit on goodwill amortization(1)		(13)								(13)
Allocated acquisition purchase price(2)								(89)		(89)
									_	
Balance, December 31, 2003	\$	138	\$	5	\$	5	\$		\$	148

Bunge's Brazilian subsidiary's tax deductible goodwill is in excess of its book goodwill. For financial reporting purposes, the tax benefits attributable to the excess tax goodwill are first used to reduce goodwill and then intangible assets to zero, prior to recognizing any income tax benefit in the consolidated statements of income.

#### 9. Other Intangible Assets

Bunge's other intangible assets consist of trademarks/brands, licenses, software technology and unamortized prior service costs relating to Bunge's employee defined benefit plans (see Note 18). The aggregate amortization expense for other intangible assets was \$3 million and \$2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The annual estimated amortization and depletion expense for 2004 to 2008 is approximately \$11 million per year.

<sup>(2)</sup>Bunge assigned \$89 million of the Cereol acquisition purchase price to the Lesieur and the ingredients assets.

Intangible assets consist of the following:

		Decem	ber 31	,
(US\$ in millions)	20	003	20	002
Trademarks/brands-finite lived	\$	40	\$	5
Licenses		9		7
Other		5		3
		54		15
Less accumulated amortization:				
Trademarks		(1)		
Licenses		(2)		(1)
Other		(4)		(2)
		(7)		(3)
Trademarks/brands-indefinite lived		34		
Unamortized prior service costs of defined benefit plans (Note 18)		11		3
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization	\$	92	\$	15

As a result of the Cereol acquisition, in 2003, Bunge assigned to its edible oil products segment \$53 million of intangible assets attributable to product trademarks/brands in Eastern Europe. Of this amount, approximately \$34 million of these trademarks/brands have an average finite life of 30 years and the remainder of \$19 million have an indefinite life, which is not subject to amortization. In addition, as a result of certain other 2003 acquisitions Bunge recognized indefinite lived intangible assets of \$15 million.

#### 10. Investments in Affiliates

Bunge has investments in affiliates that are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The most significant of these affiliates is Solae of which Bunge owns 28% (see Note 2). Solae is organized as a U.S. limited liability company that has elected to be taxed as a partnership. As a result, the parent companies are responsible for U.S. income taxes applicable to their share of Solae's U.S. taxable income. Therefore, net income for Solae does not reflect any provision for income taxes that would be incurred by its parents. Bunge's other investments in affiliates include Saipol, Terminal 6 and Terminal 6 Industrial, in which it owns 33%, 40% and 50%, respectively.

Summarized unaudited combined financial information reported for all equity method affiliates and a summary of the amounts recorded in Bunge's consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2003 follows:

#### (US\$ in millions)

Amounts recorded by Bunge:		
Investments(1)	\$	537
Equity income		16
Combined results of operations:		
Revenues	\$	2,070
Income before income tax and minority interest		60
Net income		58
Combined financial position:		
Current assets	\$	767
Non-current assets		2,050
	_	
Total assets	\$	2,817
	_	
Current liabilities	\$	472
Non-current liabilities		569
Stockholders' equity		1,776
	_	
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$	2,817

(1) At December 31, 2003, Bunge's investment exceeded its underlying equity in the net assets of Solae by \$16 million. Straight-line amortization of this excess against equity income amounted to \$3 million in 2003. Amortization of the excess has been attributed to intangible assets of Solae, which are being amortized over five years.

### 11. Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities consist of the following:

 Decemb	er 31,		
2003		002	
\$ 608	\$	456	
336		138	
146		89	
		207	
110		83	
	_		
\$ 1,200	\$	973	
\$	\$ 608 336 146	\$ 608 \$ 336 146	

# 12. Asset Retirement Obligations

Effective January 1, 2002, Bunge adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 143, *Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations* (SFAS No. 143). As a result of the adoption, Bunge recorded a \$9 million charge, net of tax of \$5 million, as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle relating to its

F-25

mining assets assigned to the fertilizer segment and certain of its edible oil refining facilities assigned to the edible oil segment.

The carrying amount of the asset retirement obligation was \$25 million and \$24 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. There were no significant changes in the components of the liability between the adoption date and December 31, 2003 and 2002.

### 13. Income Taxes

Bunge has elected to use the U.S. income tax rates to reconcile the actual provision for income taxes with the income tax provision computed by applying the U.S. statutory rates. The components of the income tax (expense) benefit are:

		Year Ended December 3						
(US\$ in millions)	200	2003 2002		02	20	01		
Current:								
United States	\$	(7)	\$	13	\$	(18)		
Non-United States	(2	211)	(	(121)		(61)		
		_			_	_		
	(2	218)	(	(108)		(79)		
Deferred:								
United States		20		1		6		
Non-United States		(3)		3		5		
		_						
		17		4		11		
		_			_			
Total	\$ (2	201)	\$ (	(104)	\$	(68)		
		_						

Reconciliation of the income tax expense at the U.S. statutory rate to the effective rate is as follows:

	Year Ended December 31,							
(US\$ in millions)		2003		2002		2001		
Income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interests	\$	723	\$	481	\$	264		
Income tax rate		35%		35%		35%		
Income tax expense at the statutory rate Adjustments to derive effective rate:		(253)		(168)		(92)		
Miscellaneous nondeductible items Other items:				1		(14)		
Change in valuation allowance		16		(33)		17		
Effect of tax free gain on sale of soy ingredients business  Adjustment resulting from the finalization of prior years' tax returns		39		20		(3)		
Foreign exchange (expense) benefit		(40)		86		15		
Earnings of subsidiaries taxed at different statutory rates		45		(16)		(2)		
Earnings on U.S. export incentive		16		9		10		
Basis difference in determining foreign taxable income		(23)						
Other	_	(4)		(3)		1		
Income tax expense	\$	(201)	\$	(104)	\$	(68)		

In 2003, the sale of Bunge's Brazilian soy ingredients business to Solae for a gain of \$111 million did not result in taxable income and therefore no income tax was provisioned. However, Bunge has recorded a net tax expense of \$23 million relating to new tax laws in South America.

Bunge has obtained tax benefits under U.S. tax laws providing tax incentives on export sales from the use of a U.S. Foreign Sales Corporation (FSC) through 2001. Beginning in 2002, due to the repeal of the FSC, Bunge was required to use the tax provisions of the Extraterritorial Income (ETI) exclusion, which was substantially similar to the FSC. The U.S. Congress is currently considering legislation to repeal the ETI and propose a new tax incentive for certain domestic manufacturers. Bunge will continue to monitor the new legislation and determine its effects as the legislation continues to develop.

In 2003, the Argentine government enacted a new tax law affecting exporters of certain products, including grains and oilseeds. The law generally provides that in certain circumstances when an export is made to a related party that is not the final purchaser of the exported products, the income tax payable by the exporter with respect to such sales must be based on the greater of the contract price of the exported products or the market price of the products at the date of shipment. The Argentine government has not yet issued interpretive regulations regarding the application and scope of this law. Bunge will continue to monitor developments with respect to this legislation and any effect this may have on its consolidated financial statements.

During 2002, a U.S.-based wholly owned subsidiary of Bunge recognized a \$20 million tax credit relating to a re-determination of tax benefits on U.S. export sales for prior years. The amount is included above in adjustments from the finalization of prior years' tax returns.

Certain Bunge subsidiaries had undistributed earnings amounting to approximately \$519 million and \$474 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002. These are considered to be permanently reinvested and, accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been made. It is not practicable to determine the deferred tax liability for temporary differences related to these undistributed earnings. Deferred taxes are provided for subsidiaries having undistributed earnings not considered to be permanently invested.

The primary components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities and the related valuation allowance are as follows:

_		December 31,				
(US\$ in millions)	2	2003	2	2002		
Deferred income tax assets:						
Net operating loss carry-forwards	\$	369	\$	310		
Excess of tax basis over financial statement basis of property, plant and equipment		58		14		
Accrued retirement costs (pension and post-retirement cost) and other accrued						
employee compensation		18		39		
Other accruals and reserves not currently deductible for tax purposes		212		122		
Other		39		12		
			_			
Total deferred tax assets		696		497		
Less valuation allowance		(91)		(91)		
	_		_			
Net deferred tax assets		605		406		
	_		_			
Deferred tax liabilities:						
Excess of financial statement basis over tax basis of property, plant and equipment		344		189		
Undistributed earnings of affiliates		125		129		
Other		58		49		
			_			
Total deferred tax liabilities		527		367		
Net deferred tax assets	\$	78	\$	39		

At December 31, 2003, Bunge's gross tax loss carry-forwards totaled \$1,079 million, of which \$389 million have no expiration. However, applicable income tax regulations limit some of these tax losses available for offset of future taxable income to 30% of annual pre-tax income. The remaining tax loss carry-forwards expire at various periods beginning in 2004 through the year 2021.

Bunge continually reviews the adequacy of its valuation allowance and recognizes tax benefits only as reassessment indicates that it is more likely than not that the benefits will be realized. The majority of the valuation allowances relates to net operating loss carry-forwards in certain of its foreign subsidiaries where there is an uncertainty regarding their realizability and will more likely than not expire unused. In 2003, Bunge decreased its valuation allowance by \$16 million resulting from the utilization of net operating loss carry-forwards by its Brazilian and Argentine subsidiaries. Bunge was able to recognize these net operating carry-forwards because of increased statutory taxable income of these subsidiaries caused by effects of the *real* and *peso* appreciation and a change in Argentine tax law. In addition, in 2003 Bunge increased its valuation allowance in connection with the completion of the Cereol purchase price allocation.

In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Bunge paid income taxes, net of refunds, of \$112 million, \$14 million and \$16 million, respectively.

#### 14. Financial Instruments

Bunge uses various financial instruments in its operations, including certain components of working capital such as cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and accounts payable. Additionally, Bunge uses short-term and long-term debt to fund operating requirements and derivative financial instruments to manage its foreign exchange and commodity price risk exposures. The counter parties to these debt financial instruments are primarily major financial institutions and Banco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Econômico e Social ("BNDES") of the Brazilian government, or in the case of commodity futures and options, a commodity exchange. Cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable and accounts payables, marketable securities, short-term debt and all derivative instruments are carried at fair value. The fair values of all of Bunge's derivative instruments are based on quoted market prices and rates and are reflected as mark-to-market adjustments to the carrying value in the consolidated financial statements.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments The carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments were as follows:

			Decem	ber 31	l <b>,</b>			
	20	03			20	2002		
(US\$ in millions)	arrying Value	Fai	ir Value		arrying Value	Fa	ir Value	
Marketable securities	\$ 13	\$	13	\$	12	\$	12	
Long-term debt, including current portion	2,505		2,746		2,153		2,221	

Cash and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, accounts payable and short term debt. The carrying value approximates the fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments. All investment instruments with a maturity of three months or less are considered cash equivalents.

Marketable securities The fair value was determined based on quoted market prices.

Long-term debt The fair value of long-term debt was calculated based on interest rates currently available to Bunge for similar borrowings.

In 2003, Bunge reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss) to interest expense in the consolidated statement of income approximately \$2 million and expects to reclassify approximately \$2 million in 2004, relating to the amortization of treasury rate lock contracts. In the second and third quarters of 2002, Bunge entered into treasury rate lock contracts with notional values of \$200 million at a 10-year forward treasury yield of 4.99%, \$60 million at 5-year forward treasury yield of 3.13%, \$40 million at a 10-year forward treasury yield of 4.07% and \$300 million at a 10-year forward treasury yield of 4.14%, to hedge some of the interest rate variability risk associated with changes in the U.S. Treasury rate. Bunge accounted for these derivative contracts as cash flow hedges of forecasted issuances of debt that were completed in 2002. These hedges were terminated upon issuance of the related debt. At December 31, 2002, Bunge recorded a loss of approximately \$22 million relating to these derivative contracts, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), which will be reclassified to income over the term of the debt incurred. In addition, Bunge reclassified approximately \$5 million relating to these derivative contracts, from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to interest expense in the consolidated statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2002. Since Bunge did not issue as much debt as was originally forecast, a portion of the loss on the treasury locks was immediately reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to income. The amount remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is commensurate with the actual debt issued.

#### 15. Short-Term Debt and Credit Facilities

Short-term borrowings consist of the following:

		Decei	nber 31,			
(US\$ in millions)	2	003	2002			
Commercial paper with an average interest rate of 1.14% at December 31, 2003 Lines of credit:	\$	426	\$	555		
Unsecured variable interest rates from 1.38% to 8.00%		460		684		
Other		3		11		
	_		_			
Total short-term debt	\$	889	\$	1,250		

Bunge's short-term borrowings, predominantly held with commercial banks, are primarily used to fund readily marketable inventories and other working capital requirements. The weighted average interest rate on short-term borrowings at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was 2.36% and 2.46%, respectively.

In connection with the financing of readily marketable inventories, Bunge recorded interest expense on debt financing readily marketable inventories of \$28 million, \$31 million and \$38 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

At December 31, 2003, Bunge had a \$600 million commercial paper program facility to fund working capital requirements. At December 31, 2003, Bunge had approximately \$380 million of unused and available borrowing capacity under its commercial paper program facility and other committed short-term lines of credit with a number of lending institutions.

### 16. Long-Term Debt

Long-term obligations are summarized below:

	 Decem	ber 31,	
(US\$ in millions)	2003		2002
Payable in U.S. Dollars:			
Senior notes, fixed interest rates of 4.38% to 7.80%, maturing 2007 through 2013	\$ 1,486	\$	686
Convertible notes, fixed interest rate of 3.75%, maturing 2022	250		250
Senior notes, fixed interest rates from 7.23% to 7.94%, maturing through 2021	136		158
Trust certificates, fixed interest rates of 8.61%, payable 2005	18		125
Note collateralized by future export commodity contracts, fixed interest rate of 8.09%, payable			
through 2006	54		72
Other notes payable, fixed interest rates from 5.42% to 7.96%, payable through 2008	76		21
Long-term debt, variable interest rates indexed to LIBOR(1) plus 1.00% to 4.50%, payable through 2009	302		353
Other	5		139
Payable in Brazilian Reais:			
BNDES(2) loans, variable interest rate indexed to IGPM(3) plus 6.5%, payable through 2008	152		142
Other	24		24
Payable in Euros and Other Currencies:			
Senior notes, fixed interest rate of 8.70%, maturing 2005			171
Other	2		12
	2,505		2,153
Less: Installments due within one year	128		249
Total long-term debt	\$ 2,377	\$	1,904

- (1) LIBOR as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 was 1.16% and 1.38%, respectively.
- (2)
  BNDES loans are Brazilian government industrial development loans.
- (3)

  IGPM is a Brazilian inflation index published by Fundação Getulio Vargas. The annualized rate for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 was 8.71% and 25.31%, respectively.

In December 2003, Bunge completed an offering of \$500 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes bearing interest at a rate of 4.375% per year that mature in December 2008. The notes were issued by Bunge's wholly owned finance subsidiary Bunge Limited Finance Corp. and fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Bunge. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears in June and December of each year, commencing in June 2004. Bunge used the net proceeds of this offering of approximately \$497 million to repay outstanding indebtedness.

In May 2003, Bunge completed an offering of \$300 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes bearing interest at a rate of 5.875% per year that mature in May 2013. The notes were issued by Bunge's wholly owned finance subsidiary Bunge Limited Finance Corp. and fully

and unconditionally guaranteed by Bunge. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears in May and November of each year, commencing in November 2003. Bunge used the net proceeds of this offering of approximately \$296 million to reduce short-term borrowings and to repay the current portion of long-term debt coming due.

In 2002, Bunge completed an offering of \$250 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured convertible notes bearing interest at a rate of 3.75% per year that mature in November 2022 (the "Notes"). The Notes were issued by Bunge's wholly owned subsidiary Bunge Limited Finance Corp. and guaranteed by Bunge. The convertible notes are convertible at the option of the holder into common shares of Bunge at an initial conversion rate of 31.1137 common shares per \$1,000 principal amount of the Notes, which is equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately \$32.1402 per share. Bunge may redeem for cash all or a portion of these Notes at any time on or after November 22, 2005 at specified redemption prices, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the redemption date. The holders of the convertible notes have the right to require Bunge to purchase all or a portion of the Notes on November 15, 2007, November 15, 2012 and November 15, 2017 at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be purchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest up to the purchase date. Bunge has the option to require Bunge to purchase for cash all or a portion of the Notes not previously redeemed upon a specified change of control on or before November 15, 2007 at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be purchased, plus accrued interest. The convertible notes are not subject to any sinking fund requirements.

At December 31, 2003, Bunge had approximately \$520 million of unused and available borrowing capacity under its committed long-term credit facilities with a number of lending institutions.

Bunge has issued parent level guarantees for the repayment of certain of its U.S senior debt and committed credit facilities with a carrying amount of \$2,257 million at December 31, 2003. All outstanding debt related to these guarantees is included in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of Bunge Limited Finance Corp. or any other Bunge subsidiary to transfer funds to Bunge.

Certain land, property, equipment, investments in consolidated subsidiaries and export commodity contracts, having a net carrying value of approximately \$631 million at December 31, 2003 have been mortgaged or otherwise collateralized against long-term debt of \$308 million at December 31, 2003.

Principal maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

			(US\$ in millions)
		•	
2004		9	128
2005			375
2006			159
2007			131
2008			511
Later years			1,201
•		-	
Total		5	2,505
	F-32		

Bunge's indentures, credit facilities other long-term debt agreements and commercial paper program contain various restrictive covenants which require the satisfaction of certain financial covenants related to minimum net worth and working capital and a maximum long-term debt to net worth ratio. Bunge was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2003.

In 2003, 2002 and 2001, Bunge paid interest, net of interest capitalized, of \$152 million, \$134 million and \$228 million, respectively.

#### 17. Accounts Receivable Securitization

During 2002, Bunge established, through its wholly-owned U.S. operating subsidiary, a receivables securitization facility. In addition, through the acquisition of Cereol, Bunge assumed a second receivables securitization facility. Through agreements with certain financial institutions, Bunge may sell, on a revolving basis, undivided percentage ownership interests ("undivided interests") in designated pools of accounts receivable without recourse up to a maximum amount of \$146 million. Collections reduce accounts receivable included in the pools, and are used to purchase new receivables, which become part of the pools. The facilities expire in 2005 and 2007 and the effective yield rates approximate the 30-day commercial paper rate plus annual commitment fees ranging from 29.5 to 40 basis points.

In 2003 and 2002, the outstanding undivided interests averaged \$125 million and \$123 million, respectively. Bunge retains collection and administrative responsibilities for the receivables in the pools. Bunge recognized \$3 million and \$1 million in related expenses for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in Bunge's consolidated statement of income.

In addition, Bunge retains interests in the pools of receivables not sold. Due to the short-term nature of the receivables, Bunge's retained interests in the pools are valued at historical cost, which approximate fair value. The full amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts has been retained in Bunge's consolidated balance sheets since collections of all pooled receivables are first utilized to reduce the outstanding undivided interests. Accounts receivable at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were net of \$125 million and \$138 million, respectively, representing the outstanding undivided interests in pooled receivables.

#### 18. Employee Benefit Plans

Employee Defined Benefit Plans Certain U.S., Canadian and European based subsidiaries of Bunge sponsor noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all employees of the subsidiaries. The plans provide benefits based primarily on participants' salary and length of service.

The funding policies for the defined benefit pension plans are determined in accordance with statutory funding requirements. The U.S. funding policy requires at least those amounts required by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and no more than those amounts permitted by the Internal Revenue Code. Assets of the plans consist primarily of fixed income and equity investments.

Postretirement Healthcare Benefit Plans Certain U.S. based subsidiaries of Bunge have benefit plans to provide certain healthcare benefits to eligible retired employees of those subsidiaries. The plans require minimum retiree contributions and define the maximum amount the subsidiaries will be obligated to pay under the plans.

In 2003, Bunge recognized \$26 million in pretax curtailment gains for the defined benefit pension and postretirement healthcare plans, of which \$2 million was recognized in discontinued operations resulting from the sale of the U.S. bakery business. These gains largely resulted from a reduction in pension and postretirement healthcare benefit liabilities relating to the transfer of employees to Solae, Bunge's joint venture and a reduction of postretirement healthcare benefits of U.S. employees.

Effective January 1, 2004, the defined benefit pension plans for all non-union U.S. employees were merged into one plan. In addition, certain postretirement healthcare benefits plans were amended, which reduced Bunge's liability related to future retirees. These changes are reflected in the benefit obligations as of December 31, 2003.

The following table sets forth in aggregate a reconciliation of the changes in the plans' benefit obligations, assets and funded status at December 31, 2003 and 2002 for plans with assets in excess of benefit obligations and plans with benefit obligations in excess of plan assets. The projected benefit obligation related principally to U.S. plans and therefore Bunge has aggregated U.S. and foreign plans for the following disclosures. A measurement date of September 30, 2003 was used for all plans.

		Pension I Decemb				etirem enefits mber :	3
US\$ in millions)		2003	2	2002	2003		2002
Change in benefit obligations:							
Benefit obligation as of beginning of year	\$	269	\$	118	\$ 42	\$	20
Service cost		8		5	1		1
Interest cost		16		11	2		2
Actuarial losses, net		40		10	3		1
Acquisition and purchase accounting adjustments		(9)		136	(3	)	20
Plan amendments		9		1			
Curtailment (gains)		(10)			(16	)	
Benefits paid		(12)		(7)	(2	)	(1)
Impact of foreign exchange rates		7		(5)		_	(1)
Benefit obligation as of end of year	\$	318	\$	269	\$ 27	\$	42
Change in plan assets:							
Fair value of plan assets as of beginning of year	\$	183	\$	98	\$	\$	
Actual return on plan assets		27		(3)			
Acquisition				94			
Employer contributions		6		4	2		1
Benefits paid		(12)		(7)	(2	)	(1)
Impact of foreign exchange rates		1		(3)		_	
Fair value of plan assets as of end of year	\$	205	\$	183	\$	\$	

F-34

Doctrotinoment

Funded status and net amounts recognized:							
Plan assets less than benefit obligation	\$	(113)	\$	(86)	\$	(26)	\$ (42)
Unrecognized prior service cost		12		5			(3)
Unrecognized net actuarial losses (gains)		65		34		1	(1)
Unrecognized net transition asset		(2)		(2)			
			_				
Net liability recognized in the balance sheet	\$	(38)	\$	(49)	\$	(25)	\$ (46)
			_		_		
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:							
Prepaid benefit costs	\$	10	\$	1	\$		\$
Accrued benefit cost		(92)		(69)		(25)	(46)
Intangible asset		11		3			
Accumulated other comprehensive income		33		16			
	_		_		_		
Net liability recognized	\$	(38)	\$	(49)	\$	(25)	\$ (46)

Bunge has aggregated certain pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of fair value of plan assets with pension plans that have fair value of plan assets in excess of projected benefit obligations. At December 31, 2003, the \$318 million projected benefit obligation includes plans with projected benefit obligations of \$305 million, which was in excess of the fair value of related plan assets of \$188 million. At December 31, 2002, the \$269 million projected benefit obligation includes plans with projected benefit obligations of \$255 million, which were in excess of the fair value of related plan assets of \$167 million.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was \$291 and \$221 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The following table summarizes information relating to aggregated pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets.

			Decen	ıber 31	,
			2003		2002
Projected benefit obligation		\$	304	\$	255
Accumulated benefit obligation			277		159
Fair value of plan assets			188		102
	F-35				

The components of net periodic costs are as follows:

	_	Pension Benefits Year Ended December 31,							Postretirement Benefits Year Ended December 31,				
(US\$ in millions)		2003		2002	2001		2003		2002		2001		
Service cost	\$	8	\$	5 \$	5 4	\$	1	\$	1	\$			
Interest cost		16		11	8		2		2		2		
Expected return on plan assets		(16)	)	(11)	(9)	)							
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost		1		1	1								
Recognized net loss		1											
Amortization of transition obligation		(1)	)	(1)	(1)	)							
	_		_			-		-		_			
Net periodic benefit costs	\$	9	\$	5 \$	3	\$	3	\$	3	\$	2		
	_												

Bunge has recorded a minimum pension liability for the actuarial present value of accumulated benefits that exceeded plan assets and the accrued pension liabilities that were exceeded by the unfunded accumulated benefit obligation. The accrued additional minimum pension liability at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was \$44 million and \$19 million, respectively. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, Bunge also recognized an intangible asset of \$11 million and \$3 million, respectively, related to unamortized prior service costs for which a minimum pension liability was recorded. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, Bunge recorded \$33 million and \$16 million, respectively, of the excess of the additional minimum pension liability over the amount recognized as an intangible asset in other accumulated comprehensive income (loss). Bunge recorded an increase in additional minimum pension liability of \$17 million and \$16 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, which is included in other comprehensive income (loss).

The weighted average assumptions used in determining the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligations under the defined benefit plans are as follows:

	At Decem	ber 31,
	2003	2002
Discount rate	6.0%	6.8%
Increase in future compensation levels	3.4%	4.5%

The weighted average assumptions used in determining the net periodic benefit cost under the defined benefit plans are as follows:

	Year En	er 31,	
	2003	2002	2001
Discount rate	6.8%	7.5%	7.5%
Increase in future compensation levels	4.5%	5.0%	5.0%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets	8.4%	9.0%	9.0%

The sponsoring subsidiaries select the expected long-term rate of return on assets in consultation with their investment advisors and actuaries. These rates are intended to reflect the average rates of

earnings expected to be earned on the funds invested or to be invested to provide required plan benefits. The plans are assumed to continue in effect as long as assets are expected to be invested.

In estimating the expected long-term rate of return on assets, appropriate consideration is given to historical performance for the major asset classes held or anticipated to be held by the applicable plan trusts and to current forecasts of future rates of return for those asset classes. Cash flow and expenses are taken into consideration to the extent that the expected returns would be affected by them. Because assets are generally held in qualified trusts, anticipated returns are not reduced for taxes.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, for measurement purposes, an 8% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits was assumed for 2004 and 2003, respectively. At December 31, 2003, the rate to which the cost trend rate was assumed to decrease was to 6% for 2005 and remains at that level thereafter.

A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects at December 31, 2003:

(US\$ in millions)	One-percentage point increase	_	One-percentag point decrease	e
Effect on total service and interest cost components	\$		\$	
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation	\$	2	\$	2

The pension plans weighted-average asset allocations at the end of the plan year for 2003 and 2002, by category are as follows:

	Plan Ass Decemb	
Asset Category	2003	2002
Equities	58%	58%
Fixed income securities	41%	42%
Cash	1%	%
Total	100%	100%

The trust funds are sufficiently diversified to maintain a reasonable level of risk without imprudently sacrificing return, with a target asset allocation of approximately 40% fixed income securities and approximately 60% equities. The investment managers select investment fund managers with demonstrated experience and expertise who select funds with proven performance for the implementation of the investment strategy. Investment policies have been provided to investment managers by the sponsoring subsidiaries. The investment managers consider both the actively and passively managed investment strategies and allocated funds across the asset classes to develop an efficient investment structure. Investment managers have been instructed not to invest plan assets in Bunge Limited shares.

Bunge expects to contribute \$9 million to its defined pension plans and \$2 million to its postretirement benefit plans in 2004. In addition, in 2004, Bunge expects to contribute \$6 million to a non-qualified plan for a 2004 lump-sum distribution from that plan.

Employee Defined Contribution Plans Bunge also makes contributions to qualified defined contribution plans for eligible employees. Contributions amounted to \$6 million, \$4 million, and \$2 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

### 19. Related Party Transactions

Mutual Investment Limited In June 2003, Bunge received \$55 million from its former sole shareholder, Mutual Investment Limited, as final payment of a long-term note receivable, relating to a capital contribution made in 2000. This \$55 million note receivable was included in shareholders' equity at December 31, 2002. Bunge recorded interest income of \$1 million, \$3 million and \$6 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, pertaining to the related party receivable. In December 2003, Bunge sold an inactive Netherlands subsidiary to Mutual Investment Limited for \$64 thousand in connection with a reorganization of certain Mutual Investment Limited's investments. In addition, Bunge has entered into an administrative services agreement with Mutual Investment Limited under which Bunge provides corporate and administrative services to Mutual Investment Limited, including financial, legal, tax, accounting, human resources administration, insurance, employee benefits plans administration, corporate communication and management information system services. The agreement has a quarterly term that is automatically renewable unless terminated by either party. Mutual Investment Limited pays Bunge for the services rendered on a quarterly basis based on our direct and indirect costs of providing the services. In 2003, Mutual Investment Limited paid Bunge \$661 thousand under this agreement.

*Other* Bunge sells soybean meal and fertilizer products to Seara Alimentos S.A., a subsidiary of Mutual Investment Limited, engaged in the business of meat and poultry production. These sales were \$6 million, \$4 million and \$12 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

In addition, Bunge sold soybeans and related soybean products to Solae, which totaled \$62 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Bunge also purchased soybean meal and soybean oil from Solae, which totaled \$62 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Bunge believes these transactions are recorded at values similar to those with third parties.

### 20. Commitments and Contingencies

Bunge is party to a large number of claims and lawsuits, primarily tax and labor claims in Brazil, arising in the normal course of business. After taking into account the liabilities recorded for the foregoing matters, management believes that the ultimate resolution of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on Bunge's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. Included in other non-current liabilities at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are the following accrued liabilities:

			Decem	ber 31,	
(US\$ in millions)	2	003	2	2002	
Tax claims		\$	112	\$	77
Labor claims			79		54
Civil and other			67		83
Total		\$	258	\$	214
	F-38				

Tax claims The tax claims relate principally to claims against Bunge's Brazilian subsidiaries, including income tax claims, value added tax claims (ICMS and IPI) and sales tax claims (PIS and COFINS). The determination of the manner in which various Brazilian federal, state and municipal taxes apply to the operations of Bunge is subject to varying interpretations arising from the complex nature of Brazilian tax law.

Labor claims The labor claims relate principally to claims against Bunge's Brazilian subsidiaries. Court rulings under Brazilian labor laws have historically been in favor of the employee-plaintiff. The labor claims primarily relate to dismissals, severance, health and safety, salary adjustments and supplementary retirement benefits.

Civil and other The civil and other claims relate to various disputes with suppliers and customers.

Settlement of Ducros Arbitration In April 2003, Cereol and Cereol Holding France entered into a settlement agreement with McCormick & Company, Incorporated, McCormick France SAS and Ducros S.A. relating to a claim for €155 million brought by McCormick over the purchase price of Ducros, which was sold to McCormick in August 2000. Under the settlement agreement, Bunge paid McCormick \$57 million, which was included in the opening balance sheet of Cereol. In connection with the settlement, Bunge paid an additional purchase price to Edison S.p.A. and Cereol's former public shareholders of approximately \$42 million in the aggregate.

In addition, Cereol is involved in arbitration with its former joint venture partner over the final purchase price of Oleina Holding and related issues. Cereol purchased the 49% of Oleina it did not already own from its joint venture partner for \$27 million in February 2002. The final purchase price is subject to adjustments, and may be higher or lower than \$27 million depending upon the outcome of the dispute. We are entitled to be indemnified by Edison, from whom we purchased Cereol in October 2002, if the final purchase price exceeds \$39 million.

EBRD Put Option In connection with Cereol's operations in Eastern Europe, Cereol entered into a joint venture with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, or EBRD, pursuant to which Cereol owns approximately 60% and the EBRD owns approximately 40% of Polska Oil Investment B.V., or Polska Oil. Polska Oil, in turn, owns 50% of Zaklady Thuszczowe Kruszwica S.A., or Kruszwica, a Polish producer of bottled edible oils. Bunge also has a 32% additional direct interest in Kruszwica. Polska Oil and Kruszwica are consolidated subsidiaries of Bunge. Pursuant to an amended and restated shareholders agreement between Cereol and the EBRD, the EBRD has the option to put its shares in Polska Oil to Bunge at any time prior to June 3, 2005 at the then current fair market value as determined by an independent expert, subject to a floor and cap based on a contractual formula. At December 31, 2003, the estimated fair value of the EBRD stake in Polska Oil was approximately \$27 million.

Antitrust Approval of Manah Acquisition In April 2000, Bunge acquired Manah S.A., a Brazilian fertilizer company that had an indirect participation in Fosfertil. Fosfertil is the main Brazilian producer of phosphate used to produce NPK fertilizers. This acquisition was approved by the Brazilian antitrust commission in February 2004. The approval was conditioned on the formalization of an operational agreement between Bunge and the antitrust commission relating to the maintenance of existing competitive conditions in the fertilizer market. Although the terms of the operating agreement

have not been finalized, Bunge does not expect them to have a material adverse impact on its business or financial results.

*Guarantees* In addition to the guarantees of its senior credit facilities and its senior notes (see Note 16) Bunge has issued or was a party to the following guarantees at December 31, 2003:

(US\$ in millions)	Po	ximum tential Payments
Operating lease residual values	\$	69
Unconsolidated affiliates financing		20
Customer financing		93
Total	\$	182

Prior to January 1, 2003, Bunge entered into synthetic lease agreements for barges and railcars originally owned by Bunge and subsequently sold to third parties. The leases are classified as operating leases in accordance with SFAS No. 13, *Accounting for Leases*. Any gains on the sales have been deferred and are being recognized ratably over the related lease terms. In 2003, Bunge recognized \$3 million from the amortization of these gains. Bunge has the option under each lease to purchase the barges or railcars at fixed amounts based on estimated fair values or to sell the assets. If Bunge elects to sell, it will receive proceeds up to fixed amounts specified in the agreements. If the proceeds of such sales are less than the specified fixed amounts, Bunge would be obligated under a guarantee to pay supplemental rent for the deficiency in proceeds. The operating leases expire through 2007. There are no recourse provisions or collateral that would enable Bunge to recover any amounts paid under this guarantee. Bunge has determined the fair value of these guarantees to be immaterial at December 31, 2003.

Prior to January 1, 2003, Bunge issued a guarantee to a financial institution related to debt of its joint ventures in Argentina, its unconsolidated affiliates. The term of the guarantee is equal to the term of the related financing, which matures in six years. There are no recourse provisions or collateral that would enable Bunge to recover any amounts paid under this guarantee. Bunge has recorded a liability of \$1 million related to this guarantee at December 31, 2003.

Bunge issued guarantees to a financial institution in Brazil related to amounts owed the institution by certain of its customers. The terms of the guarantees are equal to the terms of the related financing arrangements, which can be as short as 120 days or as long as 360 days. In the event that the customers default on their payments to the institutions and Bunge would be required to perform under the guarantees, Bunge has obtained collateral from the customers. At December 31, 2003, the majority of these financing arrangements were collateralized by land and crop production. Bunge has determined the fair value of these guarantees to be immaterial at December 31, 2003.

In addition, certain of Bunge's subsidiaries have provided guarantees of indebtedness of certain of their subsidiaries under certain lines of credit with various institutions. The total borrowing capacity under these lines of credit guarantees is \$270 million.

#### 21. Redeemable Preferred Stock

In December 2000, Bunge First Capital Limited ("First Capital"), a consolidated subsidiary of Bunge, issued 170,000 \$.01 cent par value shares of cumulative variable rate redeemable preferred shares to private investors for \$170 million. First Capital used the net proceeds of \$163 million to make loans to subsidiaries of Bunge for their working capital requirements. The results of First Capital are included in Bunge's consolidated financial statements and all intercompany transactions are eliminated. The holders of the preferred shares are entitled to receive cumulative variable rate cash dividends paid quarterly. The amount of the dividend is calculated based on alternative benchmark financing rates, certain actual expenses and a return. If more than one quarterly dividend is unpaid, and on the occurrence of certain other events, the preferred shareholders may require First Capital to arrange for the sale of the preferred stock to third parties on behalf of the preferred shareholders based on the issue price plus accrued and unpaid dividends, or take certain other actions to protect the interests of the preferred shareholders.

First Capital has the right to redeem the preferred stock, in whole or in part, for the issue price plus accrued and unpaid dividends.

First Capital is a separate legal entity from Bunge and has separate assets and liabilities. The carrying value of these preferred shares at both December 31, 2003 and 2002 was \$171 million and is reflected in minority interest in the consolidated balance sheets.

#### 22. Shareholders' Equity

Between July 5, 2001 and July 12, 2001, Bunge's Board of Directors approved: (i) the exchange with Mutual Investment of 12,000 common shares, par value \$1.00 per share, of Bunge Limited, for 1.2 million common shares, par value \$.01 per share, of Bunge Limited, (ii) the declaration and payment of a 52.65-for-1 share dividend, (iii) an increase in Bunge's authorized share capital to 240 million common shares, par value \$.01 per share, (iv) the authorization of 9,760,000 of undesignated preference shares and (v) the authorization of 240,000 of Series A Preference Shares.

The common shares data presented herein have been restated for all periods to reflect the effects of the share exchange and share dividend above.

On August 6, 2001, Mutual Investment effected a series of transactions that resulted in the pro rata distribution of the common shares of Bunge to the shareholders of Mutual Investment. Prior to August 6, 2001, all of the common shares of Bunge were owned by Mutual Investment, a privately held company incorporated in Bermuda.

On August 7, 2001, Bunge sold 17,600,000 of its common shares, par value \$.01, at an offering price of \$16 per share in an initial public offering. On September 6, 2001, Bunge sold 1,175,100 of its common shares, par value \$.01, at an offering price of \$16 per share upon the exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option. Proceeds from the offering and the exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option less underwriting discounts, commissions and expenses were \$278 million. The net proceeds of the initial public offering were used to reduce indebtedness under Bunge's commercial paper program.

In March 2002, Bunge sold 16,093,633 common shares in a public offering. Proceeds from this offering and the underwriters' exercise of the over-allotment option, less underwriting discounts, commissions and expenses, were \$292 million. The net proceeds were used to buy back shares held by minority shareholders

in connection with Bunge's corporate restructuring of its Brazilian subsidiaries (see Note 2) with the remainder used to reduce indebtedness under Bunge's commercial paper program.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) The following table summarizes the balances of related after-tax components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):

(US\$ in millions)	Foreign Deferred Exchange Gain (Loss) Treasury Minimun Translation on Hedging Rate Lock Pension Adjustment Activities Contracts Liability		Exchange Gain (Loss) Cranslation on Hedging			Pension	Deferred Gain (Loss) on Investments	,	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	
Balance, January 1, 2001	\$	(473) \$		\$		\$	S	5	\$	(473)
Other comprehensive income (loss)		(222)		5						(217)
Balance, December 31, 2001		(695)	:	5						(690)
Other comprehensive income (loss)		(403)			(21)		(11)	(1)		(436)
Balance, December 31, 2002		(1,098)		5	(21)	)	(11)	(1)		(1,126)
Other comprehensive income (loss)		489	(12	2)	2		(10)	1		470
Balance, December 31, 2003	\$	(609) \$	(	7) \$	(19)	\$	(21) \$	8	\$	(656)

Bunge has significant operating subsidiaries in Brazil, Argentina and Europe. The functional currency of Bunge's subsidiaries is the local currency. The assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars from local currency at month-end exchange rates, and the resulting foreign exchange translation gains and losses are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

#### 23. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, excluding any dilutive effects of stock options and restricted stock unit awards during the reporting period. Diluted earnings per share is computed similar to basic earnings per share, except that the weighted average number of common shares outstanding is increased to include additional shares from the assumed exercise of stock options, restricted stock unit awards and convertible notes (the "Notes" see Note 16), if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options were exercised and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common shares at the average market price during the reporting period.

In addition, the Notes are convertible into Bunge's common shares at the option of a holder, among other circumstances, during any calendar quarter in which the closing price of Bunge's common shares for at least 20 trading days of the last 30 trading days of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is more than 120% of the conversion price of \$32.1402 or approximately \$38.57 per share. If this condition for the conversion is met, then 7,778,425 shares of Bunge's common shares issuable upon conversion would be included in diluted earnings per share, whether or not the conversion rights are exercised. The number of Bunge's dilutive weighted average common shares outstanding for each period presented does not include the common shares that would be issuable upon conversion of these Notes, because in accordance with their terms, these Notes had not yet become convertible. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

#### Year Ended December 31,

	2003			2002		2001
		(US\$ in	millio	ns, except for shar	e data)	_
Income from continuing operations basic and diluted	\$	418	\$	275	\$	124
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:						
Basic		99,745,825		95,895,338		71,844,895
Effect of dilutive shares		1,129,777		753,791		159,859
Diluted		100,875,602		96,649,129		72,004,754
Income from continuing operations per share:						
Basic	\$	4.19	\$	2.87	\$	1.73
Diluted	\$	4.14	\$	2.85	\$	1.72

### 24. Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plan In 2001, Bunge established its Equity Incentive Plan (the "Employee Plan"), which is a shareholder approved plan. Under the plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board may award equity-based compensation to officers, employees, consultants and independent contractors. Awards under the plan may be in the form of stock options (qualified or non-qualified), restricted stock units (performance-based or time vested) or other awards.

Stock Option Awards Generally, stock options to purchase shares of Bunge Limited common shares are non-qualified and granted at not less than fair market value on the date of grant, as determined under the Employee Plan. Options generally vest on a pro-rata basis over a three-year period on the anniversary date of the grant. Vesting may be accelerated in circumstances such as a change in control of Bunge.

Restricted Stock Units Performance-based restricted stock units and time-vested regular restricted stock units are granted to a limited number of key executives. The performance-based restricted stock units are awarded at the beginning of a three-year performance period and vest at the end of the three-year performance period. The vesting of the performance-based restricted stock units is dependent on Bunge obtaining certain targeted cumulative earnings per share ("EPS") growth during the three-year performance period. The targeted cumulative EPS under the plan is based on income per share from continuing operations adjusted for non-recurring charges and other one-time events at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. Vesting may be accelerated in certain situations such as a change in control of Bunge. The actual award is calculated based on a sliding scale whereby 50% of the granted performance-based restricted stock unit award vests if the minimum target is achieved. No vesting occurs if cumulative EPS is less than the minimum target. The award is capped at 150% of the grant for cumulative EPS performance in excess of the maximum target. Performance-based restricted stock unit awards may be paid out, at the participant's election, in cash only or a combination of cash and Bunge Limited common shares once the specified terms and conditions of the award are satisfied. At the time of pay out, a participant holding a vested performance-based restricted stock unit award will also be entitled to receive corresponding dividend equivalent payments.

The time-vested regular restricted stock unit awards are subject to vesting periods varying from three to four years and vest on a pro-rata basis over the applicable vesting period or at the end of the applicable vesting period. Vesting may be accelerated in certain circumstances such as a change in control of Bunge. The time-vested regular restricted stock units are paid out in Bunge Limited common shares once the applicable vesting terms are satisfied. At the time of pay out, a participant holding a time-vested restricted stock unit award will also be entitled to receive corresponding dividend equivalent payments.

Compensation expense related to these restricted stock unit awards is based on the quoted market price of Bunge's common shares and is recorded in the consolidated statements of income based on the vesting terms. In accordance with APB No. 25, Bunge recorded compensation expense of \$9 million, \$7 million and \$3 million for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, for grants of restricted stock unit awards.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were 452,862 and 534,224, respectively, restricted stock units granted that had not yet vested. During 2003, Bunge issued 168,432 shares with a weighted average fair value of \$25.61 per share pursuant to outstanding performance-based restricted stock unit awards that had become vested.

Non-Employee Directors' Equity Incentive Plan In 2001, Bunge established its Non-Employee Directors' Equity Incentive Plan (the "Directors' Plan"). The Directors' Plan is a non-shareholder approved plan. The Directors' Plan provides for awards of nonqualified stock options to non-employee directors. The options vest and are exercisable on the January 1st following the date of grant, assuming the director continued service as a member of the Board of Directors until such date. Vesting may be accelerated in certain situations such as a change in control of Bunge.

Bunge has reserved 9,990,832 and 499,542 common shares for grants of stock options and other stock awards under Bunge's Employee Plan and Directors' Plan, respectively. At December 31, 2003, 6,162,272 common shares were available for grant under the Employee Plan and Directors' Plan. Bunge's Employee Plan and Directors' Plan provide that up to 10.0% and 0.5%, respectively, of Bunge's total outstanding common shares may be reserved for issuance pursuant to awards under the plans. Therefore, the number of shares reserved under the plans will increase as the number of Bunge's total issued common shares outstanding increases.

A summary of Bunge's stock option activity for the Employee Plan and the Directors Plan and related information was as follows:

	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price per Share
Options outstanding at January 1, 2001		\$
Granted	2,137,372	16.74
Exercised		
Forfeited		
Expired		
•		
Options outstanding at December 31, 2001	2,137,372	\$ 16.74
Granted	1,164,100	21.61
Exercised	(83,500)	16.91
Forfeited	(37,213)	15.95
Expired		
•		
Options outstanding at December 31, 2002	3,180,759	\$ 18.53
Granted	1,123,800	25.22
Exercised	(407,653)	17.54
Forfeited	(21,666)	20.38
Expired		
Options outstanding at December 31, 2003	3,875,240	\$ 20.57
Exercisable options:		
December 31, 2001	189,687	\$ 18.87
December 31, 2002	973,378	\$ 17.09
December 31, 2003  Information regarding stock ontions outstanding and eversisable at December 31, 2003, which is a stock ontion of the stock ontions outstanding and eversisable at December 31, 2003, which is a stock on the st	1,726,865	\$ 18.28

Information regarding stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2003, was as follows:

### Range of Exercise Prices

	\$15	\$15.88-\$16.00 \$18.88-\$21.61			\$21.62-\$25.22
Options outstanding:					
Number		1,200,229		1,551,211	1,123,800
Weighted average exercise price	\$	15.97	\$	20.76	\$ 25.22
Weighted average remaining contractual life in years		6.7		7.1	8.8
Options exercisable:					
Number		810,019		876,846	40,000
Weighted average exercise price	\$	15.97	\$	20.11	\$ 25.22
	F-45				

#### 25. Lease Commitments

Bunge routinely leases storage facilities, transportation equipment and office facilities under operating leases. Minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2003 were as follows:

2004 \$	
2004 \$	
	68
2005 2006	57
	52
2007	46
2008	36
Thereafter	60
Total \$	319

Rent expense under non-cancelable operating leases was \$62 million, \$52 million and \$43 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The current portion of the capital lease obligations is included in other current liabilities and the long-term portion is included in non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

#### 26. Long-Lived Asset Impairment and Restructuring Charges

In 2003, Bunge recorded a pretax impairment charge of \$40 million relating to its fixed assets at its European oilseed processing facilities. These facilities are older, less efficient crushing facilities, and these operations are dependent on soybeans imported from North and South America for production. The European operations experienced operating losses during 2003. During the fourth quarter, Bunge updated its operating forecast, which included the effects of certain events occurring in the fourth quarter, such as the shortfall in the North American soy crop, increased export tariffs for Brazilian soy exports, and increased freight rates. Furthermore, Bunge determined that maintenance capital expenditures for the facilities would be substantially higher than previously forecasted. As a result of these factors, Bunge tested the assets for impairment based upon an undiscounted cash flow model and determined that these cash flows would not recover the carrying value of the assets. The impairment was measured based upon the amount by which the carrying value exceeded the discounted cash flows.

In 2002, Bunge recorded pretax impairment charge of \$5 million relating to its North American edible oil bottling facilities. The impairment charge was attributable to a planned disposal of an edible oil segment facility. The carrying value of these assets was written down to their estimated fair value at December 31, 2002.

In 2001, Bunge recorded impairment charges of \$14 million relating to non-cash write-downs of property, plant and equipment attributable to the planned closing of older, less efficient plants in the edible oil segment. The write-downs were taken in response to a downturn in the agribusiness industry and the advancement in technology in certain product lines within the edible oil products segment and the corn products segment. In 2001 Bunge recorded charges impairment and restructuring charges of \$44 million relating to non-cash write-downs of property, plant and equipment and employee termination costs paid of \$5 million. The carrying value of these assets was written down to their estimated fair value.

Bunge has recorded these impairment charges in cost of goods sold in the consolidated statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

#### 27. Argentina

In 2002, Bunge commenced and continues to record allowances against certain recoverable taxes owed to it by the Argentine government due to delayed payment and uncertainty regarding the local economic environment. The balance of these allowances fluctuates depending on the sales activity of existing inventories, the purchase of new inventories, seasonality, changes in applicable tax rates, cash payment by the Argentine government and compensation of outstanding balances against income or certain other taxes owed to the Argentine government. At December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, these allowances for recoverable taxes were \$25 million and \$64 million, respectively. In 2003, Bunge decreased this allowance for recoveries of these taxes in the amount of \$39 million as a result of either cash received by Bunge or compensation against taxes owed by Bunge to the Argentine government. In 2002, Bunge increased the allowance for provisions in the amount of \$44 million.

### 28. Operating Segments and Geographic Areas

In the first quarter of 2003, Bunge changed the name of its "wheat milling and bakery products" segment to "milling and baking products" in connection with the reclassification of its corn milling products business line from the "other" segment to the "milling and baking products" segment. As a result of this change, Bunge's "other" segment reflects only its Brazilian soy ingredients business line, which was sold to The Solae Company, Bunge's joint venture with DuPont, in May 2003. In the fourth quarter of 2003, Bunge changed the name of its "milling and baking products" segment to "milling products" in connection with the sale of its U.S. bakery business. The operating results of the disposed U.S. bakery business have been reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented. All these changes are reflected in 2003 and all prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2003 presentation.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, Bunge changed its presentation of segment information to include segment operating profit as a measure of segment profitability. Segment operating profit includes the financial costs of carrying operating working capital, including foreign exchange gains and losses and interest expense on debt financing working capital and interest income earned on working capital items, which is consistent with how management views the results for operational purposes.

With the completion of the sale of the Brazilian soy ingredients business and the sale of its U.S. bakery business, Bunge has four reporting segments agribusiness, fertilizer, edible oils products and milling products, which are organized based upon similar economic characteristics and are similar in nature of products and services offered, the nature of production processes, the type and class of customer and distribution methods. The agribusiness segment is characterized by both inputs and outputs being agricultural commodities and thus high volume and low margin. The activities of the fertilizer segment include raw material mining, mixing fertilizer components and marketing products. The edible oil products segment involves the manufacturing and marketing of products derived from vegetable oils. The milling products segment involves the manufacturing and marketing of products derived primarily from wheat and corn.

The "Unallocated" column in the following table contains the reconciliation between the totals for reportable segments and Bunge consolidated totals, which consists primarily of corporate items not allocated to the operating segments, inter-segment eliminations and principally the Solae joint venture. Transfers between the segments are generally valued at market. The revenues generated from these transfers are shown in the following table as "Inter-segment revenues."

# **Operating Segment Information**

(US\$ in millions)	Agri	business	Fertilizer	Edible Oil Products	Milling Products	Other	Unallocated	Total
2003								
Net sales to external customers	\$	17,345 \$	1,954 \$	2,063 \$	751	\$ 52.5	\$	22,165
Intersegment revenues		623	,	66	22		(711)	Ź
Gross profit(1)(2)		587	373	246	81	18	,	1,305
Foreign exchange gains (losses)		89	(20)			(1)	24	92
Interest income		32	53	6		, ,	11	102
Interest expense		(86)	(35)	(24)	(8)	(2)	(60)	(215)
Segment operating profit(3)		274	242	64	30	8	, ,	618
Depreciation, depletion and								
amortization expense		(91)	(57)	(23)	(13)			(184)
Investments in affiliates		5	6	36	8		482	537
Total assets		6,177	1,738	908	324		737	9,884
Capital expenditures	\$	169 \$	73 \$	48 \$	14	\$ 5	\$	304
2002								
2002 Net sales to external customers	\$	10,483 \$	1.384 \$	1.279 \$	628	\$ 108 5	\$	13,882
	Þ	511	1,364 \$	1,279 \$	028	\$ 106 3	(511)	13,002
Intersegment revenues		783	293	151	77	34	(311)	1.338
Gross profit		(171)	293 9	3	//	34	(23)	(179)
Foreign exchange gains (losses)		22		1	2	3		
Interest income		(67)	36	(15)	(10)	(5)	10	71
Interest expense		` ′	(46) 192	(13)	18	(5) 22	(33)	(176) 521
Segment operating profit		283	192	0	18	22		321
Depreciation, depletion and		(75)	(50)	(10)	(0)	(10)		(1(0)
amortization expense		(75) 1	(56)	(18)	(9) 9	(10)	26	(168)
Investments in affiliates Total assets		4.883	1,259	1,409	276	320	36 202	52 8,349
	\$	137 \$		1,409				240
Capital expenditures	Ф	15/ \$	) зо ф	10 \$	12	<b>Þ</b> 1/ J	Ф	240
2001								
Net sales to external customers	\$	8,412 \$	1,316 \$	872 \$	621			11,302
Intersegment revenues		317				18	(335)	
Gross profit		510	280	85	68	28		971
Foreign exchange losses		(77)	(21)	(6)	(1)	(1)	(42)	(148)
Interest income		37	32	2	5		15	91
Interest expense		(126)	(59)	(8)	(11)	(3)	(16)	(223)
Segment operating profit		155	137	(4)	7	16		311
Depreciation, depletion and								
amortization expense		(62)	(60)	(19)	(17)	(5)		(163)
Investments in affiliates		15	14					29
Total assets		2,745	1,654	354	338	194	158	5,443
Capital expenditures	\$	65 \$	5 114 \$ F-4		13	\$ 75	\$	226

- Agribusiness gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2003, included a pretax non-cash curtailment gain of \$15 million reflecting a reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees recorded in cost of goods sold. Edible oil products and milling products gross profit included a pretax non-cash curtailment gain of \$1 million and \$1 million, respectively, for year ended December 31, 2003, relating to the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees recorded in cost of goods sold.
- In the fourth quarter of 2003, Bunge recorded in cost of goods sold in its consolidated statement of income a pretax goodwill impairment charge of \$16 million and a pretax long-lived asset impairment charge of \$40 million in its Agribusiness segment, relating to fixed assets at its European oilseed processing facilities (see Note 8 and Note 26). In the fourth quarter of 2002, Bunge recorded in cost of goods sold in its consolidated statement of income a pretax impairment charge of \$5 million, relating to its U.S. edible oil bottling facilities.
- Agribusiness segment profit for year ended December 31, 2003, included pretax non-cash curtailment gains totaling \$20 million reflecting a reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefit liabilities due to the transfer of employees to Solae and a reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees recorded in cost of goods sold and in SG&A. Edible oil products and milling products segment operating profit included total pretax non-cash curtailment gains of \$2 million and \$2 million, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2003, relating to the reduction of pension and postretirement healthcare benefits of certain U.S. employees recorded in cost of goods sold and in SG&A.

Reconciliation of segment profit to income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interests follows:

		Year E	nded	l Decem	ber 3	31,
(US\$ millions)		2003	2	2002	2	2001
Segment operating profit	\$	618	\$	521	\$	311
Gain on sale of Ingredients business		111				
Unallocated expenses net(1)		(6)		(40)		(47)
			_		_	
Income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest	\$	723	\$	481	\$	264
					_	

(1)
Unalloacated expenses-net included interest income, interest expense, foreign gains and losses and other income and expense not directly attributable to Bunge's operating segments.

Net sales by product group to external customers were as follows:

<b>T</b> 7	T2 . 1 . 1	T	21
Year	Ended	l December	.51.

(US\$ millions)		2003		2003		2003		2003		2003		2002		2001	
Agricultural commodities products		\$	17,345	\$	10,483	\$	8,412								
Fertilizer products			1,954		1,384		1,316								
Edible oil products			2,063		1,279		872								
Wheat milling products			500		399		398								
Corn milling products			251		229		223								
Soy ingredient products			52		108		81								
Total		\$	22,165	\$	13,882	\$	11,302								

Geographic area information for net sales to external customers, determined based on the country of origin, and long-lived assets follows:

### Year Ended December 31,

(US\$ millions)		2003		2002	2001
Net sales to external customers:					
United States	\$	6,129	\$	4,482	\$ 4,365
Brazil		3,894		3,253	3,268
Argentina		275		452	446
Canada		1,216		203	
Europe		7,176		4,232	2,198
Asia		3,451		1,229	1,007
Rest of world		24		31	18
Total	\$	22,165	\$	13,882	\$ 11,302
			D	ecember 31,	
(US\$ millions)	•	2003		2002	2001
Long-lived assets(1):					
United States	\$	1,05	52 \$	726	\$ 485
Brazil		1,32	23	1,002	1,318
Argentina		8	80	53	57
Europe		30	)2	394	
Rest of world		11	.0	98	4
Unallocated(2)				89	
Total	-	5 2,86	57 <b>\$</b>	2,362	\$ 1,864

<sup>(1)</sup> Long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment, net, goodwill and other intangible assets, net and investments in affiliates.

<sup>(2)</sup> Unallocated purchase price relating to the Cereol acquisition (see Note 2 and Note 8).

# 29. Quarterly Financial Information

	Quarter										
		First		Second		Third		Fourth		Year End	
	(US\$ in millions, except per share data) (Unaudited)										
2003											
Volumes (in millions of metric tons)	ф	22.7		27.8	ф	28.9		27.6	Φ.	107.0	
Net sales Gross profit(1)(2)	\$	4,842 273	\$	5,181 268	\$	5,784 370	\$	6,358 394	\$	22,165 1,305	
Discontinued operations(3)		(1)		(1)		(2)		(3)		(7)	
Income before cumulative effect of change in		(-)		(-)		(-)		(5)			
accounting principles(4)		40		182		89		100		411	
Net income	\$	40	\$	182	\$	89	\$	100	\$	411	
Earnings per common share basic Income before cumulative effect of change in											
accounting principles	\$	.40	\$	1.83	\$	.89	\$	1.00	\$	4.12	
Not in come and show	¢	40	¢.	1.02	ď	90	¢.	1.00	¢.	4.12	
Net income per share	\$	.40	\$	1.83	\$	.89	\$	1.00	\$	4.12	
Earnings per common share diluted Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles	\$	.40	\$	1.80	\$	.88	\$	.99	\$	4.07	
N. C.	ф	40	Ф	1.00	ф	00	ф	00	Ф	4.07	
Net income per share	\$	.40	\$	1.80	\$	.88	\$	.99	\$	4.07	
Weighted average number of shares outstanding basic Weighted average number of shares outstanding diluted		99,585,790		99,696,727		99,812,000 101,223,850		99,884,771 101,061,744		99,745,825	
outstanding under		100,002,100		100,720,102		101,225,050		101,001,711		100,072,002	
Market price:											
High	\$	27.30	\$	30.35	\$	30.95	\$	33.00			
Low	\$	23.90	\$	24.73	\$	27.37	\$	26.29			
2002											
Volumes (in millions of metric tons)	\$	14.5	\$	23.5	\$	21.3	\$	26.5	\$	85.8	
Net sales Gross profit(1)(2)	\$	2,638 185	\$	3,053 321	\$	3,556 498	\$	4,635 334	\$	13,882 1,338	
Discontinued operations(3)		103		1		1		1		3	
Income before cumulative effect of change in											
accounting principles		36		50		95		97		278	
Cumulative effect of change in accounting		(22)								(22)	
principles(5) Net income	\$	(23) 13	\$	50	\$	95	\$	97	\$	(23) 255	
Earnings per common share basic											
Income before cumulative effect of change in											
accounting principles	\$	.42	\$	.50	\$	.96	\$	.98	\$	2.90	
Note:	ф	1.5	¢.	50	ф	06	ф	00	¢.	2.66	
Net income per share(6)	\$	.15	\$	.50	\$	.96	\$	.98	\$	2.66	

#### Quarter

Earnings per common share diluted								
Income before cumulative effect of change in accounting principles	\$ .42	\$	.50	\$	.95	\$	.97	\$ 2.88
		_		_		_		
Net income per share(6)	\$ .15	\$	.50	\$	.95	\$	.97	\$ 2.64
				_				
Weighted average number of shares outstanding								
basic	85,580,221		99,249,886		99,250,814		99,312,651	95,895,338
Weighted average number of shares outstanding diluted	86,270,679		100,076,636		100,017,645		100,420,627	96,649,129
Market price:								
High	\$ 24.00	\$	23.88	\$	24.20	\$	26.00	
Low	\$ 18.60	\$	19.65	\$	17.79	\$	21.77	
			F-51					

- Interest income on advances to suppliers, previously recorded in interest income in non-operating income (expense) net on Bunge's consolidated statements of income has been reclassified to gross profit to reflect the operational nature of this item. In 2003, Bunge reclassified \$8 million, \$6 million, \$7 million and \$9 million for the first, second, third and fourth quarters, respectively. In 2002, Bunge reclassified \$6 million, \$6 million and \$6 million for first, second, third and fourth quarters, respectively.
- In the fourth quarter of 2003, Bunge recorded in cost of goods sold in its consolidated statement of income a pretax goodwill impairment charge of \$16 million and a pretax long-lived asset impairment charge of \$40 million in its Agribusiness segment, relating to fixed assets at its European oilseed processing facilities (see Note 8 and Note 26). In the fourth quarter of 2002, Bunge recorded in cost of goods sold in its consolidated statement of income a pretax impairment charge of \$5 million, relating to its U.S. edible oil bottling facilities.
- In 2003, Bunge recorded a \$7 million loss on discontinued operations, net of tax benefit of \$5 million on the disposal of discontinued operations, relating to its U.S. bakery business sold on December 31, 2003 (see Note 3). In connection with this transaction, the previously reported first, second and third quarters of 2003 and all 2002 quarters have been reclassified to reflect this transaction.
- (4) In the second quarter of 2003, Bunge recognized a non-taxable gain on sale of \$111 million, relating to Bunge's sale of its Brazilian soy ingredients business (see Note 2).
- Effective January 1, 2002, Bunge adopted SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets*. As a result of this adoption, Bunge recorded a charge of \$14 million, net of \$1 million tax for goodwill impairment, related mainly to goodwill in the bakery mixes business line of its wheat milling and bakery products segment. Effective January 1, 2002, Bunge adopted SFAS No. 143, *Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations*. As a result of this adoption, Bunge recorded a charge of \$9 million, net of \$5 million tax relating to its mining assets and certain of its edible oil refining facilities (see Note 7). The results of the first quarter of 2002 have been restated to reflect the impact of the SFAS No. 143 adoption. Cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net income, cumulative effect of change in accounting principles, net income, cumulative effect of change in accounting principles per share-basic and net income per share-basic as previously reported were \$(14) million, \$22 million, \$(.16) and \$.26, respectively.
- (6)

  Net income per share for both basic and diluted is computed independently for each period presented. As a result, the sum of net income per share for the year ended December 31, 2002 does not equal the total computed for the year.

#### **30.** Subsequent Events

On February 27 2004, Bunge paid a regular quarterly cash dividend of \$.11 per share to shareholders of record on February 13, 2004. On March 12, 2004, Bunge announced that it will pay a regular quarterly cash dividend of \$.11 per share on June 1, 2004 to shareholders of record on May 17, 2004.

Acquisition of Kama Foods. In March 2004, Bunge announced the signing of a preliminary agreement to acquire Polish edible oil and margarine producer Kama Foods from bankruptcy receivership by EWICO, a Polish limited liability company. Bunge owns 50% of EWICO, with the remaining shares owned by an individual investor. Under the terms of the agreement, EWICO will purchase the assets of Kama Foods free and clear of all debts and liabilities for approximately \$1 million PLN, or approximately \$21 million, with 20 million PLN, or approximately \$5 million, payable on execution of the preliminary agreement. The transaction is expected to close by the end of June 2004, at which time EWICO will pay the outstanding balance. Since March 1, 2004, EWICO has been operating Kama Foods under a lease agreement.

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Bunge Limited

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bunge Limited and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, and have issued our report thereon dated March 12, 2004 (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to changes in methods of accounting for goodwill and asset retirement obligations in 2002). Our audits also included the consolidated financial statement schedule of Bunge Limited and Subsidiaries, listed in Item 18 to Form 20-F. This consolidated financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits. In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP New York, New York March 12, 2004

# BUNGE LIMITED

# Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (US\$ in millions)

#### Additions

Description	Ba begi F		Charged to costs and expenses	Charged to other accounts	Deductions from reserves	 alance at of period
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001						
Allowance for doubtful accounts	\$	59	24	(8)(a)	(12)(b)	\$ 63
Income tax valuation allowance	\$	95	(17)	(14)(a)		\$ 64
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002						
Allowance for doubtful accounts	\$	63	25	6 (a)	(14)(b)	\$ 80
Income tax valuation allowance	\$	64	40	(13)(a)		\$ 91
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003						
Allowance for doubtful accounts	\$	80	6	15	(1)	\$ 100
Income tax valuation allowance	\$	91	(39)	39(a)		\$ 91

<sup>(</sup>a) Foreign exchange translation adjustments and effects of acquisitions of subsidiaries for all periods presented.

F-54

<sup>(</sup>b) Write off of uncollectible accounts.

# FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

# BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

# CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(U.S. dollars in millions, except per share data)

	7	Ended		
		2004		2003
		(Unau	dited	1)
Net sales	\$	5,739	\$	4,842
Cost of goods sold		(5,374)		(4,569)
Gross profit		365		273
Selling, general and administrative expenses		(178)		(149)
Interest income		16		20
Interest expense		(52)		(54)
Foreign exchange gains (losses)		(16)		7
Other income (expense)-net		11		1
Income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest		146		98
Income tax expense		(58)		(37)
Income from continuing operations before minority interest		88		61
Minority interest		(18)		(20)
Income from continuing operations		70		41
Discontinued operations			_	(1)
Net income	\$	70	\$	40
Earnings per common share basic (Note 14):				
Income from continuing operations	\$	.70	\$	.41
Discontinued operations	φ	.70	φ	(.01)
Discontinued operations				(.01)
Net income per share	\$	.70	\$	.40
			_	
Earnings per common share diluted (Note 14):				
Income from continuing operations	\$	.65	\$	.41
Discontinued operations	Ψ		T	(.01)
Net income per share	\$	.65	\$	.40
1 of meonic per single	Ψ	.03	Ψ	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements.

# BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

# CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(U.S. dollars in millions, except share data)

	N	March 31, 2004		December 31, 2003
	(U	(naudited)		
ASSETS				
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	523	\$	489
Trade accounts receivable (less allowance of \$98 and \$100)		1,587		1,495
Inventories (Note 3)		3,950		2,867
Deferred income taxes		83		93
Other current assets (Note 5)		1,636		1,474
		1,000	_	2,
Total current assets		7,779		6,418
		7,7.72		0,110
Property, plant and equipment, net		2,066		2,090
Goodwill (Note 6)		145		148
Other intangible assets		103		92
Investments in affiliates		536		537
Deferred income taxes		232		233
Other non-current assets		364		366
Total assets	\$	11,225	\$	9,884
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Current liabilities:				
Short-term debt	\$	1,553	\$	889
Current portion of long-term debt		331		128
Trade accounts payable		1,946		1,678
Deferred income taxes		54		42
Other current liabilities (Note 7)		1,410		1,200
Total current liabilities		5,294		3,937
Total current habilities		3,274		3,731
Long-term debt		2,331		2,377
Deferred income taxes		191		206
Other non-current liabilities (Note 10)		417		433
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)				
Minority interest in subsidiaries		564		554
		201		201
Shareholders' equity:				
Common shares, par value \$.01; authorized 240,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding: 2004 100,203,786 shares, 2003 99,908,318 shares		1		1
Additional paid-in capital		2,017		2,010
r r		=,017		2,010

Edgar Filing: BUNGE LTD - Form F-3/A

	N	1arch 31, 2004	December 31, 2003
Retained earnings		1,081	1,022
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(671)	(656)
Total shareholders' equity		2,428	2,377
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$	11,225	9,884

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements.

F-56

# BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

# CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,

	 2004	2	2003
	(Unaudi	ted)	
OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Net income	\$ 70	\$	40
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash used for operating activities:			
Foreign exchange (gain) loss on debt	6		(48)
Bad debt expense	2		3
Depreciation, depletion and amortization	51		49
Deferred income taxes	10		(28)
Minority interest	18		20
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of acquisitions:			
Trade accounts receivable	(96)		(91)
Inventories	(1,105)		(46)
Recoverable taxes	(27)		1
Trade accounts payable	260		(59)
Other net	91		156
outer net	 71		130
Cash used for operating activities	(720)		(3)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Payments made for capital expenditures	(52)		(53)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired	(3)		(5)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	8		9
Cash used for investing activities	(47)		(49)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Net change in short-term debt	655		(51)
Proceeds from long-term debt	315		99
Repayment of long-term debt	(160)		(53)
Proceeds from sale of common shares	5		6
Dividends paid to shareholders	(11)		(10)
Dividends paid to minority interest	(1)		(31)
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities	803		(40)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	 (2)		18
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	 34		(74)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	 489		470
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 523	\$	396

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements.

#### BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES

#### NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated interim financial statements of Bunge Limited and its subsidiaries (Bunge) have been prepared in accordance with United States of America generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) for interim financial information and with reference to the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003 has been derived from Bunge's audited financial statements at that date. Operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2004 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2004. The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2003 included in Bunge's 2003 Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Reclassifications Certain reclassifications were made to the consolidated financial statements to conform to the current period presentation.

#### 2. New Accounting Standards

In March 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 04-2 (Issue No. 04-2), Whether Mineral Rights Are Tangible or Intangible Assets, that mineral rights, as defined in Issue No. 04-2, are tangible assets. There is an inconsistency between this consensus that mineral rights are tangible assets and the characterization of mineral rights as intangible assets in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141 and No.142. In April 2004, the FASB issued proposed Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 141-a and 142-a, Interaction of FASB Statements No. 141, Business Combinations and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets and EITF Issue No. 04-2, Whether Mineral Rights Are Tangible or Intangible Assets to eliminate the inconsistency between EITF Issue No. 04-2 and SFAS No. 141 and No. 142. The guidance in this FSP would be effective for the first reporting period beginning after the date that this FSP is finalized. Early application of this guidance is permitted in periods for which financial statements have not yet been issued. Bunge has applied the EITF and the proposed FSP to its consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2004 and has reclassified the prior period consolidated balance sheet to conform to this presentation.

In January 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position (FSP) No. FAS 106-1, *Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003*. The act, signed into law in December 2003, introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well as a federal subsidy, under certain conditions, to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans. Presently, authoritative guidance on the accounting for this subsidy has not been issued. Bunge has elected a one-time deferral of the accounting for the effects of the act, as permitted by this FSP. This deferral continues to apply until authoritative guidance on the accounting for the federal subsidy is issued, and when issued Bunge may need to reclassify previously reported information.

In December 2003, FASB issued revised SFAS No. 132, *Employers' Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits*. This revision of SFAS No. 132 does not change the measurement or recognition of those plans required by SFAS No. 87, *Employers' Accounting for Pensions, Pension Plans and Termination Benefits*, and SFAS No. 106, *Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions*. This statement retains the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 132, which it replaces. It requires additional disclosures to those in the original SFAS No. 132 about plan assets, investment

strategy, measurement dates, plan obligations, cash flows of defined benefit pension plans and other defined benefit postretirement plans. Also required for interim reporting will be the components of periodic benefit cost recognized during the interim period. Bunge has complied with the disclosure requirements of the revised SFAS No. 132.

#### 3. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

(US\$ in millions)	March 31, 2004			December 31, 2003		
	(Un	audited)				
Agribusiness Readily marketable inventories at market value(1)	\$	2,879	\$	1,868		
Fertilizer		481		316		
Edible oils		267		308		
Milling		74		68		
Other(2)		249		307		
Total	\$	3,950	\$	2,867		

- (1)

  Readily marketable inventories are agricultural commodities inventories that are readily convertible to cash because of their commodity characteristics, widely available markets and international pricing mechanisms.
- (2) Other consists of agribusiness inventories carried at lower of cost or market.

#### 4. Business Combinations and Alliances

J. Macêdo Exchange Transaction In the quarter ended March 31, 2004, Bunge completed an exchange transaction with J. Macêdo, whereby Bunge exchanged its Brazilian domestic retail flour assets for J. Macêdo's industrial flour assets and approximately \$7 million in cash. The assets exchanged were comprised primarily of brands. Bunge recognized a pre-tax gain of \$5 million as a result of this transaction, which is included in other income (expense)-net in the consolidated statement of income.

Acquisition Restructuring In connection with the Cereol acquisition, Bunge has accrued termination benefits and facility related realignment obligations as part of its integration plan (the "Plan"). The Plan is designed to streamline personnel and realign facilities acquired from Cereol. These obligations, which totaled \$35 million, have been accrued as part of the purchase price and are included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. Bunge's integration process and the Plan regarding this acquisition, which included an evaluation of these issues was finalized in 2003.

Of the obligations accrued, \$29 million relate to employee termination and \$6 million relate to facility realignment. The following table summarizes activity related to the Plan:

(US\$ in millions)	Employee Termination Obligations		Facility Realignment Obligations		7	`otal
Balance, December 31, 2003	\$ 20	\$		4	\$	24
Amount paid	(5)			(1)		(6)
		_		_		
Balance, March 31, 2004	\$ 15	\$		3	\$	18

Payments related to employee termination and facility realignment obligations are expected to be substantially completed in 2004. The Plan is expected to be funded by cash flows from operations. No significant unresolved issues exist related to the Plan. Any adjustments to the Plan will be reported as an adjustment to net income.

#### 5. Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following:

(US\$ in millions)	March 31 2004	March 31, 2004			
	(Unaudited	1)			
Prepaid commodity purchase contracts	\$	8	\$	247	
Secured advances to suppliers		288		280	
Unrealized gain on derivative contracts		720		418	
Recoverable taxes		106		70	
Marketable securities		13		13	
Other		501		446	
			_		
Total	\$	1,636	\$	1,474	
	\$		\$		

#### 6. Goodwill

At March 31, 2004, the changes in the carrying value of goodwill by segment are as follows:

(US\$ in millions)	Ag	ribusiness	Edible Oil Products	Milling Products	Unallocated	Т	otal
Balance, December 31, 2003 Tax benefit on goodwill amortization(1)	\$	138 \$ (3)	5	\$ 5	\$	\$	148 (3)
Balance, March 31, 2004	\$	135 \$	5	\$ 5	\$	\$	145

Bunge's Brazilian subsidiary's tax deductible goodwill is in excess of its book goodwill. For financial reporting purposes, the tax benefits attributable to the excess tax goodwill are first used to reduce goodwill and then intangible assets to zero, prior to recognizing any income tax benefit in the statement of income.

#### 7. Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities consist of the following:

(US\$ in millions)		March 31, 2004	December 31, 2003		
	_	(Unaudited)			
Accrued liabilities	\$	598	\$	608	
Unrealized loss on derivative contracts		511		336	
Advances on sales		165		146	
Other		136		110	
			_		
Total	\$	1,410	\$	1,200	

#### 8. Related Party Transactions

Bunge sells soybean meal and fertilizer products to Seara Alimentos S.A., a subsidiary of Mutual Investment Limited, engaged in the business of meat and poultry production. These sales were \$2 million for both the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In addition, Bunge sold soybeans and related soybean products to Solae, which totaled \$6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Bunge also purchased soybean meal and soybean oil from Solae, which totaled \$45 million for the three months ended March 31, 2004. Bunge believes these transactions are recorded at values similar to those with third parties.

#### 9. Employee Benefit Plans

		Pension ree Mon Marc	ths Er	Postretirement Benefit Three Months Ended March 31,			
(US\$ in millions)	20	004	20	003	2004	20	003
Service cost	\$	2	\$	2	\$	\$	
Interest cost		4		4			1
Expected return on plan assets		(4)		(4)			
Recognized net (gain) loss		1				- —	
Net periodic benefit cost	\$	3	\$	2	\$	\$	1

Bunge disclosed in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003, that it expected to contribute \$9 million to its defined pension plans and \$2 million to its postretirement benefit plans during 2004. Of these amounts, as of March 31, 2004, no contributions were made to the defined pension plans and approximately \$300,000 was paid to the postretirement benefit plans for the 2004 plan year. As of March 31, 2004, Bunge made contributions to the defined pension plans totaling \$1 million, which related to the 2003 plan year. In addition, Bunge disclosed in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003, that it expected to contribute \$6 million to a non-qualified plan for a lump-sum distribution from this plan in 2004. As of March 31, 2004, Bunge has made the \$6 million contribution and distribution from this plan.

# 10. Commitments and Contingencies

Bunge is party to a number of claims and lawsuits, primarily tax and labor claims in Brazil, arising out of the normal course of business. After taking into account liabilities recorded for all of the foregoing

matters, management believes that the ultimate resolution of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on Bunge's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. Included in other non-current liabilities as of March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 are the following accrued liabilities:

(US\$ in millions)		March 31, 2004			
		(Unaudited)			
Tax claims	\$	116	\$	112	
Labor claims		80		79	
Civil and other		64		67	
	_		_		
Total	\$	260	\$	258	

Tax claims The tax claims relate principally to claims against Bunge's Brazilian subsidiaries, including income tax claims, value added tax claims (ICMS and IPI) and sales tax claims (PIS and COFINS). The determination of the manner in which various Brazilian federal, state and municipal taxes apply to Bunge's operations is subject to varying interpretations arising from the complex nature of Brazilian tax law as well as changes in tax laws introduced by the *Plano Real* in 1993 and the 1988 Brazilian constitution.

Labor claims The labor claims relate principally to labor claims against Bunge's Brazilian subsidiaries. Court rulings under Brazilian laws have historically been in favor of the employee-plaintiff. The labor claims primarily relate to dismissals, severance, health and safety, salary adjustments and supplementary retirement benefits.

Civil and other The civil and other claims relate to various disputes with suppliers and customers.

Oleina Holding Arbitration Bunge is involved in arbitration with Cereol's former joint venture partner over the final purchase price of Oleina Holding and related issues. Cereol purchased the 49% of Oleina it did not already own from its joint venture partner for \$27 million in February 2002. In April 2004, Bunge was notified that the arbitration tribunal had determined the purchase price to be approximately \$73 million plus interest of approximately \$5 million. Subsequently, Cereol's former joint venture partner submitted a request for rectification to increase the purchase price to approximately \$108 million. Bunge is currently reviewing the decision of the arbitration tribunal and analyzing its alternatives with respect to this decision. Bunge is entitled to be indemnified by Edison S.p.A., from whom it purchased Cereol in October 2002, for any portion of the final purchase price which exceeds \$39 million. As of March 31, 2004, Bunge has recorded an obligation of \$39 million to Cereol's joint venture partner and a receivable in the same amount from Edison relating to its indemnity. Edison has informed us that it currently is evaluating whether the conditions precedent to this indemnification have been satisfied. Bunge has assessed the collectibility of this receivable under the terms of its agreement with Edison and believes this amount is fully collectible under the agreement.

Antitrust Approval of Manah Acquisition In April 2000, Bunge acquired Manah S.A., a Brazilian fertilizer company that had an indirect participation in Fosfertil. Fosfertil is the main Brazilian producer of phosphate used to produce NPK fertilizers. This acquisition was approved by the Brazilian antitrust commission in February 2004. The approval was conditioned on the formalization of an operational agreement between Bunge and the antitrust commission relating to the maintenance of existing competitive conditions in the fertilizer market. Although the terms of the operational agreement have not been finalized, Bunge does not expect them to have a material adverse impact on its business or financial results.

Guarantees Bunge has issued or was a party to the following guarantees at March 31, 2004:

(US\$ in millions)	Maximum Potential Future Payments				
Operating lease residual values	\$	69			
Unconsolidated affiliates financing		17			
Customer financing		94			
Total	\$	180			

Prior to January 1, 2003, Bunge entered into synthetic lease agreements for barges and railcars originally owned by Bunge and subsequently sold to third parties. The leases are classified as operating leases in accordance with SFAS No. 13, *Accounting for Leases*. Any gains on the sales have been deferred and are being recognized ratably over the related lease terms. Bunge has the option under each lease to purchase the barges or railcars at fixed amounts based on estimated fair values or to sell the assets. If Bunge elects to sell, it will receive proceeds up to fixed amounts specified in the agreements. If the proceeds of such sales are less than the specified fixed amounts, Bunge would be obligated under a guarantee to pay supplemental rent for the deficiency in proceeds. The operating leases expire through 2007. There are no recourse provisions or collateral that would enable Bunge to recover any amounts paid under this guarantee.

Prior to January 1, 2003, Bunge issued a guarantee to a financial institution related to debt of its joint ventures in Argentina, its unconsolidated affiliates. The term of the guarantee is equal to the term of the related financing, which matures in 2009. There are no recourse provisions or collateral that would enable Bunge to recover any amounts paid under this guarantee.

Bunge issued guarantees to a financial institution in Brazil related to amounts owed the institution by certain of its customers. The terms of the guarantees are equal to the terms of the related financing arrangements, which can be as short as 120 days or as long as 360 days. In the event that the customers default on their payments to the institutions and Bunge would be required to perform under the guarantees, Bunge has obtained collateral from the customers. At March 31, 2004, \$35 million of these financing arrangements were collateralized by tangible property. Bunge has determined the fair value of these guarantees to be immaterial at March 31, 2004.

Bunge has provided parent level guarantees of the indebtedness outstanding under certain senior credit facilities and senior notes, which were entered into by its wholly owned subsidiaries. The debt under these guarantees had a carrying amount of \$3,008 million at March 31, 2004. Debt related to these guarantees is included in the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2004. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of any Bunge subsidiary to transfer funds to Bunge.

In addition, certain of Bunge's subsidiaries have provided guarantees of indebtedness of certain of their subsidiaries under certain lines of credit with various institutions. The total borrowing capacity under these lines of credit guarantees is \$267 million.

#### 11. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following table summarizes the components of comprehensive income (loss):

	Three Months Ended March 31,					
(US\$ in millions)		2004		003		
		(Unau	dited)			
Net income	\$	70	\$	40		
Other comprehensive income (loss):						
Foreign exchange translation adjustment, net of tax expense of \$0 (2004), \$(8)						
(2003)		(27)		104		
Unrealized gains (losses) on commodity futures, net of tax (expense) benefit of \$(2)						
(2004), \$1 (2003)		4		(2)		
Reclassification of realized (gains) losses to net income, net of tax (expense)						
benefit of \$4 (2004), \$(2)(2003)		8		(3)		
Total comprehensive income	\$	55	\$	139		

#### 12. Stock-Based Compensation

Bunge has an employee equity incentive plan and a non-employee directors' equity incentive plan. Awards under the employee equity incentive plan may be in the form of stock options, restricted stock units (including performance-based and regular time-vested restricted stock units) or other awards. The non-employee directors' equity incentive plan provides for awards of stock options to Bunge's non-employee directors. To date, Bunge has granted stock options, performance-based restricted stock unit awards and regular time-vested restricted stock unit awards under its employee equity incentive plan and stock options under its non-employee directors' plan. Under these equity incentive plans, during the three months ended March 31, 2004, Bunge (1) issued 237,976 common shares upon the exercise of stock options, (2) issued 57,492 shares upon the vesting of certain performance-based restricted stock units and regular time-vested restricted stock units, which included dividend equivalents paid in common shares and (3) pursuant to an election made by participants, paid out 158,181 vested performance-based restricted stock units in cash, rather than common shares, upon the election of the participants.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS No. 123), Bunge has elected to continue to account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (APB 25) and FASB Interpretation No. 28, Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans (FIN 28).

In accordance with APB 25, Bunge accrues costs for its restricted stock awards granted over the vesting or performance period and adjusts costs related to its performance-based restricted stock for subsequent changes in the fair market value of the awards. These compensation costs are recognized in Bunge's consolidated statements of income. There is no compensation cost recorded for stock options granted under either plan, since the exercise price is equal to the market value of the underlying common shares on the date of grant. In accordance with SFAS No. 123, Bunge discloses the pro forma effect of accounting for stock-based awards under the fair value method.

The following table sets forth pro forma information as if Bunge had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock options granted to determine its stock-based compensation cost.

	Three Months Ended March 31,				
(US\$ in millions, except per share data)	2	004	20	003	
		(Unau	idited)		
Net income, as reported  Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based method for stock options granted, net of related tax effects	\$	70 (2)	\$	40 (2)	
Pro forma net income	\$	68	\$	38	
Earnings per common share:					
Basic as reported	\$	.70	\$	.40	
Basic pro forma	\$	.69	\$	.38	
Diluted as reported	\$	.65	\$	.40	
Diluted pro forma(1)	\$	.63	\$	.38	

(1) In the three months ended March 31, 2004, the numerator for the calculation of diluted pro forma earnings per share was adjusted by \$1 million for interest expense related to the Convertible Notes (see Note 14).

#### 13. Income Taxes

Bunge's annual effective tax rate is affected by the geographic locations in which it does business, movements in foreign exchange and U.S. tax incentives on export sales. In addition, Bunge's annual estimated effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2004 reflects an increased effective tax rate from the 2003 annual effective tax rate and is principally attributable to reduced tax benefits in U.S. export sales and higher taxes payable in Bunge's various tax jurisdictions as a result of new tax laws.

Bunge has obtained tax benefits under U.S. tax laws providing tax incentives on export sales from the use of a U.S. FSC through 2001. Beginning in 2002, due to the repeal of the FSC, Bunge was required to use the tax provisions of the Extraterritorial Income (ETI) exclusion, which was substantially similar to the FSC. The U.S. Congress is currently considering legislation to repeal the ETI and propose a new tax incentive for certain domestic manufacturers. Bunge will continue to monitor the new legislation and determine its effects as the legislation continues to develop.

#### 14. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, excluding any dilutive effects of stock options and restricted stock unit awards during the reporting period. Diluted earnings per share is computed similar to basic

earnings per share, except that the weighted average number of common shares outstanding is increased to include additional shares from the assumed exercise of stock options, restricted stock unit awards and convertible notes, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options were exercised and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common shares at the average market price during the reporting period.

In addition, the computation of diluted earnings per common share for the three months ended March 31, 2004 includes the 7,778,425 common shares that would be issuable on conversion of Bunge's 3.75% convertible notes due 2022 (the "Convertible Notes"). The Convertible Notes became convertible as of March 31, 2004. The Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holder into Bunge's common shares, among other circumstances, during any calendar quarter in which the closing price of Bunge's common shares for at least 20 of the last 30 trading days of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is more than 120% of the conversion price of \$32.1402, or approximately \$38.57 per share. The closing price condition was satisfied as of March 31, 2004 and the Convertible Notes may be converted at the option of the holder. The Convertible Notes will remain convertible until June 30, 2004, unless the closing price condition described above is satisfied again at June 30, 2004, at which point the Convertible Notes will remain convertible for another calendar quarter. The number of Bunge's dilutive weighted average common shares outstanding for the three month period ended March 31, 2003 does not include the common shares that would be issuable upon conversion of these Convertible Notes, because in accordance with their terms, these Convertible Notes had not yet become convertible.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the three months ended March 31, 2004 and 2003.

Three Months Ended

		Three Mor	nths Enc ch 31,	led	
(US\$ in millions, except share data)		2004	2003		
		 (Unau	ıdited)	_	
Income from continuing operations basic		\$ 70	\$	41	
Interest on Convertible Notes, net of tax		1			
Income from continuing operations diluted		\$ 71	\$	41	
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding: Basic		100,016,833		99,585,790	
Effect of dilutive shares:					
Stock options and awards		1,770,441		916,340	
Convertible notes		 7,778,425			
Diluted		109,565,699		100,502,130	
Income from continuing operations per share:					
Basic		\$ .70	\$	.41	
Diluted		\$ .65	\$	.41	
	F-66	 			

#### 15. Argentina

In 2002, Bunge commenced and continues to record allowances against certain recoverable taxes owed to it by the Argentine government due to delayed payment and uncertainty regarding the local economic environment. The balance of these allowances fluctuates depending on the sales activity of existing inventories, the purchase of new inventories, seasonality, changes in applicable tax rates, cash payment by the Argentine government and compensation of outstanding balances against income or certain other taxes owed to the Argentine government. At March 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, these allowances for recoverable taxes were \$16 million and \$25 million, respectively. In the three months ended March 31, 2004, Bunge decreased this allowance for recoveries of these taxes in the amount of \$9 million as a result of either cash received by Bunge or compensation against taxes owed by Bunge to the Argentine government. In the three months ended March 31, 2003, Bunge had increased this allowance in the amount of \$11 million.

#### 16. Segment Information

In the first quarter of 2003, Bunge changed the name of its "wheat milling and bakery products" segment to "milling and baking products" in connection with the reclassification of its corn milling products business line from the "other" segment to the "milling and baking products" segment. As a result of this change, Bunge's "other" segment reflects only its Brazilian soy ingredients business line, which was sold to The Solae Company, Bunge's joint venture with DuPont, in May 2003. In the fourth quarter of 2003, Bunge changed the name of its "milling and baking products" segment to "milling products" in connection with the sale of its U.S. bakery business. The operating results of the disposed U.S. bakery business have been reported as discontinued operations for the three months ended March 31, 2003.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, Bunge changed its presentation of segment information to include segment operating profit as a measure of segment profitability. Segment operating profit includes the financial costs of carrying operating working capital, including foreign exchange gains and losses and interest expense on debt financing working capital and interest income earned on working capital items, which is consistent with how management views the results for operational purposes. This change is reflected for the three months ended March 31, 2003.

With the completion of the sale of the Brazilian soy ingredients business and the sale of its U.S. bakery business, Bunge has four reporting segments agribusiness, fertilizer, edible oil products and milling products, which are organized based upon similar economic characteristics and are similar in nature of products and services offered, the nature of production processes, the type and class of customer and distribution methods. The agribusiness segment is characterized by both inputs and outputs being agricultural commodities and thus high volume and low margin. The activities of the fertilizer segment include raw material mining, mixing fertilizer components and marketing products. The edible oil products segment involves the manufacturing and marketing of products derived from vegetable oils. The milling products segment involves the manufacturing and marketing of products derived primarily from wheat and corn.

The "Unallocated" column in the following table contains the reconciliation between the totals for reportable segments and Bunge's consolidated totals, which consists primarily of corporate items not allocated to the operating segments and inter-segment eliminations. Transfers between the segments are generally valued at market. The revenues generated from these transfers are shown in the following table as "Intersegment revenues."

# **Operating Segment Information**

(US\$ in millions)	Agri	business	_1	Fertilizer	Edible Oil Products		Milling Products	Other	Unallocated	 <b>Fotal</b>
		_		_	(U	nau	idited)	 _		
Three months ended March 31, 2004										
Net sales to external		4 624		244	- 10	_	200			
customers	\$	4,631	\$	366	\$ 542	\$	200	\$	\$ (277)	\$ 5,739
Intersegment revenues		363		0.5	9		5		(377)	265
Gross profit Foreign exchange gain (loss)		206 (5)		85 (11)	56		18			365 (16)
Interest income		2		9	3		2			16
Interest expense		(30)		(11)	(7)		(3)		(1)	(52)
Segment operating profit		72		41	17		6		(1)	136
Depreciation, depletion and		,2		1.1	1,		Ü			150
amortization	\$	(24)	\$	(17)	\$ (7)	\$	(3)	\$	\$	\$ (51)
		` '		ì			, í			, ,
Three months ended										
March 31, 2003										
Net sales to external										
customers	\$	3,802	\$	286	\$ 536	\$	172	\$ 46	\$	\$ 4,842
Intersegment revenues		220			21		6		(247)	
Gross profit		117		60	64		15	17		273
Foreign exchange gain (loss)		11		(2)				1	(3)	7
Interest income		3		11	1				5	20
Interest expense		(13)		(12)	(9)		(2)	(2)	(16)	(54)
Segment operating profit		44		38	17		3	9		111
Depreciation, depletion and										
amortization	\$	(27)	\$	(12)	\$ (6)	\$	(4)	\$	\$	\$ (49)

A reconciliation of income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest to total segment operating profit follows:

	Three Months Ended March 31,						
(US\$ millions)		004	2003				
		(unau	dited)				
Income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interest	\$	146	\$	98			
Unallocated expenses net(1)		10		(13)			
Segment operating profit	\$	136	\$	111			

(1)
Unallocated expenses-net included interest income, interest expense, foreign exchange gains and losses and other income and expense not directly attributable to Bunge's operating segments.

F-68

#### 17. Subsequent Events

On April 13, 2004, Bunge completed the sale of \$500 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior notes bearing interest at a rate of 5.35% per year that mature in April 2014. The notes were issued by Bunge's wholly owned finance subsidiary, Bunge Limited Finance Corp., and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Bunge. Interest on these unsecured senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears in April and October of each year, commencing in October 2004. Bunge used the net proceeds of this offering, approximately \$496 million, for the repayment of outstanding indebtedness.

On April 29, 2004, Bunge filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to a proposed primary offering of 9.5 million of its common shares. The proposed offering is expected to close in the second quarter of 2004. With the proceeds of the offering, Bunge intends to buy back the minority interests of Bunge Brasil S.A., its publicly traded Brazilian subsidiary, through a tender offer in Brazil. The tender offer is expected to close in the third quarter of 2004. Assuming 100% of the shares of Bunge Brasil held by minority shareholders are acquired, approximately \$295 million of the proceeds of the proposed equity offering will be required for this transaction. The remaining proceeds from this offering will be used for general corporate purposes, which may include acquisitions, capital expenditures and working capital purposes.

In connection with Cereol's operations in Eastern Europe, Cereol entered into a joint venture with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, or EBRD, pursuant to which Cereol owns approximately 60% and the EBRD owns approximately 40% of Polska Oil Investment B.V., or Polska Oil. Polska Oil, in turn, owns 50% of Zaklady Thuszczowe Kruszwica S.A., or Kruszwica, a Polish producer of bottled edible oils. Bunge also has a 32% additional direct interest in Kruszwica. Polska Oil and Kruszwica are consolidated subsidiaries of Bunge. Pursuant to an amended and restated shareholders agreement between Cereol and the EBRD, the EBRD had the option to put its shares in Polska Oil to Bunge at any time prior to June 3, 2005 at the then current fair market value as determined by an independent expert, subject to a floor and cap based on a contractual formula. In April 2004, the EBRD exercised its put option and Bunge purchased the EBRD stake in Polska Oil for approximately €22 million or approximately \$27 million.

#### PART II

#### INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

#### Item 8. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Our bye-laws contain a broad waiver by our shareholders of any claim or right of action, both individually and on our behalf, against any of our officers or directors. The waiver applies to any action taken by an officer or director, or the failure of an officer or director to take any action, in the performance of his or her duties, except with respect to any matter involving any fraud or dishonesty on the part of the officer or director. This waiver limits the right of shareholders to assert claims against our officers and directors unless the act or failure to act involves fraud or dishonesty. Our bye-laws also indemnify our directors and officers in respect of their actions and omissions, except in respect of their fraud or dishonesty. The indemnification provided in the bye-laws is not exclusive of other indemnification rights to which a director or officer may be entitled, provided these rights do not extend to his or her fraud or dishonesty.

Section 98 of the Companies Act 1981 (the "Companies Act") provides generally that a Bermuda company may indemnify its directors, officers and auditors against any liability which by virtue of any rule of law otherwise would be imposed on them in respect of any negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust, except in cases where such liability arises from fraud or dishonesty of which such director, officer or auditor may be guilty in relation to the company. Section 98 further provides that a Bermuda company may indemnify its directors, officers and auditors against any liability incurred by them in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is awarded in their favor or in which they are acquitted or granted relief by the Supreme Court of Bermuda pursuant to Section 281 of the Companies Act 1981.

We maintain standard policies of insurance under which coverage is provided (a) to our directors and officers against loss arising from claims made by reason of breach of duty or other wrongful act, and (b) to us with respect to payments which may be made by us to such directors and officers pursuant to the above indemnification provision or otherwise as a matter of law.

#### Item 9. Exhibits

See the index to exhibits that appears immediately following the signature pages to this registration statement.

#### Item 10. Undertakings

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant's annual report pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit plan's annual report pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that, in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless

in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:

- a.

  For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b) (1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
- b.

  For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

II-2

#### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form F-3 and has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of White Plains, State of New York, on the 14<sup>th</sup> day of May, 2004.

#### **BUNGE LIMITED**

By: /s/ WILLIAM M. WELLS

Name: William M. Wells Title: Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature	Title	Date
*	Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board	M 14 2004
Alberto Weisser	of Director	May 14, 2004
/s/ WILLIAM M. WELLS	CIL CEL . 1000	N 14 2004
William M. Wells	Chief Financial Officer	May 14, 2004
*		N 14 2004
T.K. Chopra	Controller and Principal Accounting Officer	May 14, 2004
*		14 2004
Jorge Born, Jr.	Deputy Chairman and Director	May 14, 2004
*		
Ernest G. Bachrach	Director	May 14, 2004
*		
Enrique H. Boilini	Director	May 14, 2004
*		
Michael H. Bulkin	Director	May 14, 2004
	II-3	

	- Director				
Octavio Caraballo *					
	Director	May 14, 2004			
Francis Coppinger  *					
	Director	May 14, 2004			
Bernard de La Tour d'Auvergne Lauraguais  *					
	• Director	May 14, 2004			
William Engels *					
	• Director	May 14, 2004			
Paul H. Hatfield *					
	<ul><li>Director</li></ul>	May 14, 2004			
Carlos Braun Saint /s/ WILLIAM M. WELLS					
Bunge Limited, U.S. Office By: William M. Wells, Chief Financial Officer	Authorized Representative in the United States	May 14, 2004			
*By: /s/ WILLIAM M. WELLS					
William M. Wells Attorney-in-Fact	May 14, 2004				
Attorney-ni-ract	II-4				

# EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Description of Exhibits
1.1	Form of underwriting agreement
3.1*	Memorandum of Association of Bunge Limited (incorporated by reference from Bunge Limited's Form F-1 (No. 333-65026) filed July 31, 2001)
3.2*	Bye-laws of Bunge Limited, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference from Bunge Limited's Form 20-F filed March 31, 2003)
4.1*	Form of Common Share Certificate (incorporated by reference from Bunge Limited's Form F-1 (No. 333-65026) filed July 31, 2001)
4.2*	Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated as of May 30, 2003 between Bunge Limited and Mellon Investor Services LLC (incorporated by reference from Bunge Limited's Form F-3 (No. 333-106182) filed on July 9, 2003)
5.1	Opinion of Conyers Dill & Pearman
8.1	Tax Opinion of Conyers Dill & Pearman
8.2	Tax Opinion of Shearman & Sterling LLP
23.1	Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
23.2	Consent of Shearman & Sterling LLP (included in Exhibit 8.2)
23.3	Consent of Conyers Dill & Pearman (included in Exhibits 5.1 and 8.1)
24.1	Power of attorney (included on the signature page to our registration statement on Form F-3 filed on April 29, 2004)
*	
File	ed previously.
То	be filed by amendment.
	П-5

### QuickLinks

**TABLE OF CONTENTS** 

**SUMMARY** 

Recent Developments

SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA

**RISK FACTORS** 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

**USE OF PROCEEDS** 

PRICE RANGE OF OUR COMMON SHARES

**DIVIDEND POLICY** 

**CAPITALIZATION** 

**DILUTION** 

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

FIRST QUARTER OPERATING RESULTS

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

**BUSINESS** 

**DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS** 

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

**CERTAIN TAX CONSIDERATIONS** 

**UNDERWRITING** 

NOTICE TO CANADIAN RESIDENTS

ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

**LEGAL MATTERS** 

**EXPERTS** 

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

**INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS** 

**INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT** 

BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (U.S. dollars in millions, except per share data)

BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (U.S. dollars in millions, except share data)

BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (U.S. dollars in millions)

BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

**INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT** 

BUNGE LIMITED Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts (US\$ in millions)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF INCOME (U.S.

dollars in millions, except per share data )

BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (U.S. dollars in millions, except share data)

BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED INTERIM STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (U.S. dollars in millions)

BUNGE LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 8. Indemnification of Directors and Officers

Item 9. Exhibits

Item 10. Undertakings

**SIGNATURES** 

# EXHIBIT INDEX